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Dear Shareholder: 

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management of Modsys International Ltd. (the “Company”), I cordially invite 
you to attend the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders. The meeting will be held at 6600 LBJ 
Freeway, Suite 210, Dallas, TX 75240 on May 21, 2019, at 10:00 local time and via teleconference at 719-325-2556, 
Passcode 902 937 0611. At the meeting, separate quorum and votes of the holders of the ordinary shares and the 
preferred shares will be held and will be deemed as separate meetings of the shareholders. The notice of meeting and 
proxy statement that will follow describe the business that we will consider at the meeting. 

At this meeting, shareholders will consider and vote upon: 

1. (a) To approve the agreement and plan of merger dated April 3, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”), by 
and among, the Company, Transoft Group Limited (“Parent”), a company organized under the laws 
of England and Wales and a wholly owned subsidiary of Advanced Computer Software Group 
Limited, and an Israeli merger subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), and thereby the approval of the 
transaction whereby Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (the “Merger”) and the other 
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; and (b) to determine that the foregoing is in the 
best interest of the Company and its shareholders; 
 

2. To approve of,  subject to and effective upon the consummation of the Merger, the purchase by the 
Company of liability and a “tail” insurance policy for directors and officers of the Company in 
accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement;  
 

3. To reelect (a) Syver Norderhaug and (b) Scott Miller to serve as directors of the Company until the 
earlier of the next annual general meeting and the lawful termination of their office or their resignation;  
 

4. To elect Carla Corkern to serve as an outside director of the Company for a three-year term 
commencing on April 10, 2019 or until their lawful termination;  
 

5. To approve certain compensation terms of the Company’s directors;  
 

6. To approve certain compensation terms to the Company's outside directors; 
 

7. To approve and ratify an amendment to Brandon Edenfield’s compensation agreement as the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company; and 
 

8. To re-appoint of BDO Ziv Haft as our independent auditor for the periods ending on the date of our 
next annual general meeting of shareholders.  

In addition, at this meeting, the shareholders will receive and consider the Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Company for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

We urge you to review carefully the accompanying material and to return the enclosed proxy card promptly. 
Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting, please sign, date and return the 
enclosed proxy card without delay. If you attend the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting, you may vote in 
person even if you have previously mailed a proxy. 

    Sincerely yours, 
      
    /s/ Brandon Edenfield 
      
    Brandon Edenfield 
    Chief Executive Officer 
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YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT. PLEASE ENSURE THAT YOUR VOTE COUNTS BY 
COMPLETING, SIGNING, DATING AND RETURNING YOUR PROXY. 

The date of this Proxy Statement is April 18, 2019. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 
6600 LBJ Freeway, Suite 210 

Dallas, Texas 75240 
 

NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY AND 2019 GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

To Each Be Held On May 21, 2019 

The Extraordinary and 2019 Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of Shareholders of Modsys International Ltd. 
(“Modern Systems,” the “Company,” “we” or “us”) will be held at 6600 LBJ Freeway, Suite 210, Dallas, TX 75240 
on May 21, 2019, at 10:00 local time and via teleconference  719-325-2556 Passcode 902 937 0611.  At the Meeting, 
separate quorum and votes of the holders of the ordinary shares and the preferred shares will be held and will be 
deemed as separate meetings of the shareholders.  

The Meeting is being convened for the following purposes:  

1. (a) To approve the agreement and plan of merger dated April 3, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”), by 
and among, the Company, Transoft Group Limited (“Parent”), a company organized under the laws 
of England and Wales and a wholly owned subsidiary of Advanced Computer Software Group 
Limited, and an Israeli merger subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), and thereby the approval of the 
transaction whereby Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (the “Merger”) and the other 
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; and (b) to determine that the foregoing is in the 
best interest of the Company and its shareholders. 
 

2. To approve of,  subject to and effective upon the consummation of the Merger, the purchase by the 
Company of liability and a “tail” insurance policy for directors and officers of the Company in 
accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement;  
 

3. To reelect (a) Syver Norderhaug and (b) Scott Miller to serve as directors of the Company until the 
earlier of the next annual general meeting and the lawful termination of their office or their resignation;  
 

4. To elect Carla Corkern to serve as an outside director of the Company for a three-year term 
commencing on April 10, 2019 or until their lawful termination;  
 

5. To approve certain compensation terms to the Company’s directors;  
 

6. To approve certain compensation terms to the Company's outside directors; 
 

7. To approve and ratify an amendment to Brandon Edenfield’s compensation agreement as the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company;  
 

8. To re-appoint of BDO Ziv Haft as our independent auditor for the periods ending on the date of our 
next annual general meeting of shareholders;  

 
9. To receive and consider the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2017; and 
 

10. To conduct any other business properly brought before the meeting. 

The record date for each of the Meeting is May 13, 2019. Only shareholders of record at the close of business on that 
date may vote at the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. 
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    By Order of the Board of Directors 
      
    /s/ Brandon Edenfield 

      
    Brandon Edenfield 
    Chief Executive Officer 

Dallas, Texas 
April 16, 2019 

You are cordially invited to attend the Meeting in person. Whether or not you expect to attend any of the 
Meeting, please complete, date, sign and return the form of proxy as promptly as possible in order to ensure 
your representation at the Meeting. Shareholders may review the full version of the proposed resolutions in 
the proxy statement as well as the accompanying proxy card, which will be published on the Company's 
website and on the OTC Markets website on or about April 18, 2019.  

Even if you have voted by proxy, you may still vote in person if you attend the Meeting. Please note, however, 
that if your shares are held of record by a broker, bank or other nominee and you wish to vote at the Meeting, 
you must obtain a proxy issued in your name from that record holder. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 
6600 LBJ Freeway, Suite 210 

Dallas, Texas 75240 

PROXY STATEMENT 
FOR THE EXTRAORDINARY AND THE 2019 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

May 21, 2019 

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THESE PROXY MATERIALS AND VOTING 

Why am I receiving these materials? 

These proxy materials have been made available because the Board of Directors of Modsys International Ltd. 
(sometimes referred to as the “Company,” “Modern Systems,” “we” or “us”) is soliciting your proxy to vote at the 
Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting, including at any adjournments or postponements of the meeting. You are 
invited to attend the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting to vote on the proposal described in this Proxy 
Statement. However, you do not need to attend the meeting to vote your ordinary shares. Instead, you may simply 
complete, sign and return the enclosed proxy card. 

We have posted these proxy materials on or about April 18, 2019 to be available for all shareholders of record entitled 
to vote at the Meeting. 

How do I attend the Special Meeting? 

The meeting will be held at 6600 LBJ Freeway, Suite 210, Dallas, TX 75240 on May 21, 2019, at 10:00 local time 
and via teleconference  719-325-2556 Passcode 902 937 0611. Information on how to vote in person at the Annual 
and Extraordinary General Meeting is discussed below. 

Who can vote at the Annual and Extraordinary Meeting? 
 

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on May 13, 2019 will be entitled to vote at the Annual and 
Extraordinary General Meeting.  

Shareholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name 

If on May 13, 2019, your shares were registered directly in your name with the Company’s transfer agent, American 
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, then you are a shareholder of record. As a shareholder of record, you may 
vote in person at the meeting or vote by proxy. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, we urge you to fill out 
and return the enclosed proxy card to ensure your vote is counted. 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker or Bank 

If on May 13, 2019, your shares were held, not in your name, but rather in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, dealer 
or other similar organization, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in “street name”. The organization 
holding your account is considered to be the shareholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual and 
Extraordinary General Meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker or other agent 
regarding how to vote the shares in your account. You are also invited to attend the Annual and Extraordinary General 
Meeting. However, since you are not the shareholder of record, you may not vote your shares in person at the meeting 
unless you request and obtain a valid proxy from your broker or other agent. 

What am I voting on? 

There are eight matters scheduled for a vote: 
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1.  (a) The approval of the agreement and plan of merger dated April 3, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”), 
by and among, the Company, Transoft Group Limited (“Parent”), a company organized under the laws 
of England and Wales and a wholly owned subsidiary of Advanced Computer Software Group 
Limited, and an Israeli merger subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), and thereby the approval of the 
transaction whereby Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (the “Merger”) and the other 
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; and (b) the determination that the foregoing is 
in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders. 
 

2. The approval of,  subject to and effective upon the consummation of the Merger, the purchase by the 
Company of liability and a “tail” insurance policy for directors and officers of the Company in 
accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement;  
 

3. The reelection of (a) Syver Norderhaug and (b) Scott Miller to serve as directors of the Company until 
the earlier of the next annual general meeting and the lawful termination of their office or their 
resignation;  
 

4. The reelection of Carla Corkern to serve as an outside director of the Company for a three-year term 
commencing on April 10, 2019 or until their lawful termination;  
 

5. The approval of certain compensation terms to the Company’s directors;  
 

6. The approval of certain compensation terms to the Company's outside directors; and 
 

7. The approval and ratification of an amendment to Brandon Edenfield’s compensation agreement as 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company; and 
 

8. The reappointment of BDO Ziv Haft as our independent auditor for the periods ending on the date of 
our next annual general meeting of shareholders. 
 

How many votes are required to approve the Merger? 

As further described below, with respect to Proposal One,  the Merger must be approved by the shareholders of the 
Company, (i) holding at least 75% of all classes of the outstanding Company Shares, voting together as a single class 
on an as converted basis must vote in favor of the Merger; and (ii) holding at least 75% of each class of the outstanding 
Company Shares, voting as a single class must vote in favor of the Merger, provided that, in each such case, at least 
half of the votes in favor of the Merger (in person or by proxy) voted on the matter (excluding any absentee votes) by 
shareholders that are not Merger Sub, Parent or any person or entity holding 25% or more of any type of means of 
control of Merger Sub, or any person or entity acting on behalf of any of the foregoing, or any family member of, or 
entity controlled by, any of the foregoing. 

Are there any other conditions to the Merger becoming effective? 

As further described in the section of this proxy statement titled “Conditions to the Merger”, in addition to approval 
of the Merger by the requisite number of shareholders, the consummation of the Merger by all parties to the Merger 
Agreement is subject to satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions: 

 expiry of any waiting periods any necessary approvals under antitrust laws having occurred or been granted; 
 fifty days having elapsed after the filing of the Merger Proposal with the Companies Registrar and thirty days 

having elapsed after the approval of the Merger by the shareholders of each of the Company and Merger Sub; 
and 

 no governmental authority having (i) issued any law that has the effect of prohibiting or preventing the 
consummation of the Merger, or (ii) issued or granted any final order (or any temporary order that has not 
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been repealed by August 31, 2019) that has the effect of making the Merger illegal or has the effect of 
prohibiting or preventing the consummation of the Merger.  

The consummation of the Merger by each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company is also conditional on certain other 
conditions being satisfied (as further described in the section of this proxy statement titled “Conditions to the Merger). 

What consideration will I receive in the event the Merger is approved? 

You will receive $0.99 per Ordinary Share (“Ordinary Share Consideration”) and/or $3.00 per Preference Share 
(“Preference Share Consideration”) held by you at the effective time of the Merger. Further details of the payment 
and tax withholding procedures are set out in the section of this proxy statement titled “Settlement”.  

If I do not vote in favor of the Merger, what happens to my shares? 

In the event that you do not vote in favor of the Merger or abstain from voting and the Merger is approved by the 
requisite percentage of the Company Shareholders, the Merger Agreement provides that at the effective time of the 
Merger (i) each Ordinary Share of the Company will automatically be cancelled and shall convert into the right to 
receive the Ordinary Share Consideration in cash and (ii) each Preference Share of the Company will automatically 
be cancelled and shall convert into the right to receive the Preference Share Consideration in cash. 

Following the effective time of the Merger, you will cease to have any rights with respect your shares in the Company, 
except for the right to receive the applicable Merger Consideration.  

What if another matter is properly brought before the meeting? 

The Board of Directors knows of no other matters that will be presented for consideration at the Annual and 
Extraordinary General Meeting. If any other matters are properly added to the agenda of the meeting, it is the intention 
of the persons named in the accompanying proxy to vote on those matters in accordance with their best judgment. 

How do I vote? 

You may either vote “For” or “Against” each of the nominees to the Board of Directors. For each of the other matters 
to be voted on, you may vote “For” or “Against” or abstain from voting. 

The procedures for voting are fairly simple: 

Shareholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name 

If you are a shareholder of record, you may vote in person at the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting or vote 
by proxy using the enclosed proxy card. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, we urge you to vote by proxy 
to ensure your vote is counted. You may still attend the meeting and vote in person even if you have already voted by 
proxy. 

•         To vote in person, come to the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting and we will give you a ballot 
when you arrive. 

•         To vote using the proxy card, simply complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card as instructed on the 
proxy card.   

If you return your signed proxy card to us before the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting, we will vote your 
shares as you direct. 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of Broker or Bank 

If you are a beneficial owner of shares registered in the name of your broker, bank, or other agent, you should contact 
your broker or bank for instructions on how to vote your shares. To vote in person at the Annual and Extraordinary 
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General Meeting, you must obtain a valid proxy from your broker, bank or other agent. Follow any instructions from 
your broker or bank included with these proxy materials, or contact your broker or bank to request a proxy form. 

How many votes do I have? 

On each matter to be voted upon, you have one vote for each ordinary share and one vote for each preferred share you 
own as of May 13, 2019. 

What happens if I do not vote? 

Shareholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name 

If you are a shareholder of record and do not vote by completing the enclosed proxy card or in person at the Meeting, 
your shares will not be voted. 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of Broker or Bank 

If you are a beneficial owner your bank, broker or other nominee will vote your shares only if you provide instructions 
to your bank, broker or other nominee on how to vote. If you do not instruct your broker, bank, or other nominee how 
to vote your shares, your shares will not be voted. You should follow any procedures provided by your bank, broker 
or other nominee regarding the voting of your shares and be sure to provide your bank, broker or other nominee with 
instructions on how to vote your shares. If your shares are held in “street name” you must contact your bank, broker 
or other nominee to change or revoke your voting instructions. 

What if I return a proxy card or otherwise vote but do not make specific choices? 

If you return a signed and dated proxy card or otherwise vote without marking voting selections, your shares will be 
voted, as applicable: 

• “For” the approval of the Merger Proposal and thereby the approval of the Merger and the other transactions 
contemplated by the Merger Agreement. 

 
• “For” the approval of the purchase by the Company of liability and a “tail” insurance for directors and officers 

of the Company in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. 
 
• “For” the election of (a) Syver Norderhaug, and (b) Scott Miller to serve as directors of the Company until the 

earlier of the next annual general meeting and the lawful termination of their office or their resignation.  
 
• “For” the election of Carla Corkern to serve as an outside director of the Company for a three-year term 

commencing on April 10, 2019.  
 
• “For” the approval of the compensation terms to the Company’s Directors. 
 
• “For” the approval of the compensation terms to the outside directors. 
 
• “For” the approval and ratification of an amendment of Brandon Edenfield’s compensation agreement as the 

Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  
 
• “For” the re-appointment of BDO Ziv Haft as our independent auditor for the periods ending on the date of our 

next annual general meeting of shareholders. 

What does it mean if I receive more than one set of proxy materials? 

If you receive more than one set of proxy materials, your shares may be registered in more than one name or in 
different accounts. Please follow the voting instructions on the proxy cards in the proxy materials to ensure that all of 
your shares are voted. 



 
201334934 v8  

Can I change my vote after submitting my proxy? 

Shareholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name 

Yes. You can revoke your proxy at any time before the final vote at the meeting. If you are the record holder of your 
shares, you may revoke your proxy in any one of the following ways: 

•         You may submit another properly completed proxy card with a later date. 

•         You may send a timely written notice that you are revoking your proxy to the Company’s Chief Executive  
Officer at 6600 LBJ Freeway, Suite 210, Dallas, TX 75240. 

•         You may attend the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting and vote in person. Simply attending the 
meeting will not, by itself, revoke your proxy. 

Your most current proxy card is the one that is counted. 

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of Broker or Bank 

If your shares are held by your broker or bank as a nominee or agent, you should follow any instructions provided by 
your broker or bank, or contact your broker or bank for additional information. 

When are shareholder proposals and director nominations due? 

Under the Companies Law, resolutions may only be adopted at a general shareholders meeting with respect to matters 
that are set forth on the agenda. Section 66(b) of the Companies Law provides that one or more shareholders holding, 
in the aggregate, at least one percent (1%) of the voting power entitled to vote at the company’s shareholder meetings, 
may request that an item be included in the agenda of a future shareholder meeting, if the subject matter is appropriate 
to be considered at a shareholders meeting. 

Under the Companies Regulations (Notice and Advertisement of General Meetings and Class Meetings of a Public 
Company and Addition of Items to the Agenda) 2000 (the “Notice Regulations”), a shareholder who meets the conditions 
of Section 66(b) of the Companies Law, must submit its request to include an agenda item within seven days following 
the company’s notice of convening of a shareholders’ meeting if the request relates to any of the following matters: 

•         appointment or removal of director(s); 

•         approval of related party transaction(s); 

•         approval of a merger; 

•         appointment of an existing CEO as Chairman of the Board or an existing Chairman of the Board as CEO 
pursuant to Section 121(c) of the Companies Law; or 

•         setting the company’s compensation policy for office holders. 

For all other matters, a shareholder has up to three days following the company’s notice of convening shareholders’ 
meeting to submit an agenda item request. To the extent that the requested agenda item consists of the appointment of 
director(s), the Notice Regulations impose particular information and documentary requirements that must be included 
in the request. 

A shareholder proposal to include the nomination of a director pursuant to the Notice Regulations, must include a 
declaration of the nominee regarding his or her necessary qualifications and ability to devote an appropriate amount 
of time to the performance of his or her duties as directors as further detailed in the section of this Proxy Statement 
titled “Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance” below. 

To the extent that the board of directors determines that the shareholder-proposed agenda item is appropriate for 
consideration by the shareholders, the Company shall publish an updated notice of the shareholder meeting within 
seven days following the deadline for shareholders to submit their proposed agenda items. The publication of the 
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updated notice of the shareholder meeting by the Company would not impact the record date as to shareholders entitled 
to participate in the meeting. 

Shareholder proposals in accordance with above should be provided to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer at 
6600 LBJ Freeway, Suite 210, Dallas, TX 75240. 

How are votes counted? 

Each outstanding share entitles the holder thereof to one vote on each matter voted at the meeting. Votes will be 
counted by the inspector of election appointed for the Meeting, who will separately count, for all proposals, votes 
“For” and “Against,” abstentions and, if applicable, broker non-votes. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no 
effect and will not be counted towards the vote total for any proposal. 

What are “broker non-votes”? 

A broker non-vote occurs when a bank, broker or other nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote 
on a particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that proposal 
and has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner. While counted for quorum purposes, abstentions 
and broker non-votes will not be treated as voting shares and will not have any effect on whether the requisite vote is 
obtained for all matters placed before shareholders for their vote. 

What is the quorum requirement? 

A quorum of shareholders is necessary to hold a valid meeting. A quorum will be present if two or more shareholders 
holding at least 35% of the outstanding shares entitled to vote are present at the meeting in person or represented by 
proxy. 

Your shares will be counted towards the quorum only if you submit a valid proxy (or one is submitted on your behalf 
by your broker, bank or other nominee) or if you vote in person at the meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will 
be counted towards the quorum requirement. If there is no quorum present within one hour of the time set for the 
meeting, the meeting shall automatically be adjourned to the same day and same time one week thereafter (unless such 
day shall fall on a public holiday either in Israel or the United States, in which case the Meeting will be adjourned to 
the first day, not being Friday, Saturday or Sunday, which follows such public holiday), at the same place fixed for 
the original meeting (with no need for any notice to the shareholders) or until such other later time if such time is 
specified in the original notice convening the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting, or if the Company gives 
notice to the shareholders no less than 72 hours before the date fixed for the adjourned meeting. 

How many votes are needed? 

The following table summarizes the minimum vote needed to approve each proposal and the effect of abstentions and 
broker non-votes. 

 
Proposal 
Number  Proposal Description   Vote Required for Approval    

Effect of Abstentions and 
Broker Non-Votes 

1  Approval of the Merger 
Proposal, and thereby, 
approval of the Merger and 
other transactions 
contemplated thereby 

  “For” votes of: (i) holders of at least 75% 
of all classes of the outstanding Company 
Shares, voting together as a single class on 
an as converted basis; and (ii) the holders 
of at least 75% of each class of the 
outstanding Company Shares, voting as a 
single class provided that at least half of 
the votes "For" representing outstanding 
Company Shares or applicable class of the 
outstanding Company Shares, as the case 
may be, present (in person or by proxy) 

  Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect. 
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and voted on the matter (excluding any 
absentee votes) held by shareholders that 
are not Merger Sub, Parent or any person 
or entity holding 25% or more of any type 
of means of control of Merger Sub, or any 
person or entity acting on behalf of any of 
the foregoing, or any family member of, or 
entity controlled by, any of the foregoing, 
voted in favor of such approval. 
  

2  Approval of purchase of 
liability and “tail” insurance 
for directors and officers 

  “For” votes of holders of a majority of the 
voting power represented at the Annual 
Meeting in person or by proxy, and voting 
on the resolution provided that (i) the shares 
voting in favor of such resolution include at 
least the majority of the shares voted by 
shareholders who are not “controlling 
shareholders” and who do not have a 
personal interest; or (ii) the total number of 
shares voted against the resolution by 
shareholders who are not controlling 
shareholders and who do not have a personal 
interest does not exceed two percent of the 
Company’s outstanding shares.   
 

  Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect 

3  Election of Directors   “For” votes of the holders of a majority of 
the voting power represented at the 
Meeting in person or by proxy is necessary 
for approval of this proposed resolution
Abstentions and broker non-votes will 
have no effect.   
  

  Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect. 

4  Election of Outside Directors  “For” votes of the holders of a majority of 
the voting power represented at the 
Meeting in person or by proxy is necessary 
for approval of this proposed resolution. 
provided that (i) the shares voting in favor 
of such resolution include at least a 
majority of the shares voted by 
shareholders who are not “controlling 
shareholders” and who do not have a 
personal  interest in approving the 
appointment other than interests that do 
not stem from connections with the 
controlling shareholders ; or (ii) the total 
number of shares voted against the 
resolution by shareholders who are not 
controlling shareholders and do not have a 
personal interest as per (i) above,  does not 
exceed two percent of the Company’s 
outstanding shares. 
 

 Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect. 

5  Approval of the 
compensation terms to be 
granted to the members of 

  “For” votes of the holders of a majority of 
the voting power represented at the Meeting 
in person or by proxy is necessary for 
approval of this proposed resolution 

  Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect. 
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the Company’s Board of 
Directors 

provided that (i) the shares voting in favor of 
such resolution include at least the majority 
of the shares voted by shareholders who are 
not “controlling shareholders” and who do 
not have a personal  interest; or (ii) the total 
number of shares voted against the 
resolution by shareholders who are not 
controlling shareholders and interested 
parties does not exceed two percent of the 
Company’s outstanding shares.  
  

6  Approval of the 
compensation terms to be 
granted to the Company’s 
outside directors 

  “For” votes of the holders of a majority of 
the voting power represented at the Meeting 
in person or by proxy is necessary for 
approval of this proposed resolution 
provided that (i) the shares voting in favor of 
such resolution include at least the majority 
of the shares voted by shareholders who are 
not “controlling shareholders” and who do 
not have a personal  interest; or (ii) the total 
number of shares voted against the 
resolution by shareholders who are not 
controlling shareholders and interested 
parties does not exceed two percent of the 
Company’s outstanding shares.  
  

  Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect. 

6  Approval of compensation to 
the CEO 
 

 “For” votes of the holders of a majority of 
the voting power represented at the Meeting 
in person or by proxy is necessary for 
approval of this proposed resolution 
provided that (i) the shares voting in favor of 
such resolution include at least the majority 
of the shares voted by shareholders who are 
not “controlling shareholders” and who do 
not have a personal interest; or (ii) the total 
number of shares voted against the 
resolution by shareholders who are not 
controlling shareholders and a personal 
interest does not exceed two percent of the 
Company’s outstanding shares.  
 

 Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect. 

       

8  Re appointment of the 
Company’s Auditor 

 “For” votes of the holders of a majority of 
the voting power present at the Meeting, in 
person or by proxy, and voting on the 
matter is required for the approval of the 
proposed resolution in this matter. 

 Abstentions and broker 
non-votes will have no 
effect. 

Am I entitled to dissenter’s or appraisal rights? 

No. Under Israeli law, you do not have any rights of appraisal or similar rights of dissenters, whether you vote for or 
against the resolutions. You may vote “Against” any proposal. 
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How can I find out the results of the voting at the Meeting? 
 

Preliminary voting results will be announced at the Meeting. In addition, final voting results will be published on the 
Company’s website after the Meeting. 
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PROPOSAL 1 
MERGER AGREEMENT 

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the Merger Agreement. A copy of the Merger Agreement is 
attached as Annex A to this proxy statement and is incorporated into this proxy statement by reference. The summary 
below may not contain all of the information about the Merger Agreement, including all ancillary agreements forming 
an integral part thereof, that is important to you. You are encouraged to carefully read the Merger Agreement in its 
entirety, as it is the legal document that contains the terms and conditions of the transaction.  

The Merger Agreement is a contractual document that establishes and governs the legal relations between the 
Company and Parent, and allocated risks between the parties, with respect to the Merger. The Merger Agreement 
contains representations and warranties made by Parent and Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the 
other hand, that are qualified in several important respects, which you should consider as you read them in the Merger 
Agreement.  

The representations and warranties are qualified by a confidential disclosure letter that the Company prepared and 
delivered to Parent immediately prior to signing the Merger Agreement. Certain of the representations and warranties 
made by Parent and Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, were also made as of a 
specified date, may be subject to contractual standard of materiality different from what might be viewed as material 
to shareholders, and may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties to the Merger 
Agreement rather than as establishing matters as facts. Information concerning the subject matter of the 
representations and warranties may have changed since the date of the Merger Agreement and subsequently 
developed. 

The Merger   

At the effective time of the merger, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement 
and in accordance with the applicable provisions of Israeli law, Merger Sub will be merged into the Company (the 
“Merger”). The separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease and the Company will continue as the surviving 
company.  As a result of the Merger, the Company will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Advanced 
Computer Software Group Limited.  Merger Sub was created solely for purposes of the Merger and has no material 
assets or operations of its own.  

Merger Consideration 

The aggregate consideration to be received by all the shareholders of the Company in the Merger is expected to be 
$25,953,691.02 (the “Merger Consideration”), with $0.99 per Ordinary Share (in aggregate, the “Ordinary Share 
Consideration”) and $3.00 per Preference Share (in aggregate, the “Preference Share Consideration”). 

Closing and Effective Time of the Merger 

The closing of the Merger will take place at 10 a.m., no later than the fifth business day after the satisfaction (or waiver 
in accordance with the Merger Agreement) of all of the conditions described in the section below entitled “Conditions 
to the Merger” (other than any condition that by its nature cannot be satisfied until the closing of the Merger, but 
subject to satisfaction of any such condition), unless the Company and Parent agree to another time in writing.  

Effects of the Merger; Articles of Association; Directors and Officers 

The Merger Agreement provides for the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company upon the terms, and subject 
to the conditions, set forth in the Merger Agreement and in the applicable sections of the ICL. As the surviving 
company, the Company will continue to exist following the Merger as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of 
Advanced Computer Software Group Limited. 

At the effective time of the Merger, the Articles of Association of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the 
effective time, will be the Articles of Association of the surviving company and the memorandum of association of 
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the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time, will be the memorandum of association of the 
surviving company.  

The Merger Agreement also provides for the resignation of the Company’s directors as of the effective time of the 
Merger and for the appointment of the directors of Merger Sub as the directors of the surviving company. The officers 
of the Company immediately before the effective time will be the officers of the surviving company at the effective 
time.  

Guarantee 

Under the Merger Agreement, Advanced Computer Software Group Limited unconditionally and irrevocably 
guarantees the punctual performance by the Parent of its obligations under the Merger Agreement and agrees to, 
immediately on demand by the relevant payee, meet any payment obligations of the Parent when they fall due if the 
Parent defaults in its payment obligations. 

Effect on Shares 

The Merger Agreement provides that at the effective time of the Merger (i) each Ordinary Share of the Company 
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than Ordinary Shares held by the 
Company as treasury shares) will automatically be cancelled, shall cease to exist and shall convert into the right to 
receive the Ordinary Share Consideration in cash and (ii) each Preference Share of the Company issued and 
outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger (other than Preference Shares held by the Company 
as treasury shares) will automatically be cancelled, shall cease to exist and shall convert into the right to receive the 
Preference Share Consideration in cash. 

Following the effective time of the Merger, each shareholder will cease to have any rights with respect to their shares 
in the Company, except for the right to receive the applicable Merger Consideration.  

Each Ordinary Share or Preference Share that is (i) owned by any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company or (ii) held by the Company as a treasury share (in each case, immediately prior to the effective time of the 
merger), will be automatically cancelled and cease to exist and will not be entitled to any merger consideration.  

At the effective time of the Merger, each Ordinary Share of par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of Merger 
Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will be converted into one validly 
issued, fully paid and non-assessable Ordinary Share par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of the surviving 
company and such Ordinary Shares shall constitute the only outstanding share capital of the surviving company. 

Settlement  

No later than five days prior to closing of the Merger, Parent will designate a bank or trust company approved by the 
Company to act as paying agent for the payment of the merger consideration (the “Paying Agent”). Upon the closing 
of the Merger, Parent will deposit, or will cause to be deposited, with the Paying Agent funds equal to the Ordinary 
Share Consideration and the Preference Share Consideration. Parent will also cause a certain portion of the of the 
proceeds due to the Major Shareholders (described below) to be deposited into an escrow account for a twelve-month 
period after closing to satisfy any indemnification claims. 

Promptly following the effective time of the Merger, Parent and the surviving company will cause the Paying Agent 
to mail to each holder of record of Ordinary Shares and/or Preference Shares (whose shares were converted into the 
right to receive the Ordinary Share Consideration and/or Preference Share Consideration (as applicable)) (i) a letter 
of transmittal with instructions on how to surrender any certificate that immediately prior to the effective time of the 
merger represented or evidenced any Ordinary Shares or Preference Shares in issue in exchange for the Ordinary Share 
Consideration or the Preference Share Consideration (as applicable) and (ii) any necessary declarations or forms 
required under applicable tax law in order for the holder of record to provide information to the paying agent to 
determine whether any amounts need to be withheld from any Merger Consideration payable to such shareholder. 
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Upon delivery of (i) a properly completed letter of transmittal, (ii) any necessary tax declarations or forms, in each 
case duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto and accompanied by any 
outstanding share certificates (an “agent’s message” in the case of any uncertificated shares), each holder of Ordinary 
Shares and/or Preference Shares will be entitled to receive in exchange therefor cash (by check or wire transfer) in an 
amount equal to the product of (x) the number of Ordinary Shares or Preference Shares held by the shareholder 
multiplied by (y) the Ordinary Share Consideration per share or the Preference Share Consideration per share (as 
applicable).  

If your certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed, you will be entitled to obtain payment of the Merger Consideration 
by making an affidavit to that effect and providing an indemnity in customary form to indemnify Parent against any 
claim that may be made against the Paying Agent or the surviving company with respect to your lost, stolen or 
destroyed certificate.  

Each certificate or book-entry share representing Ordinary Shares or Preference Shares that is surrendered 
will be cancelled. You should not send in your Ordinary Share certificates or Preference Share certificates until 
you receive a letter of transmittal with instructions from the Paying Agent. Do not send Ordinary Share 
certificates or Preference Share Certificates with your proxy cards.  

Payment of the Merger Consideration may be made to a person other than the person in whose name a surrendered 
share certificate or uncertificated share is registered if the share certificate or uncertificated share is properly endorsed 
and presented to the Paying Agent, accompanied by evidence that any applicable share transfer taxes have been paid 
to Parent or are not applicable.  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Merger Agreement, Parent, Parent’s subsidiaries, Merger Sub, the 
surviving company, the subsidiaries of the surviving company, the Paying Agent and the escrow agent (each, a 
“Payor”) will be entitled to deduct and withhold from any Merger Consideration payable to any holder of Ordinary 
Shares and/or Preference Shares and from the amounts deposited in escrow by (or on behalf of) Parent, such amounts 
as are required to be withheld or deducted under a Withholding Tax Ruling (described below), the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance 1961 (New Version) or any provision of applicable state, local, Israeli 
or foreign tax law. 

For a period of 180 days from the closing of the Merger, no payment of Merger Consideration shall be made by any 
Payor to any shareholder but shall be retained by the Paying Agent, unless a shareholder provides a valid tax certificate 
during that period or requests release of payment and for such payment to be subject to the relevant withholding. If, 
within five business days of the end of the 180-day period, any shareholder delivers a valid tax certificate to a Payor 
then such Payor will make deductions and withholdings of Israeli taxes in accordance with such certificate. If the 
shareholder does not deliver a valid tax certificate within the requisite timeframe, the amount to be withheld from such 
shareholder’s Merger Consideration will be determined by Parent in accordance with applicable law and the amounts 
so withheld will be paid to the relevant governmental authority.  

You should consult with your own tax advisors as to the particular tax consequences to you as a result to this merger 
under any applicable law. 

 

Treatment of Stock Options and Other Stock-Based Awards  

Company Warrants. As of the effective time, each outstanding Company Warrant, will be exercised and converted 
into the number of shares in the Company that the holder of the Company Warrant is entitled to receive. The Company 
will withhold any taxes required to be withheld following the exercise and conversion of any Company Warrant and 
transfer such withheld amounts to the relevant tax authority. Thereafter, upon the conversion of the Company Warrant 
into shares, each Ordinary Share and each Preference Share will automatically be cancelled, shall cease to exist and 
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shall convert into the right to receive the Ordinary Share Consideration in cash or the Preference Share Consideration 
in cash, as applicable. 

Representations and Warranties of the Company  

The Merger Agreement contains a number of representations and warranties made by the Company, including 
representations and warranties relating to:  

 corporate organization, good standing and qualification; 

 corporate power; enforceability; 

 company non-contravention; 

 required governmental approvals; 

 company capitalization; 

 litigation; 

 subsidiaries; 

 company reports; 

 no undisclosed liabilities;  

 accuracy of financial statements; 

 absence of certain changes or events and the conduct of business in the ordinary course of business since 
December 31, 2018; 

 material contracts; 

 real property and personal property; 

 intellectual property; 

 information technology and data protection; 

 tax matters; 

 employee plans; 

 labor matters; 

 compliance with laws; international trade and anti-corruption; 

 regulatory matters; 

 insurance; 

 brokers; 

 anti-takeover statutes; 

 product liability; and 

 related party transactions. 

The Merger Agreement also contains a number of representations and warranties made by Parent and Merger Sub, 
including representations and warranties relating to: 

 organization, good standing and qualification; 

 corporate power; enforceability; 

 non-contravention; 



 
201334934 v8  

 authorization of transaction 

 required governmental approvals; 

 litigation; 

 adequacy of funds; and 

 no other representation or warranties. 

Various representations and warranties of the Company are qualified by “materiality”, “material adverse effect”, a 
“look-back period” and “knowledge”. Under the Merger Agreement, certain warranties are only being made by the 
Company in relation to the two years preceding the Merger Agreement. Further, certain warranties are qualified by 
the knowledge of the Company which means any matter that was actually known, after reasonable enquiry, by any of 
Brandon Edenfield, Cameron Jenkins, James Carpenter, Regina O’Connor and Valentine Iancu. 

Disclosures set forth in any particular section or subsection of the Company Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to be 
an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) the representations and warranties (or covenants, as 
applicable) of the Company. 

Covenants and Agreements  

The Company has agreed, with certain exceptions, that during the period from the date of the Merger Agreement 
until the effective time of the Merger:  

 the Company and its subsidiaries will conduct business only in the ordinary course consistent with past 
practice; 

 the Company and its subsidiaries will use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve in all material 
respects its business organization intact, and preserve the current relationships of the Company and its 
subsidiaries with persons with whom the Company or its subsidiaries have significant business relations and 
keep available the services of the present key employees in all material respects; 

 the Company will not (and will cause each of its subsidiaries not to), do any of the following (directly or 
indirectly) between the date of the Merger Agreement and the effective time of the Merger or, if earlier, the 
end date, without the prior written consent of Parent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 
delayed); 

o amend its memorandum and articles of association or similar applicable organizational or charter 
documents of the Company or its subsidiaries; 

o issue, sell, deliver or agree or commit to issue, sell or deliver (whether through the issuance or 
granting of options, warrants, commitments, subscriptions, rights to purchase or otherwise) any 
Company securities or any securities of its subsidiaries; 

o directly or indirectly, acquire, repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares any rights, 
warrants or options to acquire any such shares in the Company or any of its subsidiaries; 

o split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any share capital; 

o declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, shares or property or 
any combination thereof) in respect of any of its share capital, or make any other actual, constructive 
or deemed distribution in respect of the share capital, except for cash dividends made by the 
Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries to the Company; 

o completely or partially liquidate the Company or any of its subsidiaries or adopt a plan of complete 
or partial liquidation, dissolution, recapitalization, restructuring or other reorganization with respect 
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or merge or consolidate with any Person; 

o (a) incur, assume or guarantee any indebtedness (directly, contingently or otherwise) except for 
(i) indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course not exceeding $100,000, (ii) intercompany 
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indebtedness among the Company and its subsidiaries or (iii) indebtedness arising in relation to 
severance payment obligations of the Company or (b) make any loan or capital contribution to any 
person other than a subsidiary of the Company; 

o materially change financial accounting principles or practices, except as required by GAAP or 
applicable law; 

o make or agree to any capital expenditures with respect to property, plant or equipment except 
for those amounts in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and included in 
the Company’s annual budget provided to the Parent prior to the date of the Merger Agreement; 

o except as required by applicable law, (A) enter into, adopt, amend or terminate any incentive or 
other employee benefit agreement except the event of termination of an employee in accordance 
with past practice, (B) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, 
increase the compensation payable or to become payable to any director, officer or employee of the 
Company or any subsidiary in excess of $50,000 in aggregate, (C) take any action to accelerate the 
vesting or payment of compensation or benefits under any employee plan, (D) terminate the 
employment of any employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, except in the ordinary 
course or (E) hire any individual as an employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, except 
in the ordinary course of business, provided that (1) the total employee headcount of the Company 
and its subsidiaries does not exceed 62, and (2) any agreement with a newly hired employee does 
not include certain notice, severance and compensation provisions above those required under law 
or provided to employees of the same/ equivalent grade; 

o invest in, or acquire (or agree to acquire) any interest in any business in excess of $50,000; 

o mortgage, pledge or create a lien over any of its assets (tangible or intangible) or sell, license or 
dispose of any property of the Company or any of its subsidiaries in excess of $50,000 in aggregate; 

o sell, lease, dispose of, or permit to lapse any rights to any owned intellectual property or rights under 
any licensed intellectual property; 

o settle any legal investigations or proceedings, other than settlement in the ordinary course of 
business consistent with past practice, that solely requires payment by the Company of an amount 
that does not, in aggregate or individually exceed $75,000; 

o other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, terminate or modify any 
material contracts or the rights of the Company or any of its subsidiaries under any such contracts 
or enter into any contracts which would be considered material contracts; 

o  make or change any material election in respect of taxes, change any material accounting method 
in respect of taxes or settle or finally resolve any tax contest or  consent to any extension or waiver 
of the statute of limitations period applicable to any tax claim or assessment; 

o make any loans to, or investments in, any person (other than the Company’s subsidiaries) except to 
directors and employees in the ordinary course; 

o form or join any joint venture; or 

o authorize any of, or commit or agree, in writing or otherwise, to take any of the foregoing actions. 

No Solicitation; Company Board Recommendation  

In the Merger Agreement, the Company agreed to immediately cease any discussions or negotiations with any parties 
that may have been ongoing with respect to an Acquisition Proposal and to seek to have returned to the Company any 
confidential information that has been provided in any such discussions or negotiations. We have also agreed that we 
will not, nor will we authorize or permit any of our subsidiaries or our or their officers and directors, investment 
bankers, attorneys or other authorized agents, advisors or representatives to, directly or indirectly:  

  •   solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage or knowingly facilitate any acquisition proposal;  
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 •   participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any person any non-public information 
with respect to, or in furtherance of or which could reasonably be expected to lead to any acquisition 
proposal;  

  

•   approve, execute, enter into or propose to approve, execute or enter into, any letter of intent, memorandum 
of understanding, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement, merger agreement or similar agreement 
relating to or which could reasonably be expected to lead to any acquisition proposal or requiring it to 
abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the merger; or 

  •   grant any waiver or release under any standstill, confidentiality or other similar agreement.   
  

Under the Merger Agreement, an “Acquisition Proposal” means any offer or proposal (other than an offer or proposal 
by Parent or Merger Sub) for: (i) the purchase or other acquisition, including through any tender offer or exchange 
offer, by any person, directly or indirectly, of more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the outstanding Company 
Shares; (ii) a merger, consolidation, business combination, scheme of arrangement, share exchange, reorganization, 
recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries that, 
if consummated in accordance with its terms, would result in either (A) any person beneficially owning, directly or 
indirectly, more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the outstanding Company Shares or more than twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the voting equity interests in the surviving or resulting entity of such transaction or (B) holders of the 
outstanding Company Shares immediately prior to such transaction owning less than seventy-five percent (75%) of 
the outstanding equity securities of the surviving or resulting entity of such transaction immediately thereafter; or 
(iii) any direct or indirect acquisition or purchase, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, including 
by means of the acquisition of capital stock of the subsidiaries of the Company, of assets or properties that constitute 
more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole 
(based on the fair market value thereof as reasonably determined in good faith by the Company Board). 

The Merger Agreement provides that, without derogating from any fiduciary or other legal obligation of any board 
member under applicable law, the Company will not (i) withhold, withdraw, amend, qualify, modify, or publicly 
propose to withhold, withdraw, amend, qualify, modify the Company Board’s recommendation of the Merger to the 
shareholders, (ii) adopt a resolution to approve or recommend or propose publicly to approve or recommend any 
Acquisition Proposal, (iii) if any tender offer or exchange offer that constitutes an Acquisition Proposal is commenced, 
recommend in favor of such Acquisition Proposal, or (iv) at any time after receipt or public announcement of an 
Acquisition Proposal, fail to publicly recommend against such Acquisition Proposal or fail to publicly reaffirm the 
Company board recommendation of the Merger, in each case other than with Parent’s written consent.  

Other Actions  

The Merger Agreement states that the Company Shareholders Meeting will be held no later than 35 days after the 
publication of the notices regarding such meeting. The Company must use reasonable best efforts to solicit from the 
shareholders approval of the Merger Agreement and the Merger. The Company may adjourn or postpone the Company 
Shareholders Meeting as and to the extent required by applicable law.    

Director and Officer Indemnification 

For a period of six (6) years from and after the effective time of the Merger, the surviving company will maintain (or 
cause to be maintained) in effect the current policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by the 
Company or provide substitute policies or purchase a “tail” policy, with respect to claims arising from facts or events 
that occurred on or before the effective time of the Merger.  

Withholding Tax Ruling 

As soon as practicable following signing of the Merger Agreement, the Company will instruct its Israeli advisers to 
prepare and file with the Israeli Tax Authority an application for a ruling (i)  exempting Parent, the Paying Agent, the 
escrow agent and the surviving company from any withholding tax under Israeli law from any Merger Consideration 
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payable and amounts payable out of the escrow account or (ii) instructing Parent, the Paying Agent, the escrow agent 
and the surviving company on how such withholding is to be executed, conversion rate on the date the payment is 
actually made to a recipient (the “Withholding Tax Ruling”). Obtaining the Withholding Tax Ruling and providing it 
to the Parent will be a condition to the Merger (see below).   

Additional Agreements  

The merger agreement contains additional agreements between us and Parent relating to, among other things: 

   •   access to information; 

  •   Company director resignation;  

  •   third party litigation;  

  
•   acquisition of subsidiary shares - the Company has agreed to use best efforts to acquire the shares in MS 

Modernization (a subsidiary of the Company) held by Trevor Veary as part of the transaction, and in any 
event prior to the closing date; 

  •   Leakage notification;  

  
•   repayment of Company indebtedness - approximately $3 million of outstanding debt under the loan with 

Comerica Bank will be repaid by Parent on behalf of the Company at closing;   

  •   notification of certain matters; and  

  •   tax matters.   

  
Conditions to the Merger  

The obligation of each party to the Merger Agreement to consummate the Merger is subject to the satisfaction (or, 
except with respect to the Company Shareholder Approval which cannot be waived, express written waiver by all 
parties, to the extent permitted by applicable law) on or before the closing date of the Merger of the following 
conditions:  

  

• 
 

obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval. The “Company Shareholder Approval” is defined as 
approval of the merger by (i) the holders of at least seventy five percent (75%) of all classes of the 
outstanding Company Shares voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis,  and (ii) at least 
seventy five percent (75%) of each class of outstanding Company Shares, voting together as a single class 
on an as-converted basis, at a special meeting of the shareholders of the Company to approve the Merger;
provided that, in each such case, at least half of the outstanding Company Shares or applicable class of the 
outstanding Company Shares, as the case may be, present (in person or by proxy) and voted on the matter
(excluding any absentee votes) held by shareholders that are not Merger Sub, Parent or any person or entity 
holding 25% or more of any type of means of control of Merger Sub, or any person or entity acting on 
behalf of any of the foregoing, or any family member of, or entity controlled by, any of the foregoing, voted 
in favor of such approval. 

 •  expiry of any waiting periods and necessary approvals under antitrust laws shall have occurred or been 
granted; 

   
•   fifty (50) days having elapsed after the filing of the Merger Proposal with the Companies Registrar and 

thirty (30) days having elapsed after the approval of the Merger by the shareholders of each of the Company 
and Merger Sub; 

   
•   no governmental authority shall have (i) enacted, issued or promulgated any law that is in effect or which 

has the effect of prohibiting or otherwise preventing the consummation of the merger, or (ii) issued or 
granted any final order (or any temporary order that has not been repealed by August 31, 2019) that is in 
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effect and has the effect of making the merger illegal or has the effect of prohibiting or otherwise preventing 
or enjoining the consummation of the Merger.  

The obligation of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the Merger is further subject to the satisfaction or written 
waiver, in its sole discretion, by Parent prior to the effective time of the merger, of the following conditions:  

  •   accuracy as of the closing date of the Merger of the representations and warranties made by us in the Merger 
Agreement;  

 
•   performance of or compliance with the covenants and agreements contained in the Merger Agreement to be 

performed or complied with by us in all material respects prior to or on the closing date to the extent specified 
in the Merger Agreement;  

 • 
 
since the date of the Merger Agreement, no material adverse effect shall have occurred on the Company;  

  •   delivery to Parent of a certificate executed by an executive officer certifying to the satisfaction of the three 
conditions above-mentioned and that the Company Board has approved the transaction; and  

  •   the Company having furnished Parent with the Withholding Tax Ruling.  

The obligation of the Company to consummate the Merger is further subject to the satisfaction or written waiver, in 
its sole discretion, by the Company prior to the effective time of the merger, of the following conditions: 

  
•   accuracy as of the closing date of the Merger of certain representations and warranties made by Parent and 

Merger Sub in the Merger Agreement except as the failure to be so true and correct would not reasonably be 
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.; 

  
•   performance of or compliance with the covenants and agreements of each of Parent and Merger Sub 

contained in the Merger Agreement to be performed or complied with by them prior to or on the closing date 
of the Merger to the extent specified in the Merger Agreement;   

 
•  delivery to the Company of certificates executed by an executive officer of each of Parent and Merger Sub 

certifying to the satisfaction of the two conditions above-mentioned; and 
 • 

 
Parent delivering to the Company a letter of undertaking towards the Israel Innovation Authority as required 
by applicable law. 
 

Termination, Amendment and Waiver  

The Merger Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the effective time of the Merger in the following 
circumstances:  

  •   by mutual written agreement of Parent and the Company;  

  

•   by either Parent or the Company if the merger is not consummated by August 31, 2019; provided, however, 
that this right to terminate the merger agreement is not available to a party whose failure to perform its 
obligations under the merger agreement has been the principal cause of the failure of the merger to occur by 
such date;  

 
 

• by Parent in the event that the Company has failed to obtain the Company Shareholder Approval;   

 
 • by Parent or the Company if a governmental authority has issued an order which has the effect of prohibiting 

the Merger and such order is not removed or cancelled by August 31, 2019; 

 

 • By Parent in the event that any bonus payments (other than those considered permitted leakage) have been 
made by Company to certain employee shareholders since December 31, 2018 and Parent is unable to claim 
the value of such bonus payment in its entirety from indemnification obligations provided by  the 
shareholders under the undertakings (as further described in the section of this proxy statement titled 
“Unilateral Shareholder Undertaking”); by Parent in the event that (i) Parent and Merger Sub are not in 
material breach of their respective representations, warranties or covenants under the merger agreement and 
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(ii) the Company has breached its representations, warranties or covenants under the merger agreement, 
which breach cannot be cured by August 31, 2019; or 

 

 • by the Company in the event that (i) the Company is not in material breach of its representations, warranties 
or covenants under the merger agreement and (ii) Parent and Merger Sub have breached have breached any 
of its representations, warranties or covenants under the Merger Agreement, which breach cannot be cured 
by August 31, 2019. 

Amendment  

The Merger Agreement may be amended in writing by the Company, Parent and Merger Sub with respect to any of 
the terms contained in the Merger Agreement, except that following approval by the Shareholders of the Company 
there shall be no amendment to the Merger Agreement that requires approval by such Shareholders without such 
further approval.  

Extension of Time; Waiver  

At any time prior to the effective time of the Merger, the Company and Parent may (a) extend the time for the 
performance of any of the obligations or acts of the other party; (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and 
warranties of the other party contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto; and (c) waive compliance 
with any of the agreements or conditions of the other party contained in the Merger Agreement.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, no failure or delay by the Company or Parent in exercising any right under the Merger Agreement shall 
operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise of any 
other right under the Merger Agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to the Merger Agreement to any such 
extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party.  

Governing Law/ Jurisdiction  

The Merger Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of, relating to or in connection with the 
Merger Agreement, the negotiation, execution, existence, validity, enforceability or performance of the Merger 
Agreement, or for the breach thereof is governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Israel, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of 
Israel or otherwise) that would cause the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction. Any actions or proceedings 
arising in connection with any dispute, controversy or claim arising under, relating to or in connection with the Merger 
Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby (including any dispute or controversy regarding the existence, 
validity, enforceability or breach of the Merger Agreement), whether in contract, in tort or otherwise, shall be brought, 
tried and determined only in any court of competent jurisdiction located in Tel Aviv-Jaffa, Israel. 

 

UNILATERAL SHAREHOLDER UNDERTAKING   

Concurrently with the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement on April 3, 2019 and to induce Parent entering 
into the Merger Agreement, each of the three major shareholders of the Company -  Prescott Group Capital 
Management, Columbia Pacific Opportunity Fund, L.P. and Mindus Holdings (each, a “Major Shareholder”, and 
together, the “Major Shareholders”) – acting alone and severally entered into a Unilateral Shareholder Undertaking 
with Parent (the “Undertakings”) that principally (i) confirms such shareholder's consent to vote in favor of the Merger 
in a shareholder meeting; and (ii) provides Parent with indemnification for any “Leakages” (described below) and 
breaches of the representations and warranties given by the Company under the Merger Agreement.  
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The following is a summary of the material terms of each of the undertakings. This summary does not purport to be 
complete and may not contain all of the information about the undertakings that is important.  

As of April 4, 2019, the Major Shareholders beneficial ownership was a follows:   Prescott Group Capital 
Management: 5,262,501 Ordinary Shares, or approximately 22.3% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares, and 251,942 
Preference Shares, or 40% of the outstanding Preference Shares; Columbia Pacific Opportunity Fund, L.P.: 10,275,249 
Ordinary Shares, or approximately 43.7]% of the outstanding Ordinary Shares, and 251,942 Preference Shares, or 
40% of the outstanding Preference Shares; and Mindus Holdings: 5,303,249 Ordinary Shares, or approximately 22.6% 
of the outstanding Ordinary Shares, and 125,971 Preference Shares, or 20% of the outstanding Preference Shares.  

Agreement to Vote  

Each Major Shareholder unilaterally undertakes that at any meeting of the shareholders of the Company and in any 
written action by consent of the shareholders of the Company, it will vote all of its Company Shares:  

 in favor of the merger, the adoption and approval of the Merger Agreement and any actions contemplated by 
the Merger Agreement; 

 against any action that would be reasonably likely to result in a breach of any representation, warranty, 
covenant or obligation of the Company in the Merger Agreement; and 

 in a manner that ensures the Company complies with its covenants under the Merger Agreement relating to 
conduct of business between signing of the Merger Agreement and effective time of the Merger. 

Each Major Shareholder also severally and uni-laterally  undertakes to (i) not instruct any other party to carry out any 
actions inconsistent with the above voting arrangements prior to the effective time of the merger or the termination of 
the Merger Agreement (ii) waive and not exercise any appraisal rights it may have under the Companies Law in 
connection with its shares and (iii) revoke any existing proxies or powers of attorney with respect to voting in relation 
to its shares in the Company. 

Transfer Restrictions  

Each Major Shareholder undertakes, until the effective time of the Merger or the termination of the Merger Agreement, 
not to: 

 sell, encumber or otherwise dispose of any of its shares in the Company; 

 grant powers of attorney in relation to its shares in the Company (other than in the proxy statement); or 

 take any action in relation to its shares in the Company that would interfere with the performance of its 
obligations under the Undertaking or the Merger Agreement. 

Locked Box Structure 

The Merger is structured as a locked-box transaction and the purchase price payable for the Company is a fixed price 
determined by reference to the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 
December 31, 2018 (the “Locked Box Date”).  

The Undertaking sets out a list of actions and transactions that would otherwise result in an extraction of value (known 
as “Leakage”) between the Locked Box Date and effective time of the Merger. In the event there is (i) any Leakage 
that has been received or enjoyed by a particular Major Shareholder or any member of that Major Shareholder’s group, 
the relevant Major Shareholder will indemnify Parent for the full amount of such loss (ii) any Leakage that is not 
attributable to any particular Major Shareholder, each Major Shareholder will, independently and pro rata to its 
shareholding, indemnify Parent in respect of such loss (with such indemnification obligations in each case being 
satisfied out of the proceeds of sale deposited in escrow (described below) or otherwise, as determined by Parent in 
its sole discretion). Examples of Leakages are payment of dividends, issuing of loans to shareholders and payment of 
unapproved bonuses to management. Some leakages are permitted and agreed in advanced. 
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Escrow 

The Undertaking provides that for each Major Shareholder, a certain portion of its proceeds will be deposited out of 
the proceeds due to it into escrow for a 12 month period after closing to satisfy any indemnification claims. After the 
expiry of the 12-month period, the amount remaining in escrow for such Major Shareholder following settlement of 
any claims would be paid to such Major Shareholder. To the extent there are any amounts with respect to any Major 
Shareholder subject to an unsettled claim, such amounts must remain in escrow until they are settled. 

Indemnification 

In addition to indemnifying Parent against any Leakage, each Major Shareholder shall severally  indemnify the Parent 
against (i) breach or alleged breach by the Company of any of the representations and warranties or, prior to closing, 
any covenants it provides under the Merger Agreement, (ii) any breach or alleged breach by such shareholder of the 
representations and warranties and covenants it provides under the Undertaking (iii) claims from current and past 
shareholders (iv) pre-closing taxes and (v) withholding taxes imposed on any payment under the Merger Agreement. 
The liability of each Major Shareholder is subject to the limitations on liability described below. 

Representations and Warranties 

Each Major Shareholder provided representations and warranties including, among others, warranties regarding 
ownership of shares in the Company and power and authority to enter into the Undertaking (the “Shareholder 
Fundamental Warranties”). 

Limitations on Liability 

The liability obligations of each Major Shareholder in respect of breaches are limited under the Undertaking by 
customary survival periods, knowledge qualifiers, a duty on the Parent to mitigate any losses arising as a result of any 
such breach and other caps on liability.  

Other Major Shareholder Obligations  

The Major Shareholders have each further agreed not to make any claim against the Company or the surviving 
company or any of its affiliates for indemnification for losses arising as a result of any claim made by any member of 
the Parent’s group against such shareholder. 

Non- Solicitation 

Each Major Shareholder agrees that for a period of two years from the effective time of the Merger, it shall not, and 
shall cause its Affiliates not to employ or engage the services (whether as an employee, consultant, agent, independent 
contractor or otherwise) of any key employee (being Brandon Edenfield, Cameron Jenkins, James Carpenter, Regina 
O’Connor and Valentine Iancu) employed by the Company or any subsidiary. 

Termination  

The Undertaking and all obligations of the parties thereunder may be terminated by either the Major Shareholders or 
Parent upon: (i) the termination of the Merger Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement; (ii) 
Parent’s notification of its intention not to proceed with the Merger; or (iii) the mutual written agreement of the Major 
Shareholders and Parent.  

Governing Law 

The undertakings will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Israel without giving 
effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule that would cause the application of the laws of any other 
jurisdiction. 

Recommendation of the Board and its Reasons for the Merger 
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After careful consideration, the Board of Directors has determined that the Merger and all other transactions 
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including, without limitation (a) Merger Sub (as the target company (Chevrat 
Ha'Ya'ad) in the Merger) shall be merged with and into the Company (as the absorbing company (Hachevra 
Ha'koletet) in the Merger), the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company shall continue as the 
Surviving Company, (b) all the properties, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub 
shall vest in the surviving company, (c) all debts, liabilities and duties of the Company and Merger Sub shall become 
the debts, liabilities and duties of the surviving company, and (d) all the rights, privileges, immunities, powers and 
franchises of the Company (as the surviving company) shall continue unaffected by the Merger in accordance with 
the Companies Law; (e)  the cancellation of each Preference Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the 
Effective Time (other than Preference Shares in the Company’s Treasury) and their automatic conversion into the 
right to receive the Preference Share Closing Consideration Per Share in cash,  (f) the cancellation of each Ordinary 
Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Ordinary Shares in the Company’s 
Treasury) and their automatic conversion into the right to receive the Ordinary Share Closing Consideration Per Share 
in cash, (g) the resignation of all directors and appointment of the current directors of the Merger Sub, and (f) each 
Ordinary Share of par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of Merger Sub converting into one validly issued, 
fully paid and non-assessable Ordinary Share par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of the surviving 
company and such Ordinary Shares constituting the only outstanding share capital of the surviving company, all 
subject to the terms and conditions in the Merger Agreement, are in the best interests of the Company. Accordingly, 
the Board of Directors has approved the Merger Agreement.  

Reasons for the Merger 

Our Board of Directors evaluated the terms of the merger proposal, including the conditions of the merger Agreement, 
and unanimously (i) determined that the Merger Agreement, the Merger and other transactions contemplated by the 
Merger Agreement are fair to and in the best interests of the Company and our shareholders; (ii) approved the Merger 
Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;  (iii) determined that no 
reasonable concern exists that as a result of the Merger we , as the surviving company in Merger, will be unable to 
fulfill our obligations to our creditors; (iv) directed management to call a General Meeting of shareholders and to  take 
other actions as are necessary to complete the Merger and (v) resolved to recommend that our shareholders approve 
the Merger Agreement, the Merger and the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement.  The Board believes 
that the Merger will provide substantial benefits to our business and operations. In reaching its determination to 
approve the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, and to recommend that our shareholders 
approve the proposal regarding the approval of the Merger Agreement and all related transactions pursuant thereto, 
our Board of Directors identified several potential benefits for the Company and for our shareholders.   

Company Shareholder Meeting 

Under the Companies Law, we and the Merger Sub may not complete the Merger without first making the following 
filings and notifications to the Israeli Companies Registrar: 

 Merger Proposal:  We and the Merger Sub are required to each file with the Israeli Companies Registrar a 
"merger proposal" setting forth specified details with respect to the Merger within three days so calling the 
respective shareholders meeting to approve the Merger.  Under the Companies Law, at least 50 days must 
pass from the date of filing of the merger proposal by both merging companies with the Israeli Companies 
Registrar before the Merger can become effective. 
 

 Notice to Creditors:  In addition, each of us and the Merger Sub is required to notify its creditors of the 
proposed Merger.  Pursuant to the Companies Law, a copy of the merger proposal must be sent to the secured 
creditors of each company within 3 days after the merger proposal is filed with the Israeli Companies 
Registrar, and within 4 business days of such filing, known substantial creditors must be informed 
individually by registered mail of such filing and where the merger proposal can be reviewed.  Non-secured 
creditors must be informed of the merger proposal by the publication in two daily Hebrew newspapers 
circulated in Israel on the day the merger proposal is filed with the Israeli Companies Registrar and, where 
necessary, elsewhere, and by making the merger proposal available for review. In addition, pursuant to the 
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Companies Law, because we employ more than 50 employees, we must post a copy of publication placed in 
the newspaper in a prominent location within three business days after the merger proposal was filed with 
the Israeli Companies Registrar.  We will satisfy such requirement by posting a copy of the publication in a 
prominent location in our office in Dallas, Texas.  
 

 Shareholder approval notice: After the General Meeting, and assuming the approval of the Merger thereat by 
the Company shareholders, the Company must file a notice with the Israeli Companies Registrar regarding 
the vote of shareholders. The sole shareholder of the Merger Sub has approved the Merger and Merger Sub 
shall have filed a notice with the Israeli Companies Register regarding the vote of the shareholder of the 
Merger Sub.  At least 30 days must pass from the date of the General Meeting before the Merger can become 
effective.   
 

 No later than the closing date of the Merger (assuming that the shareholders of the Company approve the 
Merger Agreement and the Merger and that all other conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement have been 
satisfied or waived (if permissible under applicable law), each of us and Merger Sub will notify the Israeli 
Companies Registrar that all of the conditions to the closing have been met and request that the Israeli 
Companies Registrar issue a certificated evidencing the completion of the Merger in accordance with the 
Companies Law.  Assuming all statutory procedures and requirements have been complied with, the Merger 
will then become effective and the Israeli Companies Registrar will be required to register the Merger in the 
surviving companies register and to issue to the surviving company a certificate regarding the Merger. 

Vote Required  

In determining whether a majority has approved the merger, shares held by the other party to the merger or any person 
holding at least 25% of the other party to the merger are excluded from the vote. The Companies Law does not require 
court approval of a merger other than in specified situations. Upon the request of a creditor of either party to the 
proposed merger, the court may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there exists a reasonable concern that 
as a result of the merger, the surviving company will be unable to satisfy the obligations of any of the parties to the 
merger.  

The affirmative vote of seventy five percent of the holders of the voting power represented at the Meeting in person, 
by proxy or by voting instruction card will be required to approve the Merger and all other transactions contemplated 
by the Merger Agreement, including, without limitation (a) the cancellation of each Preference Share issued and 
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Preference Shares in the Company’s Treasury) and 
their automatic conversion into the right to receive the Preference Share Closing Consideration Per Share in cash,  (b) 
the cancellation of each Ordinary Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than 
Ordinary Shares in the Company’s Treasury) and their automatic conversion into the right to receive the Ordinary 
Share Closing Consideration Per Share in cash, and (c) the resignation of all directors and appointment of the current 
directors of the Merger Sub; and (d) each Ordinary Share of par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of Merger 
Sub converting into one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable Ordinary Share par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 
0.01) per share of the surviving company and such Ordinary Shares constituting the only outstanding share capital of 
the surviving company, all subject to the terms and conditions in the Merger Agreement. 

In addition, the affirmative vote of seventy five percent (75%)  of the holders of the voting power represented at a 
class meeting of the holders of Preference Shares (“Preference Shares Class Meeting”) and the affirmative vote of the 
holders of at least a  seventy five percent (75%) of the voting power represented at a class meeting of the holders of 
Ordinary Shares (“Ordinary Shares Class Meeting”) (each, a “Class Meeting”, and together, the “Class Meetings”), 
in person, by proxy or by voting instruction card will be required to approve the Merger and all other transactions 
contemplated by the merger agreement, including, without limitation (a) the cancellation of each Preference Share 
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Preference Shares in the Company’s 
Treasury) and their automatic conversion into the right to receive the Preference Share Closing Consideration Per 
Share in cash,  (b) the cancellation of each Ordinary Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective 
Time (other than Ordinary Shares in the Company’s Treasury) and their automatic conversion into the right to receive 
the Ordinary Share Closing Consideration Per Share in cash, and (c) the resignation of all directors and appointment 
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of the current directors of the Merger Sub; and (d) each Ordinary Share of par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per 
share of Merger Sub converting into one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable Ordinary Share par value one 
Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of the surviving company and such Ordinary Shares constituting the only 
outstanding share capital of the surviving company, all subject to the terms and conditions in the Merger Agreement. 

Each shareholder who wishes to vote, whether attending the Meeting in person, by proxy or by voting instruction card, 
are required to notify the Company prior to voting, or if the shareholders votes by proxy or voting instruction card, 
then on the proxy or the voting instruction card, whether or not their shares are beneficially owned by Merger-Sub or 
Parent, or whether he or the person for whose benefit they hold the shares, holds 25% or more of any Means of Control. 
Should a shareholder not notify the Company accordingly, then he shall not vote and his vote shall not be counted.  

It is proposed that at the Meeting and at each Class Meeting, the following resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVED, (a) to approve the merger proposal, including the approval of (i) the Merger Agreement; (i) the 
Merger, pursuant to Sections 314-327 of the Companies Law, of the Company with Merger-Sub, an Israeli 
company and the wholly  owned subsidiary of Parent; including without limitations: (a) the cancellation of each 
Preference Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Preference Shares 
in the Company’s Treasury) and their automatic conversion into the right to receive the Preference Share 
Closing Consideration Per Share in cash, (b) the cancellation of each Ordinary Share issued and outstanding 
immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Ordinary Shares in the Company’s Treasury) and their 
automatic conversion into the right to receive the Ordinary Share Closing Consideration Per Share in cash, (c) 
the resignation of all directors and appointment of the current directors of the Merger Sub, and (d) each 
Ordinary Share of par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of Merger Sub converting into one validly 
issued, fully paid and non-assessable Ordinary Share par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share of the 
surviving company and such Ordinary Shares constituting the only outstanding share capital of the surviving 
company, all subject to the terms and conditions in the Merger Agreement, and (iv) all other the transactions 
and arrangements  contemplated by the Merger |Agreement, and (b) that the Merger Proposal is in the best 
interest of the Company and its shareholders (all capitalized terms as defined in the Proxy Statement),”  

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 
A VOTE IN FAVOR OF PROPOSAL NO. 1. 
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PROPOSAL NO. 2 
 

PURCHASE OF TAIL DIRECTOR AND OFFICER LIABILITY INSURANCE 

Background 

Under the Companies Law, a company may insure an officer (a director, chief executive officer, chief business 
manager, deputy general manager, vice general manager, other manager directly reporting to the general manager, or 
any other person performing the functions thereof (other than the position of a director), without regard to such 
person’s title) against the following liabilities incurred for acts performed by him or her as an officer if and to the 
extent provided for in the company's articles of association: 

 
 a breach of the duty of loyalty to the company, provided that the officer acted in good faith and had a 

reasonable basis to believe that the act would not harm the company; 
 a breach of duty of care to the company or to a third party, to the extent such a breach arises out of the 

negligent conduct of the officer; and 
 a financial liability imposed on the officer in favor of a third party. 

 
Under the Companies Law, a company may not insure (or indemnify or exculpate) an officer against any of the 
following: 

 a breach of the duty of loyalty, except for indemnification and insurance for a breach of the duty of 
loyalty to the company to the extent that the officer acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis to 
believe that the act would not harm the company; 

 a breach of duty of care committed intentionally or recklessly, excluding a breach arising solely out of 
the negligent conduct of the officer; 

 an act or omission committed with intent to derive illegal personal benefit; or 
 a fine, civil fine, monetary sanction or forfeit levied against the officer. 

 
Our articles of association allow us to insure our office holders to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

 
Our existing directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy (“D&O” Insurance Policy”) covers our directors and 
officers for liability of up to $10,000,000, at an annual premium of approximately $73,150. This policy expires on 
June 30, 2019.  

The purpose of the insurance that we provide to our directors and officers is to ensure that they are provided with 
adequate financial protection against inordinate risks of claims and actions against them arising out of their service to, 
and activities on behalf of, our Company. 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Parent has agreed to cause the surviving company to maintain (or cause to be 
maintained), in effect for a period of six years following the Closing, either (i) the current policy of directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance maintained by the Company (provided, that the surviving company may substitute therefor 
policies of at least the same coverage and amounts containing terms and conditions which are no less advantageous in 
any material respect to the insured parties thereunder) with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred 
at or before the closing of the Merger or (ii) a run off (i.e. “tail”) policy or endorsement with respect to the current 
policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance covering claims asserted within six years after the closing arising 
from facts or events that occurred at or before the closing of the Merger. Such policies or endorsements shall name as 
insureds thereunder all present and former directors and officers of the Company and the surviving company.  

Because we are currently party to the Merger Agreement and require shareholder approval for, and are attempting to 
fulfill all conditions for, the Merger, there is an increased risk of litigation and other claims being asserted against our 
directors and officers in respect of the Merger and the pre-Merger period, even after the actual consummation of the 
Merger. We value the contributions of our current officers and directors, and we believe that it is the best interest of 
our company and our shareholders that they continue to serve until the Effective Time of the Merger (assuming that 
the Merger is consummated). In order to encourage them to do so, we believe that it is necessary to continue the 
insurance coverage for all claims that arise against them in respect of all periods prior to the Merger for an additional 



 
201334934 v8  

six years following the Effective Time. By doing so, we will assure them that they will be adequately protected - even 
against claims that may not be asserted against them until a significant period of time has elapsed following the Merger. 

In order to secure our directors’ and officers’ entitlement to insurance, our company intends to purchase a six-year 
“tail” policy in respect of our directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy, at the current, pre-Merger coverage 
level of up to $10,000 million, at a premium equal to $171,902.  

Each of the Compensation Committee and the Board have and to the extent required shall approve and ratify our 
obtaining the subject “tail” policy, subject to consummation of the Merger. Under the Companies Law, because the 
subject policy will cover some of our directors among our other office holders (as defined in the Companies Law), in 
order to obtain the policy, we require the approval of our shareholders as well.  While our compensation policy 
provides for the issuance of D&O insurance, to err on the side of caution, and to the extent the tail insurance is not 
included, and for all of the reasons mentioned in this proposal above, a special majority of the shareholders is being 
requested for this vote.  

“RESOLVED, that subject to and effective upon the consummation of the Merger, the Company's purchase, 
of a “tail” insurance policy for its officers and directors that will provide coverage to the same persons and on 
the same terms with respect to coverage and amount as under the current D&O Insurance Policy, until the 
sixth anniversary of the effective time of the Merger, at a premium not to exceed 250% of the annual premium 
of the D&O Insurance Policy and hereby is, approved in all respects.” 

 
VOTE REQUIRED AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION 

The affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power represented at the Meeting in person, by 
proxy or by voting instruction card will be required to approve the resolution,  provided that (i) the shares voting in 
favor of such resolution include at least the majority of the shares voted by shareholders who are not “controlling 
shareholders” and who do not have a personal interest; or (ii) the total number of shares voted against the resolution by 
shareholders who are not controlling shareholders and who do not have a personal interest does not exceed two percent of 
the Company’s outstanding shares.   

  

 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 
A VOTE IN FAVOR OF PROPOSAL NO. 2. 
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PROPOSAL NO. 3 
 

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, the number of members of the Board of Directors shall be as determined 
by the Board of Directors and shall not be less than three (3) and not more than six (6). The Board of Directors has 
currently resolved that the number of its members shall be set at four members. 

There are two nominees for director this year. Each director, except for outside directors, holds office until the earlier 
of the next annual general meeting of shareholders, when, subject to any law, such director may be reappointed for an 
additional term of service, and the lawful termination of their office or their resignation. Each of the nominees listed 
below is currently a director of the Company who was previously elected by the shareholders. It is the Company’s 
policy to invite nominees for directors to attend the annuals meetings.  

Pursuant to our Articles of Association, directors are elected at a general meeting of our shareholders by a vote of the 
holders of a majority of the voting power represented at the meeting. Additional directors may be elected between 
general meetings by a majority of our directors. Accordingly, each nominee that receives a majority of affirmative 
votes will be elected. If any one or more nominees becomes unable or unwilling to serve the proxies will be voted for 
the election of such other person or persons as shall be determined by the persons named in the proxy in accordance 
with their best judgment. Each person nominated for election has agreed to serve if elected. The Company’s 
management has no reason to believe that any nominee will be unable to serve. 

Scott Miller and Syver Norderhaug,, subject to approval of this Proposal No. 3, shall hold office until the next annual 
general meeting of shareholders and until his or her successor shall have duly taken office, unless his office is earlier 
vacated under any relevant provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association or other applicable law. 

NOMINEES FOR ELECTION 

The following two nominees, who currently serve as directors of the Company, have advised the Company that they 
will agree to continue to serve as directors if appointed. Relevant information on each of the nominees, including their 
principal occupation during at least the past five years, is provided below. 

Scott Miller. Mr. Miller has served as a director since December 2014 and Chairman of our Board of Directors since 
March 2015. In November 2015, Mr. Miller was appointed as Chairman. Mr. Miller served as Chief Executive Officer 
and President of Sophisticated Business Systems, Inc. d/b/a Ateras from December 2005 to December 2014, when 
Ateras merged with BluePhoenix to form Modern Systems. Mr. Miller began his career in electronics while serving 
in the Air Force. We believe Mr. Miller is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors because of his leadership roles 
with other technology companies and his vast knowledge about automated legacy migration and modernization 
solutions. 

Syver Norderhaug.  Mr. Norderhaug has served as Chief Financial Officer of Finch LLC since 2007. Mr. Norderhaug 
served as Chief Financial Officer of Steele Oceanic Corporation (Steele Resources Corporation) until April 3, 2013. 
Mr. Norderhaug has been a Director of ModSys International Ltd. since February 8, 2017. Mr. Norderhaug previously 
served as a Director of Steele Oceanic Corporation (Steele Resources Group) from 2012 to 2013. Mr. Norderhaug has 
a Masters of Business Administration in International Business from the American Graduate School of International 
Management, Glendale, Arizona and a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from the University of 
Wyoming. Mr. Norderhaug is also a Certified Public Accountant in Texas. We believe Mr. Norderhaug is qualified to 
serve on our Board of Directors because of his experience in financial and other leadership roles. 

As described in Proposal 1, it is a condition of the Merger that prior to the Effective Time of the Merger, each director 
of the Company shall cease to serve as a director at the effective time of the Merger.  Accordingly, it is expected that 
each of the directors of the Company reelected at the General Meeting, shall cease serving as a director of the Company 
as of the effective time of the Merger. 

It is proposed that at the Meeting, the following resolutions be adopted: 
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“RESOLVED, that Scott Miller and Syver Norderhaug,  be, and hereby are, reelected to serve as members of the 
Board of Directors of the Company until the earlier of the next annual general meeting and the lawful 
termination of their office or their resignation.” 

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares voting on the matter is required to approve such resolution where the 
election of each director candidate shall be voted separately. 

NOMINEE FOR ELECTION 

 
Please note that you are required to indicate on the proxy card whether or not you are a controlling shareholder 
of the Company, or acting on its behalf, with respect to this proposal, no matter whether you vote for or against 
this proposal. If you fail to notify us as to whether or not you are a controlling shareholder of the Company (as 
defined above) or acting on its behalf with respect to this proposal, your vote will not be counted with respect 
to this proposal. 

 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 
A VOTE IN FAVOR OF EACH NAMED NOMINEE. 
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PROPOSAL 4 
ELECTION OF OUTSIDE DIRECTOR 

 
Under the Companies Law, companies incorporated under the laws of Israel whose shares have been offered to the 
public in or outside of Israel, are required to appoint at least two outside directors. 
 
In accordance with the Companies Law, the determination of the board should be based on, among other things, the 
type of the company, its size, the volume and complexity of its activities and the total number of directors serving on 
the board. Based on the aforementioned considerations, our Board of Directors determined that the number of directors 
with financial and accounting expertise in our company shall not be less than two.  
 
Pursuant to the Companies Law, all outside directors must have financial and accounting expertise or professional 
qualifications, and at least one outside director must have financial and accounting expertise. The terms “financial and 
accounting expertise” and “professional qualifications” have been defined in regulations promulgated under the 
Companies Law. The Board has determined that Carla Corkern meets the criteria for having financial and accounting 
expertise and professional qualifications, both as defined in the Companies Law and the regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 
 
Carla Corkern is being nominated as an outside director at the Meeting in accordance with the Companies Law.  In 
addition, Barry Goodman will continue to serve as an outside director after the meeting.  

Relevant information on Ms. Corkern and Mr. Goodman, are provided below.  

Carla Corkern has served as one of the Company’s outside directors as well as a member of the Company’s Audit 
Committee and Compensation Committee since April 2013. Ms. Corkern previously served as Chief Executive Officer 
and Chairman of the Board of Talyst, Inc. from 2008 to 2017. During 2006 and 2007, she served as President of 
Extended Care at Talyst, Inc. and thereafter, until 2008, she served as Chief Operating Officer. Between 2004 and 
2006, Ms. Corkern served as Vice President of Engineering and Chief Operations Officer at Vykor, Inc. During 2004, 
Ms. Corkern acted as principal of Cosmochan Consulting. In 2001 and 2002, she served as Vice President and General 
Manager of Netegrity, and from 1999 to 2001, she served as Vice President, Professional Services and Training at 
DataChannel Inc. Ms. Corkern was the President and founder of Isogen International, until its sale to DataChannel 
Inc. in 1999. Ms. Corkern holds a BS in Technical Communication from Louisiana Tech University. We believe Ms. 
Corkern is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors because of her executive leadership experience and extensive 
working knowledge of information systems and process management.  

 
Barry Goodman has served as one of the Company’s outside directors as well as a member of the Company’s Audit 
Committee and Compensation Committee since December 2017. Mr. Goodman is a founder and partner with SVA 
Value Accelerators LLC formerly known as Birkdale Transition Partners LLC since September 2014.  Prior to that he 
was a Partner in a local Chicago CPA firm and his own firm for over 35 years.  He retired from his firm in 2014 to 
focus his time and expertise in working with families in business and closely held business to accelerate value and 
become ready for what is next.  He has written several articles, an eBook and speaks regularly to various organizations 
and business groups on Value Acceleration and Transition Readiness of family and closely held businesses. He has a 
degree from Northern Illinois University and is a Certified Public Accountant in Illinois as well as a Certified Exit 
Planning Advisor (CEPA) and a Certified Merger & Acquisition Advisor (CMAA).  We believe Mr. Goodman is 
qualified to serve as an Outside Director because of his consulting and business experience with closely held 
businesses and his knowledge of the technology industry. 

 
Pursuant to the Companies Law, all outside directors must have financial and accounting expertise or professional 
qualifications, and at least one outside director must have financial and accounting expertise. The terms “financial and 
accounting expertise” and “professional qualifications” have been defined in regulations promulgated under the 
Companies Law. The Board of Directors has determined that both Ms. Corkern and Mr. Goodman  meets the criteria 
for having financial and accounting expertise and professional qualifications, both as defined in the Companies Law 
and the regulations promulgated thereunder.  
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In accordance with the Companies Law, the nominees, as Outside Directors, shall serve a term of 3 years unless their 
tenure is terminated legally prior to that time.  

As described in Proposal 1, it is a condition of the Merger that prior to the Effective Time of the Merger, each director 
of the Company shall cease to serve as a director at the effective time of the Merger.  Accordingly, it is expected that 
each of the outside directors of the Company reelected at the General Meeting, shall cease serving as a director of the 
Company as of the effective time of the Merger. 

“RESOLVED, that Carla Corkern be, and hereby is, elected to serve as an Outside Director of the Company until 
the earlier of three years from the date hereof or the lawful termination of their office or their resignation.” 

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares voting on the matter is required to approve such resolution where the 
election of each director candidate shall be voted separately, provided that (i) the shares voting in favor of such 
resolution include at least the majority of the shares voted by shareholders who are not “controlling shareholders” (as 
defined below) and who do not have a personal interest other than interests that do not stem from connections with 
controlling shareholders; or (ii) the total number of shares voted against the resolution by shareholders who are not 
controlling shareholders and personal interest does not exceed two percent of the Company’s outstanding shares. 

A “controlling shareholder” under the Companies Law is defined as a shareholder who has the ability to direct the 
activity of a company, except for an ability that stems from the fulfillment of his or her duty as a director or as a holder 
of any other position at the company. 

NOMINEE FOR ELECTION 
Please note that you are required to indicate on the proxy card whether or not you are a controlling shareholder 
of the Company, or acting on its behalf, with respect to this proposal, no matter whether you vote for or against 
this proposal. If you fail to notify us as to whether or not you are a controlling shareholder of the Company (as 
defined above) or acting on its behalf with respect to this proposal, your vote will not be counted with respect 
to this proposal. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 
A VOTE IN FAVOR OF EACH NAMED NOMINEE. 
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PROPOSAL NO. 5 
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

Under the Companies Law, the terms of compensation to directors of the Company, whether in their capacity as 
directors or otherwise, requires approval of the Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors and the shareholders 
by the affirmative vote of a majority of shares present at the meeting, in person, by proxy or by voting instruction 
card, and voting on the resolution.  

The shareholders previously approved the following compensation for its directors (other than Mr. Miller, who is not 
independent):   

(a)       Cash Compensation — an annual total compensation of $20,000 consisting of the annual payment, 
payable in quarterly installments; and 

(b)      RSUs Compensation — 30,000 restricted stock units (RSUs) to be granted to each director upon his or 
her initial appointment to the Board of Directors (and every three years thereafter).  The RSUs were to vest over a 36 
month period.  

Outside directors were also entitled to the same compensation as set forth above.   

In 2017, we discontinued the practice of issuing RSUs to our directors and outside directors as a result of the 
termination of our equity incentive plan and our decision to delist our shares from Nasdaq and to deregister under the 
U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. However, the Director’s Compensation Plan was not updated to 
eliminate the RSU obligation. Therefore, this obligation continues with no means of fulfilling the commitment. 

Following such time, the members of the board were paid the annual cash compensation, yet were not paid any RSU 
compensation.   

As a result, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors determined, as a means to satisfy the obligation for 
the RSU compensation, it was appropriate to approve of an additional, one-time payment for each director where 
RSUs were committed but not granted.   

For Syver Norderhaug, the vested number of months of service is 27, which would have resulted in RSUs for 22,500 
ordinary shares.  Using the merger consideration per ordinary share of $0.99, the Board approved a one-time payment 
to settle the RSU obligation equal to $22,275.  

While this proposal is not consistent with the Company’s Compensation Policy, the Compensation Committee and 
the Board recommend the approval of this resolution.  The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares voting on the 
matter is required to approve such resolution where the approval of the director compensation, provided that (i) the 
shares voting in favor of such resolution include at least the majority of the shares voted by shareholders who are not 
“controlling shareholders” and who do not have a personal interest; or (ii) the total number of shares voted against the 
resolution by shareholders who are not controlling shareholders and personal interest does not exceed two percent of 
the Company’s outstanding shares. 

It is proposed that at the Meeting, the following resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVE to approve the compensation terms for Syver Norderhaug, a director of the Company, on the terms 
provided for in the Proxy Statement for the Meeting.” 

 

Please note that you are required to indicate on the proxy card whether or not you are a controlling shareholder of the 
Company, or acting on its behalf, or whether you are considered an interested party with respect to this proposal, no 
matter whether you vote for or against this proposal. If you fail to notify us as to whether or not you are a controlling 
shareholder of the Company or acting on its behalf with respect to this Proposal No. 5, your vote will not be counted 
with respect to Proposal No. 5. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 
A VOTE IN FAVOR OF THE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION.  
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PROPOSAL NO. 6 
OUTSIDE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION  

As described in Proposal No. 5, under the Companies Law, the terms of compensation to directors of the Company, 
whether in their capacity as directors or otherwise, requires approval of the Compensation Committee, the Board of 
Directors and the shareholders by the affirmative vote of a majority of shares present at the meeting, in person, by 
proxy or by voting instruction card, and voting on the resolution.  

As described in Proposal No. 5 the shareholders previously approved the following compensation for its directors 
(other than Mr. Miller, who is not independent):   

(a)       Cash Compensation — an annual total compensation of $20,000 consisting of the annual payment, 
payable in quarterly installments; and 

(b)      RSUs Compensation — 30,000 restricted stock units (RSUs) to be granted to each director upon his or 
her initial appointment to the Board of Directors (and every three years thereafter).  The RSUs were to vest over a 36 
month period.  

Outside directors were also entitled to the same compensation as set forth above.   

In 2017, we discontinued the practice of issuing RSUs to our directors and outside directors as a result of the 
termination of our equity incentive plan and our decision to delist our shares from Nasdaq and to deregister under the 
U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. However, the Director’s Compensation Plan was not updated to 
eliminate the RSU obligation. Therefore, this obligation continues with no means of fulfilling the commitment. 

Following such time, the members of the board were paid the annual cash compensation, yet were not paid any RSU 
compensation.   

As a result, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors determined, as a means to satisfy the obligation for 
the RSU compensation, it was appropriate to approve of an additional one-time payment for each director where RSUs 
were committed but not granted.   

For outside director Carla Corkern, the vested number of months of service is 73, which would have resulted in RSUs 
for 60,833 ordinary shares. Ms. Corkern received RSUs prior to the termination of policy for 29,850 shares resulting 
in an obligation of 30,983 ordinary shares.  Using the merger consideration per ordinary share of $0.99, the Board 
approved a one-time payment to settle the RSU obligation equal to $30,673.17. 

For outside director Barry Goodman, the vested number of months of service is 17, which would have resulted in 
RSUs for 14,167 ordinary shares.  Using the merger consideration per ordinary share of $0.99, the Board approved a 
one-time payment to settle the RSU obligation equal to $14,025.33. 

While this proposal is not consistent with the Company’s Compensation Policy, the Compensation Committee and 
the Board recommend the approval of this resolution.  The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares voting on the 
matter is required to approve such resolution where the approval of the director compensation, provided that (i) the 
shares voting in favor of such resolution include at least the majority of the shares voted by shareholders who are not 
“controlling shareholders” and who do not have a personal interest; or (ii) the total number of shares voted against the 
resolution by shareholders who are not controlling shareholders and personal interest does not exceed two percent of 
the Company’s outstanding shares. 

It is proposed that at the Meeting, the following resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVE to approve the compensation terms for Carla Corkern and Barry Goodman, Outside Directors of 
the Company, on the terms provided for in the Proxy Statement for the Meeting.” 

 

Please note that you are required to indicate on the proxy card whether or not you are a controlling shareholder of the 
Company, or acting on its behalf, or whether you are considered an interested party with respect to this proposal, no 
matter whether you vote for or against this proposal. If you fail to notify us as to whether or not you are a controlling 
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shareholder of the Company or acting on its behalf with respect to this Proposal No. 6, your vote will not be counted 
with respect to Proposal No. 6. 

 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 
A VOTE IN FAVOR OF THE OUTSIDE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION. 
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PROPOSAL NO. 7 
CEO COMPENSATION 

 
Background 

The board of directors noted that Brandon Edenfield, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, was previously 
promised stock options, the vesting of which was tied to the Company’s financial performance, as measured by 
EBITDA.  The terms of such compensation were previously approved by the shareholders of the Company.   

The Board of Directors never granted Mr. Edenfield the stock options and, in recognition of the achievement of the 
EBITDA targets, and in consideration of the termination of the Company’s equity incentive plan, the Compensation 
Committee and the Board of Directors determined to provide to Mr. Edenfield the grant of ordinary shares and related 
tax gross up payments to provide a similar economic value to Mr. Edenfield, after considering that these terms were 
consistent with the Company’s compensation policy and did not materially change the previous terms approved by 
the shareholders, all with the intent of providing compensation consistent with the market and creating appropriate 
incentives for the Company’s management.   

Our Board of Directors, following the approval of our Compensation Committee, approved the issuance to Mr. 
Edenfield of 681,905 shares on December 31, 2018.  In such context, and following the approvals of the Compensation 
Committee and the board of directors, Mr. Edenfield was also awarded a cash bonus in 2018 equal to $284,000 to 
account for a portion of the withholding taxes that were due and payable as a result of the receipt of the grant of 
ordinary shares, and an additional cash bonus in 2019 equal to $297,619.05 to account for taxes and gross-up 
payments.  

The payment of compensation to the CEO who is considered an “office holder” of our company, as defined in the 
Companies Law, is subject to the terms of our Compensation Policy, which was adopted by our shareholders at a 
special general meeting of shareholders held in 2017. Our Compensation Policy, in its current form, allows for the 
annual cash bonuses and also allows for share-based compensation, which can include the grant of ordinary shares.  
The value of share-based compensation cannot exceed US$1,000,000 per officer.  The grant of ordinary shares 
described above was under the limit imposed by our Compensation Policy.  Further, as described above, the grant of 
ordinary shares and related tax gross up payments to provide a similar economic value to Mr. Edenfield of the stock 
options that were previously approved by the shareholders of the Company.  Mr. Edenfield was not granted and will 
not be granted such stock options.  For the sake of caution, the Board is also bringing this vote before the shareholders 
as well.  

Proposed Resolution 

It is proposed that at the Meeting, the following resolution be adopted: 

“RESOLVED, that the issuance of 681,905 ordinary shares to Mr. Edenfield and the payment of cash bonuses 
in the aggregate amount of $581,619.05 be approved and ratified in all respects.” 
 

Required Majority 

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares voting on the matter is required to approve such resolution where the 
approval of the director compensation, provided that (i) the shares voting in favor of such resolution include at least 
the majority of the shares voted by shareholders who are not “controlling shareholders” and who do not have a personal 
interest; or (ii) the total number of shares voted against the resolution by shareholders who are not controlling 
shareholders and personal interest does not exceed two percent of the Company’s outstanding shares. 

 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 

A VOTE IN FAVOR OF THE CEO COMPENSATION. 
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PROPOSAL NO. 8 
 

RE-APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 

Based upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee and subject to any confirmation thereby, the Board of 
Directors recommends that BDO Ziv Haft, an independent registered public accounting firm and BDO member firm, 
be reappointed as our independent registered public accounting auditor firm for the period ending on the date of the 
next annual general meeting of shareholders and has further directed that management submit the selection of its 
independent registered public auditor firm for appointment by the shareholders at the Meeting. BDO Ziv Haft has served 
as the Company’s independent auditor since 1993. Representatives of BDO Ziv Haft are expected to be available for 
the Meeting. They will have an opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and will be available to respond to 
appropriate questions. 

BDO Ziv Haft has no relationship with the Company or with any affiliate of the Company except as an auditor and, 
to a limited extent, as consultants. The Board of Directors and the Audit Committee believe that such limited non-
audit function does not affect the independence of BDO Ziv Haft. 

At the general Meeting, shareholders will also be asked to authorize the Audit Committee (subject to ratification of 
the Board of Directors) to fix the remuneration of BDO Ziv Haft in accordance with the volume and nature of their 
services. 

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

The following table represents aggregate fees billed to the Company for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 
December 31, 2018 by BDO Ziv Haft, our principal accountant. 

    Year Ended 

    2017   2018 (estimates) 

    (in thousands) 

Audit Fees   $ 42  $ 42

Tax Fees    18   18

Total Fees   $ 60  $ 60

Tax fees are for services related to tax compliance, including the preparation of tax returns and claims for refund, and 
tax planning and tax advice, including assistance with tax audits and appeals, and assistance with respect to requests 
for rulings from tax authorities. 

VOTE REQUIRED AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION 

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented at the Meeting in person, by proxy 
or by voting instruction card will be required to appoint BDO Ziv Haft. 

“RESOLVED, to approve and ratify the re-appointment of BDO Ziv Haft as our independent auditor for the 
periods until the date of our next annual general meeting of shareholders and that the Audit Committee (subject 
to ratification by the Board of Directors) be and hereby is, authorized to fix the remuneration of such 
independent registered public accountants in accordance with the volume and nature of their services.” 

 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS 
A VOTE IN FAVOR OF THE RE-APPOINTMENT OF BDO ZIV HAFT AS AUDITOR OF THE COMPANY. 
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RECEIPT AND CONSIDERATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

  
Our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 are attached hereto and available on the 
Company’s website at https://modernsystems.com/about-us/investor-info. The information provided on the Company 
website is not part of this Proxy Statement, and therefore is not incorporated herein by reference.  A copy of the 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 are included in this Proxy Statement as Annex B. 

  
At the Annual Meeting, the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017 
and the Auditor’s Report in respect thereto will be presented and considered.  

VOTE REQUIRED AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATION 

This item does not involve a vote of the shareholders. 

OTHER MATTERS 

The Board of Directors knows of no other matters that will be presented for consideration at the Meeting. If any other 
matters are properly brought before the meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the accompanying proxy 
to vote on such matters in accordance with their best judgment. 

    By Order of the Board of Directors 
      
    /s/ Brandon Edenfield 

      
    Brandon Edenfield 
    Chief Executive Officer 

April 18, 2019 
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER 

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into 
as of ___ April 2019, by and among Transoft Group Limited, a company organized under the laws of 
England and Wales (“Parent”), Advanced Computer Software Group Limited (“Guarantor”), 
Atlantic Merger Sub Ltd, a company organized under the laws of the State of Israel and a 
wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), ModSys International Ltd, a company organized 
under the laws of the State of Israel (the “Company”).  All capitalized terms used in this Agreement 
shall have the respective meanings as defined herein or ascribed thereto in ARTICLE I. 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto intend to enter into a transaction whereby Merger Sub will 
merge with and into the Company (the “Merger”) on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth 
in this Agreement and in accordance with the provisions of Sections 314-327 of the Companies Law 
5759-1999 of the State of Israel (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the 
“ICL”), following which Merger Sub will cease to exist, and the Company will become a wholly 
owned Subsidiary of Parent, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company has: (i) determined that this Agreement, 
the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are fair to, and in the best 
interests of, the Company and its shareholders and that, considering the financial position of the 
merging companies, no reasonable concern exists that the Surviving Company will be unable to fulfill 
the obligations of the Company to its creditors as a result of the Merger; (ii) approved this Agreement, 
the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby; and (iii) determined to recommend that 
the shareholders of the Company approve this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions 
contemplated hereby (such recommendation to the shareholders, the “Company Board 
Recommendation”); 

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of Parent and Merger Sub have each approved this 
Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, and the Board of Directors of 
Merger Sub has further determined (i) that this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement are fair to, and in the best interests of, Merger Sub and its 
shareholders; (ii) that considering the financial position of the merging companies, no reasonable 
concern exists that the Surviving Company will be unable to fulfill the obligations of Merger Sub to 
its creditors as a result of the Merger; and (iii) to recommend that the shareholder of Merger Sub 
approves this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby;  

WHEREAS, each of Prescott Group Capital Management, Columbia Pacific Opportunity Fund, 
L.P. and Mindus Holdings (the “Major Shareholders”) have provided Parent with an undertaking
pursuant to which  such shareholder is subject to certain indemnification obligations in favour of
Parent (the “Unilateral Shareholder Undertaking”); and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the representations, 
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein, as well as other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and accepted, and 
intending to be legally bound hereby, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company hereby agree as follows: 

DEFINITIONS & INTERPRETATIONS 

 Certain Definitions.  For all purposes of and under this Agreement, the following 
capitalized terms shall have the following respective meanings: 
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 “Acquisition Proposal” shall mean any offer or proposal (other than an offer or proposal by 
Parent or Merger Sub) proposing or offering an Acquisition Transaction. 

“Acquisition Transaction” shall mean any transaction or series of related transactions (other 
than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) involving: (i) the purchase or other acquisition, 
including through any tender offer or exchange offer, by any Person, directly or indirectly, of more 
than twenty-five percent (25%) of the outstanding Company Shares; (ii) a merger, consolidation, 
business combination, scheme of arrangement, share exchange, reorganization, recapitalization, 
liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company and/or any of its Subsidiaries 
that, if consummated in accordance with its terms, would result in either (A) any Person beneficially 
owning, directly or indirectly, more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the outstanding Company 
Shares or more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the voting equity interests in the surviving or 
resulting entity of such transaction or (B) holders of the outstanding Company Shares immediately 
prior to such transaction owning less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the outstanding equity 
securities of the surviving or resulting entity of such transaction immediately thereafter; or (iii) any 
direct or indirect acquisition or purchase, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, 
including by means of the acquisition of capital stock of the Subsidiaries of the Company, of assets or 
properties that constitute more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the consolidated assets of the 
Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole (based on the fair market value thereof as reasonably 
determined in good faith by the Company Board). 

 “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any other Person which directly or 
indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such first Person. For purposes 
of the immediately preceding sentence, the term “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the 
terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to 
any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction 
of the management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by 
contract or otherwise.   

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all U.S. and non-U.S. laws, statutes, regulations, measures 
and orders relating to the prevention of bribery and corruption, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the UK Bribery Act 2010. 

“Antitrust Law” shall mean any Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or 
regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or significant 
impediments on or lessening of competition or the creation or strengthening of a dominant position 
through mergers or acquisitions, in any case that are applicable to the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement. 

 “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Friday, Saturday, Sunday or other day on 
which the commercial banks in London (United Kingdom), San Francisco (United States) and Israel 
are authorized or required by Law or executive order to be closed. 

“Business IT” shall mean all Information Technology which is owned or used by the 
Company and its Subsidiaries. 

“Buyer Restricted Period” means the period commencing with the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and continuing until the earlier to occur of the termination of this Agreement pursuant 
to ARTICLE VII and the Effective Time. 

“Cap Table” shall mean the capitalization table of the Company as set out in Exhibit A. 

“Company Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company. 
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 “Company Material Adverse Effect” shall mean any change, effect, event, fact or 
circumstance (each a “Change”, and collectively, “Changes”) that, individually or in the aggregate, 
has a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the 
Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or on the ability of the Company to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated here; provided, 
however, that, no Change resulting from or arising out of any of the following shall be deemed to be 
or constitute, or shall be taken into account in determining whether there is, a “Company Material 
Adverse Effect”: any event (i) resulting from general economic, political, financial, banking, credit or 
securities market conditions, including any disruption thereof and any interest or exchange rate 
fluctuations, or (ii) affecting companies in the industries, markets or geographical areas in which the 
Company conducts its business generally, or (iii) resulting from natural disasters, acts of terrorism, 
hostilities or war (whether or not declared), or epidemics or pandemics, or (iv) resulting from the 
announcement or performance of, or compliance with, or the public or industry knowledge of, this 
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, including any disruption of customer or supplier 
relationships, the cancellation or termination of any Material Contract or the resignation of any Key 
Employee; or (v) resulting from any actions required under this Agreement, including with respect to 
obtaining any consent required under this Agreement, or (vi) arising out of any action taken or 
omitted to be taken at the written request or with the written consent of the other party hereto, or (vii) 
any failure to meet any internal or public projections, forecasts, guidance, estimates, milestones, 
budgets or internal or published financial or operating predictions or revenue, earnings, cash flow or 
cash position provided, that the exclusions provided in clauses (i)-(ii) shall not apply to the extent the 
Company is disproportionately adversely affected by any event relative to other participants in the 
industries in which the Company generally operates. 

“Company Shareholder Approval” shall mean the approval of this Agreement, including 
the Merger and all other transactions contemplated herein, by: (i) the holders of at least 75% of all 
classes of the outstanding Company Shares, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis, 
and (ii) the holders of at least 75% of each class of the outstanding Company Shares, voting as a 
separate class, in each case, present (in person or by proxy) and voted on the matter (excluding any 
absentee votes) at each such meeting duly called and held for such purpose, provided that, in each 
such case, at least half of the outstanding Company Shares or applicable class of the outstanding 
Company Shares, as the case may be, present (in person or by proxy) and voted on the matter 
(excluding any absentee votes) held by shareholders that are not Merger Sub, Parent or any person or 
entity holding 25% or more of any type of means of control of Merger Sub, or any person or entity 
acting on behalf of any of the foregoing, or any family member of, or entity controlled by, any of the 
foregoing, voted in favor of such approval.  

“Company Shareholders” shall mean the holders of the Company Shares;  

“Company Shares” shall mean the Ordinary Shares and the Preference Shares. 

“Company Warrants” shall mean warrants to purchase Ordinary Shares at a price of $0.01 
per share. 

“Confidentiality Agreement” shall mean the Confidentiality Agreement entered into by 
Advanced Computer Software Group Limited and the Company and dated April 2, 2018. 

“Contract” shall mean any contract, subcontract, agreement, commitment, note, bond, 
mortgage, indenture, lease or other legally binding instrument or arrangement. 

“Data Protection Legislation” means all applicable Laws in any jurisdiction (from time to 
time) relating to privacy or the processing or protection of personal data or personal information, 
including (without limitation) the General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679), 
the Data Protection Act 2018, the Data Protection Directive (95/46/EC), the Data Protection Act 1998, 
the e-Privacy Directive (2002/58/EC) and all guidance issued by any applicable Governmental 
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Authority, and including any predecessor, successor or implementing legislation of the foregoing, and 
any amendments or re-enactments of the foregoing. 

 “Disclosed” shall mean facts, matters or other information fairly disclosed, where ‘fairly’ 
means with sufficient detail to allow the Parent and Merger Sub to identify the nature and scope of the 
facts, matters or circumstances being disclosed. 

“Effective Time Holder” shall mean a Company Shareholder as of the Effective Time. 

“Employee Plan” shall mean each employee or non-employee individual service provider 
benefit plan, program, policy, practice, Contract or other arrangement providing for compensation, 
severance, pension arrangement, provident fund (Keren Hishtalmut), termination pay, deferred 
compensation, performance awards, stock or stock-related awards, options, fringe retirement, welfare, 
retention, change in control or other benefits or remuneration maintained by the Company or its 
Subsidiaries or to which the Company or its Subsidiaries contributes or could otherwise reasonably be 
expected to have any liability or is otherwise required to contribute to under applicable Law, in each 
case, as of the date hereof, for the benefit of current or former employees, in each case. 

“Escrow Agent” shall mean Intertrust (Netherlands) B.V.. 

“Escrow Agreement” shall mean that certain Escrow Agreement in the agreed form .  

“Exchange Act” shall mean the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

“Existing Debt Facility” shall mean that certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of 
October 2, 3013, by and among Comerica Bank and Modern Systems Corporation (formerly known 
as BluePhoenix Solutions USA, Inc., a Delaware corporation), as amended, restated, amended and 
restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time. 

 “Fundamental Representation and Warranties” shall mean those representations and 
warranties given by the Company pursuant to Section 3.1 to Section 3.3 and Section 3.5 (inclusive).  

“GAAP” shall mean Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States. 

“Governmental Authority” shall mean any government, any governmental or regulatory 
entity or body, department, commission, arbitrator or arbitral body (public or private) board, agency 
or instrumentality, and any court, tribunal or judicial body of competent jurisdiction, any stock 
exchange or similar self-regulatory organization, in each case whether federal, state, county, 
provincial, supranational and whether local or foreign. 

“Government Grant” shall mean any grant, incentive, qualification, subsidy, award, 
participation, exemption, status or other benefit from any Governmental Authority granted to, 
provided or made available to, or enjoyed by the Company, including by or on behalf of or under the 
authority of the IIA or the Ministry of Production in Italy.  

“IIA” shall mean the Israeli National Authority for Technological Innovation, formerly 
known as the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Ministry of Economy of the State of Israel. 

“IIA Notice” shall mean the written notice to the IIA regarding the change in ownership of 
the Company effected as a result of the Merger, required to be submitted to the IIA in connection with 
the Merger in accordance with the Israeli Encouragement of Industrial Research, Development and 
Innovation Law, 5744-1984, which shall be submitted by the Company at any time following the date 
hereof but not later than the Closing, subject to delivery by Parent of the IIA Undertaking.    

“IIA Undertaking” has the meaning given in Section 6.3(d). 
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 “Indebtedness” shall mean with respect to any Person at any date, without duplication: (i) all 
obligations of such Person for borrowed money or in respect of loans or advances, (ii) all obligations 
of such Person evidenced by bonds, notes or other similar instruments (including any seller notes, 
deferred purchase price obligations or earnout obligations issued or entered into in connection with 
any acquisition undertaken by such Person), (iii) all obligations in respect of letters of credit, to the 
extent drawn, and bankers’ acceptances issued for the account of such Person, (iv) all obligations and 
liabilities of such Person under leases required under GAAP to be capitalized, (v) all interest rate 
protection agreements of such Person (valued on a market quotation basis), if any, (vi) all obligations 
of such Person secured by a Lien, (vii) all obligations of such Person that are not characterized as 
current liabilities under GAAP, (viii) all guarantees of such Person in connection with any of the 
foregoing, (ix) all outstanding checks that will ultimately be funded through such Person’s line of 
credit or other borrowed money, (x) all Liabilities for Unfunded Provident Fund Obligations, (xi) any 
off-balance financing of a Person (but excluding operating leases), (xii) any liability of a Person under 
any deferred compensation plans or arrangements earned or accrued with respect to periods prior to 
the Closing together with the employer portion of any payroll, employment, unemployment or other 
similar Taxes associated with such amounts (xiii) any liability of any Person relating to ordinary 
course bonuses with respect to pre-Closing performance periods or in respect of outstanding 
severance amounts with respect to the termination of any employee of the Company prior to the 
Closing and owed by the Company as of Closing together with the employer portion of any payroll, 
employment unemployment or other similar Taxes associated with such payments, (xiv) all customer 
prepayments for multi-year obligations or otherwise, where cash has been collected for more than a 
one-year period or where cash has been collected in a manner not consistent with either the 
underlying contract with the applicable customer or normal business practices of the business of the 
Company’s group, (xv) any deferred revenue with respect to any customer arrangements, including 
where cash has been collected from such customer prior to the completion of an implementation(s) 
with respect to such customer such that the Company has not yet begun revenue recognition for the 
project(s) associated with such customer other than in the ordinary course, (xvi) any additional 
revenue deferrals with respect to any customer arrangements where the Company has completed a 
portion of a phased implementation(s) with respect to such customer and has recognized a 
corresponding portion of revenue for the project(s) associated with such customer but has collected 
cash from such customer in excess of the revenue recognized to date other than in the ordinary course, 
(xvii) any accrued interest and prepayment premiums or penalties relating to any amount prepaid at or 
in connection with the Closing related to any of the foregoing and (xviii) any ongoing royalty 
obligations in connection with any sale or license of products of the Company made prior to Closing.  

 “Indemnity Escrow Account” shall mean the escrow account established by the Escrow 
Agent to hold the Indemnity Escrow Amount. 

“Indemnity Escrow Amount” shall means $3,000,000. 

“Information Technology” means computer and communication systems, hardware, 
software and associated documentation and services. 

“Intellectual Property Rights” shall mean all intellectual property and proprietary rights 
throughout the world, in each case whether registered or unregistered and including applications (or 
rights to apply) for registration of such rights, including (without limitation): (i) all patents, patent 
applications, patent disclosures, and inventions and all improvements thereto (whether or not 
patentable or reduced to practice), and all reissues, continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, 
divisional, extensions, and reexaminations in connection therewith, (ii) trademarks, service marks, 
domain names and URLs, trade dress, corporate names, trade names and business names, and other 
indicia of source, and all registrations, applications and renewals in connection therewith (together 
with the goodwill associated therewith), (iii) copyrights and all works of authorship (whether or not 
copyrightable), and all registrations, applications and renewals in connection therewith, (iv) rights in 
software, (v) internet domain names; (vi) trade secrets, know-how, technologies, databases, rights in 



 

- 6 - 

 

 

data, processes, techniques, protocols, methods, formulae, algorithms, layouts, designs, specifications 
and confidential information, (vii) moral rights, (viii) rights of privacy and publicity, and (ix) all 
similar rights to the foregoing in any part of the world. 

“ITA” shall mean the Israeli Tax Authority. 

“Key Employee” shall mean each of Brandon Edenfield, Cameron Jenkins, James Carpenter, 
Regina O’Connor and Valentine Iancu. 

“Knowledge” of the Company, with respect to any matter in question, shall mean the actual 
knowledge of Brandon Edenfield, Cameron Jenkins, James Carpenter, Regina O’Connor and 
Valentine Iancu after having made reasonable enquiry of each other (the “Knowledge Individuals”).  
With respect to matters involving Intellectual Property Rights, Knowledge does not require that the 
Knowledge Individuals conduct or obtain any freedom-to-operate opinions or similar opinions of 
counsel or any clearance or similar searches relating to Intellectual Property Rights. 

“Law” shall mean any and all applicable federal, state, local, municipal, supranational, 
foreign or other law, statute, constitution, principle of common law, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, 
ruling or other legal requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise 
put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Authority. 

“Legal Proceeding” shall mean any lawsuit, litigation, arbitration or other similarly formal 
legal proceeding, brought by or pending before any Governmental Authority or arbitrator. 

“Liabilities” shall mean any liability, obligation or commitment of any kind (whether 
accrued, absolute, contingent, matured, unmatured or otherwise and whether or not required to be 
recorded or reflected on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP). 

“Licensed Intellectual Property Rights” means all Intellectual Property Rights owned by 
another Person and licensed or sublicensed to the Company or its Subsidiaries or for which the 
Company or its Subsidiaries has obtained a covenant not to be sued. 

“Lien” shall mean any lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, mortgage, security interest or 
encumbrance, reversionary right, authority in favour of another Person, option, right of first refusal or 
preemptive right. 

“Locked Box Accounts” shall mean the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the 
Company and its Subsidiaries as of the Locked Box Date. 

“Locked Box Date” shall mean December 31, 2018. 

“Material Counterparty” shall mean each of USF Holland, Jetro Cash and Carry, 
Kanebridge, University of South Carolina, ProTech Solutions, TTI, Inc., Guernsey Electric, Unicredit, 
SDI (via IBM Canada Ltd) and Celero.  

 “Merger Consideration” shall mean together, the Ordinary Shares Consideration and the 
Preference Shares Consideration. 

“New Management Bonuses” means bonus payments for bonuses and/or stock grants to 
Brandon Edenfield, Regina O’Connor, Cameron Jenkins or any other employee shareholder of the 
Company granted, or agreed to be granted, save for the FY 2019 Bonuses and the Management 
Bonuses.  

“Object Code” means software code in machine-readable form which can be interpreted and 
acted on by a hardware platform or operating system without the need for any external modification. 
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“Open Source Software” means any software that is distributed as free software, open 
source software, or other licensing or distribution models which requires that the software (or any 
software incorporated into, based on, derived from or distributed with such software) be: (i) disclosed, 
distributed or made available in Source Code form; or (ii) licensed under the terms of any open source 
software licence, including (without limitation) software licensed or distributed under any licence or 
distribution model listed by the Open Source Initiative at www.opensource.org. 

“Order” shall mean any order, judgment, decision, decree, injunction, ruling, writ or 
assessment of any Governmental Authority (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is 
binding on any Person or its property under applicable Law. 

“Ordinance” shall mean the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance New Version, 1961 as amended, 
and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as may be amended from time to time, 
including, any publications and clarifications issued by the ITA. 

“Ordinary Share Closing Consideration Per Share” shall mean $0.99 per Ordinary Share.  

“Ordinary Shares” shall mean ordinary shares, par value four Israeli Agorot (NIS 0.04) per 
share, of the Company. 

“Ordinary Shares Consideration” shall mean $24,064,126.02.  

“Owned Intellectual Property Rights” means all Intellectual Property Rights owned or 
purported to be owned by the Company or its Subsidiaries. 

“Paying Agent” shall mean American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC or such other 
paying agent agreed between the parties prior to the Closing. 

“Permitted Liens” means (i) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable for which adequate 
accruals have been established in accordance with GAAP, (ii) statutory landlord’s, mechanic’s or 
other similar Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business and for amounts which are 
not delinquent and which are set forth on the face of the Locked Box Accounts and (iii) recorded 
easements, covenants and other restrictions of record, provided that no such item described in this 
clause (iii) impairs the current use, occupancy, value or marketability of title of the property subject 
thereto. 

“Person” shall mean any individual, corporation (including any non-profit corporation), 
general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, joint venture, estate, trust, 
company (including any limited liability company or joint stock company), firm or other enterprise, 
association, organization, entity or Governmental Authority. 

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period ending on or before the Closing Date, and 
for any Tax period that includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”), the 
portion of the Straddle Period that ends on the Closing Date. 

“Pre-Closing Taxes” means all liabilities for (i) Taxes of the Company or any of the 
Subsidiaries for Pre-Closing Tax Periods, determined without regard to any carryback of a loss or 
credit arising after the Closing Date, and includes, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, 
any Taxes of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries attributable to Code Section 965 (or any similar 
or corresponding provision of state, local or non-U.S. Tax Law) (ii) all Taxes of any member of an 
Affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Company is or was a member on or 
prior to the Closing Date;  and (iii) any and all Taxes of any person imposed on the Company or any 
of the Subsidiaries for any period as a transferee or successor in respect of a transaction occurring on 
or before the Closing Date, by Law, contract, or otherwise; in each case, regardless of whether any 
such Taxes are payable in installments; provided, however, Pre-Closing Taxes shall not include any 
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Taxes arising from actions by Parent or its Affiliates on the Closing Date or after the Closing that are 
outside the ordinary course of business of the Company and the Subsidiaries.  For purposes of this 
Agreement, in the case of any Straddle Period, the amount of any Taxes of the Company or any of the 
Subsidiaries based upon or measured by net income or gain which relate to the Pre-Closing Tax 
Period will be determined based on an interim closing of the books as of the close of business on the 
Closing Date (and for such purpose, the Taxable period of any partnership or other pass-through 
entity in which the Company holds a beneficial interest will be deemed to terminate at such time).  
The amount of Taxes other than Taxes of the Company based upon or measured by net income or 
gain for a Straddle Period which relate to the Pre-Closing Tax Period will be deemed to be the amount 
of such Tax for the entire Taxable period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the 
number of days in the portion of the Taxable period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator 
of which is the number of days in such Straddle Period. 

“Preference Share Closing Consideration Per Share” means $3.00 per Preference Share. 

“Preference Shares” shall mean preferred shares, par value four Israeli Agorot (NIS 0.04) 
per share, of the Company. 

“Preference Shares Consideration” shall mean $1,889,565.  

“Relevant Period” means the two years prior to the date of this Agreement. 

 “Representative” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any direct or indirect Subsidiary of 
such Person, or any officer, director, employee, investment banker, attorney or other authorized agent, 
advisor or representative of such Person or any direct or indirect Subsidiary of such Person. 

“Sanctioned Country” means any country or region that is, or has been in the last five years, 
the subject or target of a comprehensive embargo under Sanctions Laws (including, without 
limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan, Syria, and the Crimea region of Ukraine). 

“Sanctioned Person” means any Person that is the subject or target of sanctions or 
restrictions under Sanctions Laws or Ex-Im Laws, including: (a) any Person listed on any applicable 
U.S. or non-U.S. sanctions- or export-related restricted party list, including the U.S. Department of the 
Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control’s (“OFAC”) Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked 
Persons List and the EU Consolidated List; (b) any entity that is, in the aggregate, 50 percent or 
greater owned, directly or indirectly, or otherwise controlled by a Person or Persons described in 
clause (a); or (c) any national of a Sanctioned Country. 

“Sanctions Laws” means all U.S. and non-U.S. legal requirements relating to economic or 
trade sanctions, including the legal requirements administered or enforced by the United States 
(including by OFAC or the U.S. Department of State), the United Nations Security Council, the 
European Union, the United Kingdom, and all other applicable EU member states. 

 “Securities Act” shall mean the United States Securities Act of 1933. 

“Source Code” means computer programs or data in human-readable form and on suitable 
media in a form that can be translated or interpreted into equivalent Object Code (together with all 
technical information and documentation necessary for the use, reproduction, modification and 
enhancement of those programs or data). 

“Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any partnership, 
limited liability company, corporation or other business entity of which (i) if a corporation, a majority 
of the total voting power of shares of capital stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any 
contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers, or trustees thereof is at the time owned or 
controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person 
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or a combination thereof, or (ii) if a partnership, limited liability company or other business entity, a 
majority of the partnership or other similar ownership interests thereof is at the time owned or 
controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person or a 
combination thereof. 

“Tax” (and, with correlative meaning, “Taxes” and “Taxable”) shall mean (a) all Israeli, 
U.S. federal, state, local and other foreign taxes, charges, fees, imposts, levies or other assessments 
which are imposed by a Taxing Authority, including all income, franchise, gross receipts, gross 
income, transfer, estimated, capital, capital stock, ad valorem, social security, social insurance, 
severance, stamp, occupation, payroll, sales, employment, unemployment, disability, use, property, 
real property, withholding, excise, production, value added, occupancy and other taxes, duties, 
customs, fees, charges or assessments of any nature whatsoever, together with all interest, penalties 
and additions imposed with respect to such amounts and any interest in respect of such penalties and 
additions, in each case whether disputed or not, and (b) any liability for the payment of any amounts 
of the type described in clause (a) as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, 
combined or unitary group, as a result of any tax sharing or tax allocation agreement, arrangement or 
understanding, or as a result of being liable for another person’s taxes as a transferee or successor, by 
contract or otherwise. 

“Tax Return” shall mean any return, election, designation, form, declaration, report, claim 
for refund, information return, statement or any other document of any nature whatsoever relating to 
Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof. 

“Taxing Authority” shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service, the ITA, HMRC 
in the UK or any other Governmental Authority (whether state, local or non-U.S.) responsible for the 
administration of any Tax. 

“Trade Controls” shall mean all U.S. and non-U.S.  laws, statutes, regulations, measures and 
orders relating to (i) Sanctions Laws; (ii) export, import, reexport, transfer, and retransfer controls, 
including, without limitation, those administered and enforced by the U.S. Department of Commerce 
Bureau of Industry and Security, the U.S. Department of State, Directorate of Defense Trade Controls, 
the European Union, HM Treasury of the United Kingdom, any European Union Member State, and 
the United Nations; (iii) antiboycott requirements and (iv) the prevention of money laundering. 

 “Unfunded Provident Fund Obligations” means the aggregate amount of  severance 
obligations with respect to the termination of any employees or contractors of the Company calculated 
as if such employees or contractors were terminated upon Closing and pension arrangement (of 
whatever kind, including pension fund and managers insurance policy) and study fund obligations, all 
as required to be paid under applicable Law, any Contract, any Employee Plan or any other sources 
with respect to all current and former employees and contractors if they are deemed to be employees 
under applicable Law, of the Company or its Subsidiaries, in each case solely with respect to periods 
prior to the Closing, in excess of such severance, pension or study fund amounts covered by the 
contributions to the severance, pension and study funds, as applicable, in each case as of the Closing. 

 “Valid Tax Certificate” means a valid certificate, ruling or any other written 
instructions regarding Tax withholding, issued by the ITA in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to Parent, that is applicable to the payments to be made to any Company Shareholder 
pursuant to this Agreement (including the Merger Consideration and any payments from the 
Indemnity Escrow Account) stating that no withholding, or reduced withholding, of Tax is required 
under Israeli Law with respect to such payment or providing other instructions regarding such 
payment or withholding (including transfer of the withholding Tax amount to a trustee).  For purposes 
hereof, the Withholding Tax Ruling will be considered a Valid Tax Certificate, provided it includes 
such instructions, and further provided that if the ruling requires the affirmative consent of the 
relevant holder, such holder consented in writing to join any such applicable ruling. For the avoidance 
of doubt, such certificate may be in the form of a certification pursuant to the Israeli Income Tax 
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Regulations (Withholding from Consideration, Payment or Capital Gain in a Sale of a Security, 
Mutual Fund Unit or a Future Transaction), 5763-2002 valid on the payment date. 

  

 Additional Definitions. The following capitalized terms shall have 
the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the respective sections of this Agreement set forth 
opposite each of the capitalized terms below:   

Term Section Reference 
Agreement .....................................................  Preamble 
Article II ........................................................  Article II 
Capitalization Date........................................  Section 3.5 
Certificate of Merger.....................................  Section 2.3 
Certificates ....................................................  Section 2.10(c) 
Change ..........................................................  Section 1.1 
Changes .........................................................  Section 1.1 
Charter Documents .......................................  Section 3.1 
Closing ..........................................................  Section 2.2 
Closing Date .................................................  Section 2.2 
Code ..............................................................  Section 2.16(a) 
Companies Registrar .....................................  Section 2.3 
Company .......................................................  Preamble 
Company Board Recommendation ...............  Preamble 
Company Disclosure Letter ..........................  Article III 
Company Securities ......................................  Section 3.5(c) 
Company Shareholders Meeting ...................  Section 5.10(a)  
Company Subsidiaries ..................................  Section 3.7 
Consideration Exchange Fund ......................  Section 2.10(b) 
control ...........................................................  Section 1.1 
controlled by .................................................  Section 1.1 
Effective Time ..............................................  Section 2.3 
ICL ................................................................  Preamble 
Letter of Transmittal .....................................  Section 2.10(c) 
Merger ...........................................................  Preamble 
Merger Proposal ............................................  Section 5.11(a) 
Merger Sub ...................................................  Preamble 
Moral Rights Section 3.15(f) 
Outside Date .................................................  Section 7.1(b) 
Parent ............................................................  Preamble 
Payor .............................................................  Section 2.16(a) 
R&D Sponsor ................................................  Section 3.15(g) 
Surviving Company ......................................  Section 2.1 
Uncertificated Shares ....................................  Section 2.10(c) 
under common control with ..........................  Section 1.1 
VAT ..............................................................  Section 3.19(u) 
willful breach ................................................  Section 7.2 
Withholding Drop Date.................................  Section 2.16(b) 

 
 Certain Interpretations. 

(a) Unless otherwise indicated, all references herein to Articles, Sections, 
Annexes, Exhibits or Schedules, shall be deemed to refer to Articles, Sections, Annexes, Exhibits or 
Schedules of or to this Agreement, as applicable. 
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(b) Unless otherwise indicated, the words “include,” “includes” and “including,” 
when used herein, shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words “without limitation.” 

(c) Unless otherwise indicated, the words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” and 
words of similar import, when used in this Agreement, shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not 
to any particular provision of this Agreement. 

(d) The table of contents and headings set forth in this Agreement are for 
convenience of reference purposes only and shall not affect or be deemed to affect in any way the 
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any term or provision hereof. 

(e) Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all references 
herein to the Subsidiaries of a Person shall be deemed to include all direct and indirect Subsidiaries of 
such Person. 

(f) Whenever the context may require, any pronouns used in this Agreement shall 
include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the singular form of nouns and 
pronouns shall include the plural, and vice versa. 

(g) Unless otherwise indicated, terms defined in the singular shall have a 
comparable meaning when used in the plural, and vice versa. 

(h) Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Dollars” and “$” mean U.S. dollars. 

(i) Unless otherwise indicated, the term “NIS” means Israeli New Shekels. 

(j) When used herein, the word “extent” and the phrase “to the extent” shall mean 
the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such word or phrase shall not simply mean 
“if.” 

(k) Unless otherwise indicated, references herein to any Person shall include such 
Person’s heirs, executors, personal representatives, administrators, successors and assigns; provided, 
that nothing contained in this Section 1.3(k) is intended to authorize any assignment or transfer not 
otherwise permitted by this Agreement. 

(l) Unless otherwise indicated, references herein to a Person in a particular 
capacity or capacities shall exclude such Person in any other capacity. 

(m) Unless otherwise indicated, references herein to any Law shall be deemed to 
refer to such Law as amended, modified, codified, reenacted, supplemented or superseded in whole or 
in part and in effect from time to time, and also to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, in 
each case, through the date of this Agreement. 

(n) Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that it has assessed the risk, 
uncertainties and benefits of the Merger and this Agreement to which it is a party and the transactions 
contemplated hereby, and that it has been represented by counsel during the negotiation and execution 
thereof and, therefore, acknowledges and agrees that, for purposes of interpreting this Agreement, no 
such party has had any preference in the design of the provisions thereof (within the meaning of Section 
25(b1) of the Contracts Law (General Part), 1973 (as amended)), and hereby expressly waives the 
application of any Law, holding or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or 
other document will be construed against the party drafting such agreement or document. 
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THE MERGER 

 The Merger.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this 
Agreement, and in accordance with the ICL, at the Effective Time, Merger Sub (as the target 
company (Chevrat Ha’Ya’ad) in the Merger) shall be merged with and into the Company (as the 
absorbing company (HaChevra Ha’Koletet) in the Merger).  As a result of the Merger, the separate 
corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company shall continue as the Surviving 
Company (the “Surviving Company”) and shall (a) become a wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent, 
(b) continue to be governed by the Laws of the State of Israel, (c) maintain a registered office in the 
State of Israel, and (d) succeed to and assume all of the rights, properties and obligations of Merger 
Sub and the Company in accordance with the ICL. 

 The Closing.  Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance 
with ARTICLE VII, the closing of the Merger (the “Closing”) will occur at the offices of Kirkland & 
Ellis International LLP, at 10:00 a.m. (local time) not later than on the fifth (5th) Business Day 
following the date on which each of the conditions set forth in Article VI is satisfied or, to the extent 
permitted by Law and this Agreement, waived by the party entitled to waive such condition (except 
for any conditions that by their nature can only be satisfied on the Closing Date, but subject to the 
satisfaction of such conditions or waiver by the party entitled to waive such conditions), or at such 
other time, date, location or means as the parties hereto shall mutually agree in writing. The date on 
which the Closing occurs is referred to herein as the “Closing Date”. 

 Effective Time.  As soon as practicable after the determination of the date on 
which the Closing is to take place, each of the Company and Merger Sub shall (and Parent shall cause 
Merger Sub to), in coordination with each other, deliver to the Registrar of Companies of the State of 
Israel (the “Companies Registrar”) a notice of the contemplated Merger and the proposed date of the 
Closing on which the Companies Registrar is requested to issue a certificate evidencing the Merger in 
accordance with Section 323(5) of the ICL (the “Certificate of Merger”) after notice that the Closing 
has occurred is served to the Companies Registrar, which the parties shall deliver on the Closing Date.  
The Merger shall become effective upon the issuance by the Companies Registrar of the Certificate of 
Merger in accordance with Section 323(5) of the ICL (the time at which the Merger becomes effective 
is referred to herein as the “Effective Time”). 

 Effect of the Merger.  The Merger shall have the effects set forth in the ICL and 
this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective 
Time, by virtue of, and simultaneously with, the Merger and without any further action on the part of 
Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or any shareholder of the Company, (i) Merger Sub shall be 
merged with and into the Company, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and 
the Company shall continue as the Surviving Company, (ii) all the properties, rights, privileges, 
powers and franchises of the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Company, (iii) all 
debts, Liabilities and duties of the Company and Merger Sub shall become the debts, Liabilities and 
duties of the Surviving Company, and (iv) all the rights, privileges, immunities, powers and franchises 
of the Company (as the Surviving Company) shall continue unaffected by the Merger in accordance 
with the ICL. 

 Guarantee 

(a) Guarantor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees as a primary 
obligation the due and punctual observance and discharge by Parent of all of its present and future 
obligations and liabilities under this Agreement if and when they become due under this Agreement (the 
“Parent Guaranteed Obligations”).  
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(b) If Parent defaults in the payment when due of any amount that constitutes a 
Parent Guaranteed Obligation, Guarantor shall as obligor, immediately on demand by the Company or 
the Majority Shareholders (as applicable), pay that amount in the manner prescribed by this Agreement 
or an order of any court of applicable jurisdiction as if it was Parent.  

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in no circumstances 
shall the amount recoverable from Guarantor exceed the amount which would be recoverable directly 
from Parent under this Agreement.  

 Memorandum and Articles of Association. 

(a) At the Effective Time, the Articles of Association of Merger Sub, as in effect 
immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the Articles of Association of the Surviving Company, 
until duly amended as provided therein and by applicable Law. 

(b) At the Effective Time, the memorandum of association of Company, as in 
effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the memorandum of association of the 
Surviving Company, until duly amended as provided therein and by applicable Law. 

 Directors and Officers 

(a) Directors.  The parties shall take all actions necessary so that the directors of 
Merger Sub at the Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be appointed and serve as 
the directors of the Surviving Company, until the earlier of their resignation or removal or until their 
respective successors are duly elected and qualified, as the case may be, in accordance with the 
Surviving Company’s articles of association. 

(b) Officers.  At the Effective Time, the officers of the Company immediately 
before the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Company, until the earlier of their 
resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified, as 
the case may be, in accordance with the Surviving Company’s articles of association. 

 Indebtedness 

(a) Upon the Closing, the Existing Debt Facility will be fully repaid by Surviving 
Company on behalf of Modern Systems Corporation in accordance with this Section 2.8(a). In order to 
facilitate such repayment, no less than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing, the Company (on 
behalf of Modern Systems Corporation) shall obtain payoff letters for, or such equivalent documents as 
may be required in connection with, the Existing Debt Facility, which such documents will be in a form 
reasonably satisfactory to Merger Sub and shall indicate that such lenders have agreed to release all 
Liens relating to the assets and properties of the Company upon receipt of the amounts indicated in such 
documents. In connection with the Closing, Surviving Company shall make the payments referenced in 
such payoff letters on the Closing Date in order to discharge the Indebtedness covered thereby. The 
Company shall obtain a release of any guarantees and pledges of assets of the Company or any of the 
Subsidiaries entered into or given by the Company, any of the Subsidiaries or any Company 
Shareholder to secure any Indebtedness of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries pursuant to the 
Existing Debt Facility, all in form and substance satisfactory to Merger Sub, and in each case with 
effect from the Effective Date. 

 Consideration and Effects on Share Capital.   

(a) Share Capital.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this 
Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, 
Merger Sub, the Company, or the holders of any of the following securities, the following shall occur: 
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(i) Each Preference Share, issued and outstanding immediately prior to 
the Effective Time (other than Preference Shares cancelled pursuant to Section 2.9(b)(i)) shall 
automatically be converted into and represent the right to receive the Preference Share Closing 
Consideration Per Share in cash. 

(ii) Each Ordinary Share, issued and outstanding immediately prior to 
the Effective Time (other than Ordinary Shares cancelled pursuant to Section 2.9(b)(i)) shall 
automatically be converted into and represent the right to receive the Ordinary Share Closing 
Consideration Per Share in cash. 

(b) In the case of Section 2.9(a)(i) and Section 2.9(a)(ii) without interest and less 
applicable Taxes required to be withheld (subject to Section 2.16), upon the surrender of the certificate 
representing such Company Share (or receipt of an “agent’s message” or other acceptable evidence of 
transfer if such Company Share is uncertificated) in the manner provided in Section 2.9(c) (or in the 
case of a lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, upon delivery of an affidavit in the manner provided in 
Section 2.10).  The amount of cash each Effective Time Holder is entitled to receive shall be rounded to 
the nearest cent, and computed after aggregating all cash amounts for all Company Shares held by such 
Effective Time Holder. 

(i) Stock Held in Treasury.  Each Company Share held in the treasury of 
the Company (dormant shares), or owned by any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of the 
Company immediately prior to the Effective Time, if any, shall be canceled and retired without any 
conversion or consideration paid in respect thereof and shall cease to exist. 

(ii) Share Capital of Merger Sub.  Each ordinary share, par value one 
Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the 
Effective Time shall be automatically and without further action converted into one validly issued, 
fully paid and non-assessable Ordinary Share, par value one Israeli Agora (NIS 0.01) per share, of the 
Surviving Company and such Ordinary Shares shall constitute the only outstanding share capital of 
the Surviving Company.  Each certificate evidencing ownership of such shares of Merger Sub 
immediately prior to the Effective Time, if any, shall, as of the Effective Time, evidence ownership of 
such shares of the Surviving Company.  

(c) Treatment of Other Company Equity Securities. 

(i) At the Effective Time, each Company Warrant that is outstanding 
and, if applicable, unexercised, immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be exercised and 
converted into such number of Ordinary Shares as the holder of such Company Warrant is entitled to 
receive. The Company shall withhold any applicable Taxes required to be withheld as a result of the 
exercise and conversion of the Company Warrant into Ordinary Shares, and shall remit any such 
amounts withheld to the appropriate Taxing Authority within the required time limits. Following the 
conversion of the Company Warrants, such Ordinary Shares so held by the Company Shareholders 
shall be converted in accordance with Section 2.9(a)(i) and Section 2.9(a)(ii) as applicable. 

 Payment Procedures.   

(a) Paying Agent; Prior to the Effective Time (but in no event later than five (5) 
Business Days prior to the Closing Date), Parent shall enter into and deliver to the Company an 
agreement with the Paying Agent on terms satisfactory to the Company (acting reasonably). 

(b) Exchange Funds.  

On the Closing Date, Parent shall deposit (or cause to be deposited) with the Paying Agent, (i) for 
payment by the Paying Agent or anyone on its behalf, to the Company Shareholders pursuant to the 
provisions of this ARTICLE II, an amount of cash equal to the Preference Shares Consideration and 
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the Ordinary Shares Consideration, less the Indemnity Escrow Amount (such cash amount being 
referred to herein as the “Consideration Exchange Fund”); (ii) for payment by the Paying Agent or 
anyone on its behalf into the Escrow Account, the Indemnity Escrow Amount. The Consideration 
Exchange Fund, once deposited with the Paying Agent, shall, pending its disbursement to the 
Company Shareholders, be held in trust for the benefit of the Company Shareholders and shall not be 
used for any other purpose.  The Consideration Exchange Fund shall be paid to the Company 
Shareholders (as applicable) less any applicable withholding taxes payable in respect thereof subject 
to the provisions of Section 2.16 and Section 5.15(a). 

(c) Payment Procedures with respect to Company Shares.  Promptly following the 
Effective Time, Parent and the Surviving Company shall cause the Paying Agent, or anyone on its 
behalf to mail to each holder of record (as of immediately prior to the Effective Time) of (i) a certificate 
or certificates (the “Certificates”) which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented 
outstanding Company Shares and (ii) uncertificated Company Shares (the “Uncertificated Shares”), in 
each case, whose shares were converted into the right to receive the Consideration Exchange Fund 
pursuant to Section 2.9: (A) a letter of transmittal in customary form reasonably satisfactory to the 
Company (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Company 
Shares shall pass, only upon delivery of the Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof as provided 
in Section 2.13) or transfer of the Uncertificated Shares, as the case may be, to the Paying Agent) (the 
“Letter of Transmittal”); (B) a declaration and/or Valid Tax Certificate or such other forms as are 
required under any applicable Tax Law or the Withholding Tax Ruling (each in such form as may be 
reasonably requested by counsel to Parent)  in which the beneficial owner of Company Shares provides 
certain information necessary for Parent or Paying Agent, as applicable, to determine whether any 
amounts need to be withheld from the Consideration Exchange Fund payable to such beneficial owner 
pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance (in each case, subject to the provisions of Section 2.16, Section 
2.16 and Section 5.13), the Code, or any applicable provision of state, local, Israeli or foreign Law, 
and instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates and Uncertificated Shares in 
exchange for the Consideration Exchange Fund payable in respect thereof pursuant to the provisions of 
this ARTICLE II (including customary provisions with respect to delivery of an “agent’s message” with 
respect to Uncertificated Shares). Subject to the Withholding Tax Ruling, upon surrender of Certificates 
(or affidavit of loss in lieu thereof as provided in Section 2.13) for cancellation to the Paying Agent, 
together with the Letter of Transmittal and the declaration for Tax withholding purposes and/or a Valid 
Tax Certificate, as applicable, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions 
thereto, the holders of such Certificates shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor an amount in 
cash equal to the Consideration Exchange Fund to which the holder thereof is entitled pursuant to 
Section 2.9 (less any applicable withholding taxes payable in respect thereof subject to the provisions of 
Section 2.16 and Section 5.13), and the Certificates so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled.  Upon 
receipt of an “agent’s message” by the Paying Agent in the case of a book-entry transfer of 
Uncertificated Shares, together with the declaration for Tax withholding purposes and/or a Valid Tax 
Certificate, as applicable, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions 
thereto, the holders of such Uncertificated Shares shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor an 
amount in cash equal to the Consideration Exchange Fund to which the holder thereof is entitled 
pursuant to Section 2.9 (less any applicable withholding taxes payable in respect thereof subject to the 
provisions of Section 2.16 and Section 5.13), and the transferred Uncertificated Shares so surrendered 
shall forthwith be canceled.  Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to accept such Certificates and 
transferred Uncertificated Shares upon compliance with the foregoing exchange procedures.  Payments 
and deliveries to be made under this Section 2.10(c) shall be made in U.S. dollars by check or wire 
transfer of immediately available funds as promptly as practicable after receipt by the Paying Agent of 
such Certificates or Uncertificated Shares. 

(d) Transfers of Ownership.  In the event that a transfer of ownership of Company 
Shares is not registered in the share transfer books or ledger of the Company, or if the Merger 
Consideration is to be paid in a name other than that in which the Certificates or Uncertificated Shares 
surrendered in exchange therefor are registered in the share transfer books or ledger of the Company, 
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the Merger Consideration may be paid to a Person other than the Person in whose name the Certificate 
or Uncertificated Share so surrendered is registered in the stock transfer books or ledger of the 
Company only if such Certificate or Uncertificated Shares is properly endorsed and otherwise in proper 
form for surrender and transfer and the Person requesting such payment has paid to Parent (or any agent 
designated by Parent) any transfer taxes required by reason of the payment of the Merger Consideration 
to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or Uncertificated Shares, or established 
to the satisfaction of Parent (or any agent designated by Parent) that such transfer taxes have been paid 
or are otherwise not payable. 

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, none of 
the Paying Agent, Escrow Agent, Parent, Merger Sub, the Surviving Company or any other party shall 
be liable to a holder of Company Shares for any amount properly paid to a public official pursuant to 
any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law. 

 Distribution of Exchange Fund to Parent.  Any portion of the 
Consideration Exchange Fund that remains undistributed to the holders of the Certificates or 
Uncertificated Shares on the date that is twelve (12) months after the Effective Time, shall be returned 
to Parent upon demand, and any holders of Company Shares that were issued and outstanding 
immediately prior to the Merger who have not theretofore surrendered their Certificates or 
Uncertificated Shares representing such Company Shares for exchange pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 2.9 shall thereafter look for payment of the Merger Consideration, without interest, payable in 
respect of the Company Shares represented by such Certificates or Uncertificated Shares solely to 
Parent, as general creditors thereof, for any claim to the applicable Merger Consideration to which 
such holders may be entitled pursuant to the provisions of this Article II. 

 No Further Ownership Rights in Company Shares.  From and after the 
Effective Time, all Company Shares shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be 
canceled, retired and cease to exist, and each holder of a Certificate or Uncertificated Shares 
theretofore representing any Company Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, 
except the right to receive the Merger Consideration payable therefor upon the surrender thereof in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.9(a).  The Merger Consideration paid in accordance with 
the terms of this ARTICLE II shall be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all rights 
pertaining to such Company Shares.  From and after the Effective Time, there shall be no further 
registration of transfers on the records of the Surviving Company of Company Shares that were issued 
and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than transfers to reflect, in accordance 
with customary settlement procedures, trades effected prior to the Effective Time.  If, after the 
Effective Time, Certificates or Uncertificated Shares are presented to the Surviving Company for any 
reason, they shall be canceled and exchanged as provided in this ARTICLE II. 

 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates  In the event that any Certificates 
shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, the Paying Agent, or anyone on its behalf, shall pay the 
Merger Consideration in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificates upon the making of 
an affidavit of that fact by the holder thereof and a reasonable and customary agreement by such 
holder to indemnify Parent from and against any losses in connection therewith but without 
requirement to post a bond (such affidavit to be in a form attached to the Letter of Transmittal), and 
thereupon such holder shall be deemed for purposes hereof as if it held a Certificate at the Effective 
Time. 

 No Interest.  No interest shall accumulate on any amount payable in respect of 
any Company Shares or Company Warrants in connection with the Merger. 

 Necessary Further Actions.  If, at any time after the Effective Time, any further 
action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement and to vest the Surviving 
Company with full right, title and possession to all assets, property, rights, privileges, powers and 
franchises of the Company and Merger Sub, the directors and officers of the Surviving Company are 
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fully authorized in the name and on behalf of the Company and the Company Shareholders to take all 
such lawful and necessary action. 

 Withholding Tax. 

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereunder, Parent, its Subsidiaries, 
the Company, its Subsidiaries, the Surviving Company, the Paying Agent (or anyone on its behalf) 
and the Escrow Agent  (each a “Payor”) shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any payment 
made pursuant to this Agreement (including the Merger Consideration and any payments to be made 
from the Indemnity Escrow Account) such amounts as may be required to be deducted and withheld 
with respect to the making of such payment under the Withholding Tax Ruling, if obtained, the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended (the “Code”), the Ordinance, or under any provision of 
applicable state, local, Israeli or foreign Tax Law. 

(b) With respect to Israeli Taxes and notwithstanding the provisions of Section 
2.16(a) above, the consideration payable to each Company Shareholder holder shall be retained by the 
Paying Agent, or anyone on its behalf, for the benefit of each such relevant Company Shareholder for a 
period of up to one hundred eighty (180) days from Closing (the “Withholding Drop Date”) during 
which time no Payor shall make any payments to any Company Shareholder or withhold any amounts 
for Israeli Taxes from the payments deliverable pursuant to this Agreement.  If a Company Shareholder 
delivers, no later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Withholding Drop Date a Valid Tax 
Certificate to Payor, then the deduction and withholding of any Israeli Taxes shall be made only in 
accordance with the provisions of such Valid Tax Certificate and the balance of the payment that is not 
withheld shall be paid to such Company Shareholder concurrently therewith subject to any non-Israeli 
withholding which is applicable to the payment (if any).  If any Company Shareholder (i) does not 
provide Payor with a Valid Tax Certificate, by no later than five (5) Business Days before the 
Withholding Drop Date, or (ii) submits a written request with Payor to release its portion of the 
consideration prior to the Withholding Drop Date and fails to submit a Valid Tax Certificate at or 
before such time, then the amount to be withheld from such Company Shareholder’s portion of the 
consideration shall be calculated according to the applicable withholding rate as reasonably determined 
by Parent in accordance with applicable Law (increased by interest plus linkage differences, as defined 
in Section 159A of the Ordinance, for the period between the fifteenth (15th) day of the calendar month 
following the month during which the Closing occurs and the time the relevant payment is made, as 
determined by Parent and the Paying Agent. The parties shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain the 
ITA approval (according to ITA Circular 9/2018, Section 4) including under  the Withholding Tax 
Ruling that  any withholding made in New Israeli Shekels with respect to payments made hereunder in 
Dollars shall be calculated based on a Dollar to NIS conversion rate on the date the payment is actually 
made to a recipient, and any currency conversion commissions will be borne by the applicable payment 
recipient and deducted from payments to be made to such payment recipient. To the extent amounts are 
so withheld, they shall be paid over to the appropriate Governmental Authority prior to the last day on 
which such payment is required, and then such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this 
Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was 
made.  To the extent any Payor withholds any amounts with respect to Israeli Taxes, such Payor shall 
provide the affected Person, as soon as practicable (but no later than within fourteen (14) Business 
Days), with sufficient evidence regarding such withholding. 

 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY  

As of the date hereof and as of the Closing, except as Disclosed in the corresponding section 
or subject to the exceptions set forth in the disclosure letter delivered by the Company to Parent on the 
date of this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure Letter”) the Company hereby represents and 
warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows: 
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 Company Organization; Good Standing and Qualification.  The Company 
(i) is a legal entity duly organized and validly existing and is not a “defaulting company” under the 
Laws of the State of Israel and (ii) has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and 
operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted. The Company is 
qualified to do business and is in good standing (to the extent either such concept is recognized under 
applicable Law) in each jurisdiction where the ownership, leasing or operation of its assets or 
properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification. A correct and complete list of the 
directors and officers of the Company is set forth in Section 3.1 of the Company Disclosure Letter. 
The Company has made available to Parent true, complete and correct copies of the Company’s 
memorandum of association and articles of association as currently in full force and effect (“Charter 
Documents”) and no amendments are pending with respect thereto, and the Company is not in 
violation of any terms thereof. 

 Corporate Power; Enforceability.  The Company has all requisite corporate 
power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its covenants and obligations 
hereunder and, subject only to obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval and the filing and 
recordation of appropriate merger documents as required by the ICL, to consummate the Merger and 
the other transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, 
constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in 
accordance with its terms, except as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
moratorium and other laws of general application, now or hereafter in effect, affecting enforcement of 
creditors’ rights generally.  No additional corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are 
necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement, the 
performance by the Company of its covenants and obligations hereunder or, subject only to obtaining 
the Company Shareholder Approval, the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions 
contemplated hereby.  At a meeting duly called and held prior to the execution of this Agreement in 
compliance with the Charter Documents and applicable Laws, the Company Board has unanimously: 
(i) determined that this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement are fair to, and in the best interests of, the Company and its shareholders and that, 
considering the financial position of the merging companies, no reasonable concern exists that the 
Surviving Company will be unable to fulfill the obligation of the Company to its creditors as a result 
of the Merger; (ii) approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other transaction contemplated 
hereby (in each case subject to the Company Shareholder Approval); and (iii) made the Company 
Board Recommendation; and (iv) approved that, subject only to obtaining the Company Shareholder 
Approval, all corporate approvals required under applicable Law on part of the Company for the 
consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, have been obtained, all 
as set forth in the Company Board’s approval attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

 Company Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery by the Company of 
this Agreement do not, and the performance of its obligations hereunder will not, (a) subject to 
obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval, violate or conflict with any provision of the Charter 
Documents or equivalent documents of any of its Subsidiaries, (b) except as set forth in Section 3.3 of 
the Company Disclosure Letter,result in a violation or breach of any provision of, or constitute (with 
or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under, or give rise to any right of termination, 
cancellation, payment, acceleration or revocation under, any Contract to which the Company or any of 
its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their 
respective assets or properties may be bound, (c) assuming the Approvals referred to in Section 3.4 
are obtained or made, and subject to obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval, violate or conflict 
with any Law or Order applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or by which any of their 
respective properties or assets are bound, or (d) result in the creation of any Lien (other than Permitted 
Liens) upon any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 
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 Required Governmental Approvals.  To the Knowledge of the Company, no 
consent, clearance, approval or authorization of, or filing or registration with, or expiration or 
termination of any waiting period required by, or notification to (any of the foregoing being referred 
to herein as an “Approval”), any Governmental Authority is required on the part of the Company or 
any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the execution or delivery by the Company of this 
Agreement and the performance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of its obligations 
hereunder, other than (i) the IIA Notice, and (ii) the filing of the Merger Proposal and Merger 
Notification with the Companies Registrar and all such other notices or filings required under the ICL 
with respect to the consummation of the Merger and the issuance of the Certificate of Merger by the 
Companies Registrar, provided that the Company shall not be liable for a breach of this warranty if 
and to the extent this warranty is or becomes untrue due to the Company relying on information 
provided to it by Parent in connection with the Parties’ analysis of required Approvals.   

 Company Capitalization. 

(a) The registered (authorized) share capital of the Company consists of NIS 
1,040,00 divided into (i) 25,000,000 Ordinary Shares, NIS 0.04 par value per share and (ii) 1,000,000 
Preference Shares, NIS 0.04 par value per share.  At the close of business on the Locked Box Date 
(the “Capitalization Date”) 23,487,234 Ordinary Shares were issued and outstanding, (iii) 629,855 
Preference Shares were issued and outstanding, and (iv) there were 819,964 outstanding Company 
Warrants to purchase 819,964 Ordinary Shares with an exercise price of $0.01 per underlying 
Ordinary Share. Except as set forth above in this Section 3.5, at the close of business on the 
Capitalization Date, no shares or other securities (convertible, exchangeable, exercisable or otherwise) 
of the Company were issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding.  All outstanding Company Shares 
are, and all such shares that may be issued prior to the Effective Time will be when issued duly 
authorized, validly issued, fully paid, nonassessable and free of any preemptive rights. 

(b) The Cap Table is true, complete and accurate. 

(c) Except as set forth in Section 3.5(a) and Section 3.5(c) of the Company 
Disclosure Letter, there are (i) no outstanding shares of, or other equity or voting interest (including any 
voting debt) in, the Company, (ii) no outstanding securities of the Company or its Subsidiaries 
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of, or other equity or voting interest 
(including any voting debt) in, the Company, (iii) no outstanding options, warrants, rights or other 
Contracts to acquire from the Company or its Subsidiaries, or that obligates the Company or its 
Subsidiaries to issue, any shares of, or other equity or voting interest (including any voting debt) in, or 
any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of, or other equity or voting 
interest (including any voting debt) in, the Company, or “phantom” stock or similar securities or rights 
that are derivative of, or provide economic benefits based, directly or indirectly, on the value or price of 
any capital stock or voting securities (including any voting debt) of the Company, (iv) no obligations of 
the Company or its Subsidiaries to grant, extend or enter into any subscription, warrant, right, 
convertible or exchangeable or exercisable security or other similar agreement or commitment relating 
to any shares of, or other equity or voting interest (including any voting debt) in, the Company (the 
items in clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v), together with the share capital of the Company and Company 
Warrants being referred to collectively as “Company Securities”) and (v) no other obligations by the 
Company or its Subsidiaries to make any payments based on the price or value of any of the foregoing 
described in clauses (i)-(iv).  

(d) Section 3.5 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a list, on a holder by 
holder basis, of each Company Warrant, outstanding as of the Capitalization Date, indicating the 
applicable vesting schedule, the applicable exercise price, and the applicable expiration date, in the case 
of a Company Warrant. 

(e) Except for the Charter Documents the Company is not a party to any agreement 
relating to the voting of, requiring registration of, or granting any preemptive rights, anti-dilutive rights, 
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call or put options or rights of first refusal or other similar rights with respect to any Company 
Securities. 

 Litigation. 

(a) There is no, and during the Relevant Period has not been any, material Legal 
Proceeding or investigation, pending against or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against 
or affecting, the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of the properties of the Company or its Subsidiaries, 
or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any present or former director, officer, employee, independent 
contractor, or consultant of the Company or its Subsidiaries in such Person’s capacity as such. There is 
no Order, whether civil, criminal or administrative, outstanding by which the Company or its 
Subsidiaries are bound. 

 Subsidiaries. 

(a) Section 3.7(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth all of the 
Subsidiaries of the Company (collectively, the “Company Subsidiaries”).  Each of the Subsidiaries set 
forth on Section 3.7(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter is (i) duly organized, validly existing and in 
good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of each such Subsidiary’s incorporation or formation 
and is not a “defaulting company” under the Laws of the State of Israel, if applicable, (ii) qualified to do 
business in those jurisdictions set forth on Section 3.7(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, which 
jurisdictions constitute all of the jurisdictions where the ownership, leasing or operation of such 
Subsidiary’s assets or properties or conduct of its business requires such qualification, and (iii) in good 
standing in each of the jurisdictions set forth on Section 3.7(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, 
except in the case of (ii) or (iii) where such failure to qualify or be in good standing would not 
reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect. Except as set forth in Section 
3.7(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of each of the 
Company Subsidiaries is duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and fully owned 
by the Company, free and clear of any Liens (other than restrictions on transfer arising under applicable 
securities Laws).  None of the Company Subsidiaries owns any securities or interests of the type 
described in the definition of Company Securities, mutatis mutandis. 

(b) The Company owns directly or indirectly all of the outstanding equity interests 
of the Subsidiaries set forth on Section 3.7(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter and there are no other 
securities or interests of the type described in the definition of Company Securities with respect to each 
such Subsidiary. Except as set forth on Section 3.7(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, the Company 
owns no share capital, membership interests, partnership interests, interests in any corporation or other 
entity (including partnership, limited liability company and other business association) or other equity 
or other interests in any Person (other than the Company Subsidiaries). 

 Company Reports. 

(a) During the Relevant Period, the Company has filed or furnished all forms, 
reports and documents that have been required to be filed or furnished by it under applicable Laws (all 
such forms, reports and documents, including exhibits and schedules, filed or furnished, together with 
any amendments thereto, the “Company Reports”).  As of its filing or furnishing date (or, if amended 
or superseded by a filing or furnishing prior to the date of this Agreement, on the date of such amended 
or superseded filing or furnishing), (i) each Company Report complied as to form in all material 
respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as the case may 
be, each as in effect on the date such Company Report was filed or furnished, and (ii) each Company 
Report did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required 
to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except to the extent superseded by a 
Company Report filed subsequently and prior to the date hereof. 
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(b) Except as set forth in Section 3.8(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter, as at 5 
March 2019, there are no government-sponsored tax incentive and grant programs of any Governmental 
Authority of which each of the Company or its Subsidiaries is, or has been, a beneficiary or which have 
been in effect during the Relevant Period and no pending applications therefor (the “Government 
Programs”), including all those made available through IIA (the “IIA Programs”).  Except for the 
details set forth in Section 3.8(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter there are: (i)  no benefits received 
under any such Government Program and there are no further benefits available for future use by them 
under any such Government Program; (ii) other than the period during which the IIA grant referred to in 
the Company Disclosure Letter was received, there have been  no time periods in which the Company 
or its Subsidiaries received benefits under any such Government Program; (iii) no research and 
development programs for which any such Government Program was approved; (iv) no current and 
future obligations of the Company or its Subsidiaries under any such Government Program; (v) no  
royalty rates or other repayment amounts applicable to any such Government Program(and the total of 
any payment or repayment due as at the date hereof is set out in Section 3.8(b) of the Company 
Disclosure Letter); (vi) no types of revenues/products from which royalty or other payments are 
required to be made under any such Government Program (vii) no  payments made by the Company or 
its Subsidiaries prior to the date of this Agreement with respect to any such Government Program; and 
(viii) no  currently outstanding financial Liabilities of the Company or its Subsidiaries under any such 
Government Programs. Except as set forth in Section 3.8(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter, the 
Company or its Subsidiaries do not have obligations under IIA Programs except for general obligations 
as prescribed by applicable Laws.  Except as set forth on Section 3.8(b) of the Company Disclosure 
Letter, the consummation of the Merger shall not result in: (i) the payment of royalties or other fees to 
any Governmental Authority or (ii) any rights being required to be granted or transferred to any 
Governmental Authority, in each case pursuant to applicable Government Programs.  

(c) All Owned Intellectual Property Rights developed using (directly or indirectly) 
grants received under IIA Programs are set forth in Section 3.8(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter 
(the “IIA Supported IP”). The IIA Supported IP is used solely for one certain product of the Company 
(the “IIA Supported Product”) as detailed in Section 3.8(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter, and 
other than the IIA Supported Product, the IIA Supported IP is not used for, integrated or incorporated 
into, any product owned, operated, created or sold by the Company. As of the date hereof, the IIA 
Supported Product is licensed by the Company only to a single client and is not licensed to any other 
customer of the Company. Neither Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Company nor any of their 
respective Affiliates or transferees would be required to make any payment to the IIA in connection 
with the transfer of any IIA Supported IP to Persons located outside of Israel or otherwise be required to 
make any payment to IIA in connection with the sale of any products, in an amount exceeding (in the 
aggregate) an amount equal to (i) US $ 315,704, plus (ii) interest as provided under applicable Law, 
minus (iii) royalties paid by the Company to the IIA, both (ii) and (iii) as of the date as of 5 March 2019 
and until such payments are actually made.       

 No Undisclosed Liabilities.  As of the date of this Agreement, there are no 
Liabilities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, 
contingent or otherwise), other than (a) Liabilities reflected or reserved in the Locked Box Account, 
(b) Liabilities incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, 
(c) Liabilities incurred since the Locked Box Date in the ordinary course of business that have not had 
and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material 
Adverse Effect and (d) Liabilities arising under the terms of any Contract or permit binding upon the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, 
individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. 

 Financial Statements.   

(a) The Locked Box Accounts (i) have been prepared in good faith with due care 
and attention using accounting policies which are not materially different from those used in preparing 
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the Financial Statements (as defined below) applied on a consistent basis; (ii) fairly present the assets 
and liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the Locked Box Date; and (iii) are not affected 
by any unusual, exceptional or non-recurring items.   

(b) Section 3.13 of the Company Disclosure Letter contains the consolidated 
audited accounts of the Company and the Subsidiaries for the year ending on December 31, 2016 and 
for the year ending on December 31, 2017 and the consolidated unaudited accounts of the Company and 
the Subsidiaries for the financial year ending on December 31, 2018 (collectively the “Financial 
Statements”). Each of the Financial Statements (including in all cases, the notes thereto, if any) is 
accurate, correct and complete, is based upon and consistent with information contained in the books 
and records of the Company (which books and records are in turn accurate, correct and complete) and 
fairly presents the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the times and for 
the periods referred to therein in accordance with GAAP and the Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with GAAP, as consistently applied by the Company throughout such periods. 
During the periods covered by the Financial Statements, the Company’s external auditor was 
independent of the Company and its management. 

 Absence of Certain Changes. 

(b) Since the Locked Box Date through the date hereof, there has not been any 
Change that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a 
Company Material Adverse Effect and since that date, the Company and each of the Subsidiaries has 
conducted its operations in the ordinary course of business, and, without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing: 

(i) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have transferred any 
of their assets (including any Intellectual Property Rights), other than sales of inventory for fair 
consideration in the ordinary course of business; 

(i) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have licensed any of 
their Intellectual Property Rights, except for non-exclusive licenses on the Company’s form customer 
agreement granted to customers in the ordinary course of business; 

(ii) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have terminated any 
agreement (or series of related agreements) either involving more than $75,000 or outside the ordinary 
course of business; 

(iii) no party (including the Company or any of the Subsidiaries) has 
accelerated, terminated or modified (except with the prior written approval of Parent) any agreement 
or other arrangement (or series of related agreements or arrangements) involving more than $75,000 
to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party or by which the Company or any Subsidiary is 
bound, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no party intends to take any such action; 

(iv) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have suffered or 
imposed any Lien upon any of its assets (including any Intellectual Property Rights, except in the 
ordinary course of business); 

(v) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have compromised 
any right or claim (or series of related rights or claims) either involving more than $50,000 or outside 
the ordinary course of business; 

(vi) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have experienced 
any material damage or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) to their property; 
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(vii) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have entered into or 
terminated any employment or collective bargaining agreement or modified the terms of any existing 
agreement, except, in the case of any employment agreement, in the ordinary course of business; 

(viii) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have recorded any 
sales revenues pursuant to transactions in which the purchaser of such products or services, including 
software-as-a-service, has the right to return such products at a future date or has the right to elect 
early termination of such services and receive a refund of services fees paid, as applicable (other than 
in the ordinary course pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Company’s standard warranty 
terms); 

(ix) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have failed to pay 
and discharge current liabilities within the applicable time limits except where disputed in good faith 
by appropriate proceedings; 

(x) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have (A) made any 
material change in terms of distribution of products or services, (B) made any material change to its 
pricing, discount, allowance or return policies, (C) granted any pricing, discount, allowance or return 
terms for any customer or supplier, including by modifying the manner in which it licenses or 
otherwise distributes its products, including making any change in the proportion of fully paid-up and 
subscription-based licenses granted to customers, other than in the ordinary course of business or (D) 
materially decreased the amount of any maintenance renewal fees due to the Company from the 
amount of such maintenance renewal fee payable to the business during the preceding twelve-month 
period, in each case where such change is reasonably likely to result in a cost (which, for such 
purposes shall include a loss of profit) to the Company or any of the Subsidiaries of more than 
$75,000; 

(xi) other than in the ordinary course of business, neither the Company 
nor any of the Subsidiaries have granted any increase in the compensation or benefits to be provided 
to any of the Company or the Subsidiaries current or former directors, managers, officers, employees, 
consultants or independent contractors or adopted, amended, or terminated any Employee Plan (or any 
plan or arrangement that would have constituted an Employee Plan had it been in effect on the date 
hereof) which have resulted in an increase in staffing costs to either of the Company or any of the 
Subsidiaries of more than 15% per annum;  

(xii) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have made or 
changed any election with respect to Taxes, adopted or changed any accounting method, filed or 
amended any Tax Return, entered into any closing agreement, settled any Tax claim or assessment, 
consented to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax claim or 
assessment, surrendered a right to claim a Tax refund or taken any other similar action relating to the 
filing of any Tax Return or the payment of any Tax; 

(xiii) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have conducted 
their cash management customs and practices (including, without limitation, the collection of 
receivables, payment of payables, capital expenditures and pricing and credit practices) other than in 
the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice; 

(xiv) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have declared, set 
aside or paid any dividend or distributed cash or other property to any equityholder of the Company or 
any of its Affiliates with respect to its securities, redeemed or otherwise acquired any of its securities 
or warrants, options or other rights to acquire its securities, or made any other payments to any 
equityholder of the Company or any of its Affiliates (except such salary payments as made in the 
ordinary course to any equityholder of the Company or any of its Affiliates who are also employees of 
the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, in each case on the terms of documents Disclosed, in the 
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ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice and without the exercise of any 
discretion on part of the Company); 

(xv) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have entered into 
any settlement, conciliation or similar agreement, the performance of which will involve payment 
after the execution date of this Agreement of consideration in excess of $75,000; 

(xvi) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have borrowed any 
amount or incurred or become subject to any material liabilities of more than $100,000, except 
Indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course of business; 

(xvii) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have made any loan 
to, or entered into any other transaction with, any of its managers, officers or employees outside the 
ordinary course of business; 

(xviii) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have delayed or 
postponed the payment of any accounts payable or commissions or any other liability or obligation or 
agreed with any party to extend the payment date of any accounts payable or commissions or any 
other liability or obligation or accelerated the collection of (or discounted) any accounts or notes 
receivable by more than 30 days; 

(xix) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have sold, assigned, 
transferred, leased or otherwise disposed of any of its properties or assets (including Intellectual 
Property Rights) that are material to the operation of the business of the Company and the 
Subsidiaries; 

(xx) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have made any 
acquisition (including by merger) of the capital stock or a material portion of the assets of any other 
Person; and 

(xxi) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have committed to 
do any of the foregoing. 

 Material Contracts. 

(a) For all purposes of and under this Agreement, a “Material Contract” of the 
Company or its Subsidiaries shall mean (all such Material Contracts which the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their respective properties, rights or assets are 
bound, the “Material Contracts”): 

(i) any Contract listed or required to be listed as an exhibit to the 
Company’s annual report for the year ending December 31, 2017; 

(ii) any Contract with a Material Counterparty;  

(iii) any Contract that relates to the formation, creation, operation, 
management or control of any legal partnership or any joint venture entity (whether a corporation, 
limited liability company or any other entity type) or similar arrangement; 

(iv) any Contract (other than any Contract whose only parties are the 
Company and/or its Subsidiaries) relating to Indebtedness for borrowed money owing or guaranteed 
by the Company or its Subsidiaries, other than any Contract relating to Indebtedness with an 
outstanding principal amount of less than $250,000 (whether incurred, assumed, guaranteed or 
secured by any asset); 
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(v) any Contract under which the Company or its Subsidiaries has made 
any advance, loan, extension of credit or capital commitment to, or other investment in, any Person in 
excess of $250,000 (other than the Company or its Subsidiaries and except for any extensions of trade 
credits in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice); 

(vi) any Contract (A) that contains a license in respect of Intellectual 
Property Rights where such license is material to the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries 
(except for (1) licenses of commercially available, off-the-shelf, click-wrap or shrink-wrap software, 
(2) non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property Rights incidental to the sale or purchase of products 
or services in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), (B) relating to the 
ownership, development or use (by itself or through a third party) of any Intellectual Property Rights 
material to the current products of the Company or the manufacturing thereof, and (C) affecting the 
Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ ability to use, enforce or disclose any Intellectual Property Rights 
material to the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries; 

(vii) any Contract to which the Company is a party that contains any 
continuing covenant by, or restriction on, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to not compete or 
engage in any line of business or to not engage in its business in any geographic location, in each case 
other than such Contracts that may be canceled without liability to the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries without notice; 

(viii) any Contract providing for (x) Government Grants from the IIA or 
any other Israeli Governmental Authority, which Government Grant is extended to support the 
Company’s research and development operations (i.e., Kitvei Ishur), or (y) material Government 
Grants from any other Governmental Authority; 

(ix) any Contract providing for material “earn-outs” or other material 
contingent payments by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than those with respect to which 
there are no further obligations under such provisions; 

(x) any Contract entered into after January 1, 2017 or has not yet been 
consummated, and involves the acquisition or disposition, directly or indirectly (by merger or 
otherwise), of a business (or assets comprising all or part of a business) or capital stock or other equity 
interest of another Person; 

(xi) any Contract involving a grant to any Person of any right of first 
offer or right of first refusal to purchase, lease, sublease, use, possess or occupy any material assets, 
rights or properties of the Company; and 

(b) The Company Disclosure Letter contains a list of all Material Contracts as of 
the date of this Agreement, and a true, accurate and complete copy of each such Material Contract has 
been made available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement. 

(c) In relation to each Material Contract: (i) it is valid and binding on the Company 
and enforceable against the Company and its Subsidiaries party thereto, in accordance with its terms, 
(ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other 
party thereto, is in material breach of, or material default under any such Material Contract, (iii) the 
Company has not received written notice of any actual or potential violation of, or failure to comply 
with, any material term of any Material Contract, and (iv) except as set forth in Section 3.12(c) of the 
Company Disclosure Letter, neither entering into, compliance with nor completion of the Merger shall 
entitle a party to terminate, vary or make a claim under such Material Contract. 

 Real Property 

(a) The Company does not own any real property. 



 

- 26 - 

 

 

(b) The Company does not own, use or occupy any land or buildings in the United 
Kingdom and does not have any legal or beneficial interest or right of occupation and enjoyment to any 
real property in the United Kingdom. 

(c) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has valid leasehold interests in all of 
the real property leased or subleased to the Company or such Subsidiaries, as applicable (each, a 
“Lease”), free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens. 

(d) Each Lease is valid and binding on the Company and its Subsidiaries party 
thereto and enforceable against the Company and its Subsidiaries party thereto, in accordance with its 
terms, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any 
other party thereto, is in material breach of, or default under, any such Lease and (iii) the Company has 
not received written notice of any actual or potential violation of, or failure to comply with, any 
material term of any Lease. 

 Personal Property.  The Company and its Subsidiaries are in possession of, and 
have valid title or valid leasehold interests in, or valid rights under contract to use, all of tangible 
personal properties and assets used by Company and its Subsidiaries in their respective businesses, 
free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens. 

 Intellectual Property.   

(a) i) the Company and its Subsidiaries are the sole and exclusive legal and 
beneficial owners of all Owned Intellectual Property Rights and hold all right, title and interest in and to 
all Owned Intellectual Property Rights, free and clear of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens), (ii) the 
Licensed Intellectual Property Rights and the Owned Intellectual Property Rights together constitute all 
of the Intellectual Property Rights used in the conduct of the business of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries, provided, however, that this subsection (i) shall not be deemed to constitute a 
representation of non-infringement, and (iv) there exist no restrictions on the disclosure, use, license or 
transfer of any Owned Intellectual Property Rights, excluding non-exclusive licenses granted by 
Company and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business (but only to the extent such non-
exclusive licenses prevent the Company from granting exclusive licenses); 

(b) the Owned Intellectual Property Rights and to the Knowledge of the Company 
Licensed Intellectual Property Rights are valid, subsisting and enforceable (excluding applications 
pertaining thereto); 

(c) (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have, during the Relevant Period, taken 
commercially reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality of the trade secrets that are owned by 
or exclusively licensed to the Company and any confidential information of any Person to whom the 
Company owes a confidentiality obligation by way of contractual obligation, and (ii) during the 
Relevant Period, there has been and is no misuse of such trade secrets by the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has made any disclosure of such trade secrets 
to any Person other than the Parent, except properly and in the ordinary and usual course of business 
and on the basis that such disclosure is to be treated as confidential in nature; 

(d) During the Relevant Period, neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries has 
received any written claim (i) challenging the use or ownership by the Company or its Subsidiaries of 
any Intellectual Property Rights, or (ii) alleging an infringement or misappropriation by the Company or 
its Subsidiaries of the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party; 

(e) to the Knowledge of the Company (i) no third party is infringing or 
misappropriating (nor has infringed or misappropriated) any of the Owned Intellectual Property Rights, 
and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries are infringing or misappropriating any 
Intellectual Property Rights owned by any third party; 
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(f) all of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ employees, contractors and 
consultants who were or are engaged in the development or invention of any Owned Intellectual 
Property Rights during the Relevant Period have entered into written agreements with the Company or 
its Subsidiaries validly and irrevocably assigning to the Company or its Subsidiaries all rights, title and 
interests in and to such Owned Intellectual Property Rights (or all such rights, title and interests vested 
in the Company as a matter of law), and, with respect to employees, explicitly waiving all rights to 
receive royalties or compensation in connection therewith (including, if applicable, under Section 134 
of the Israeli Patent Law, 1967) and waiving any applicable non-transferable rights, including Moral 
Rights. “Moral Rights” means moral rights in any works of authorship, including the right to the 
integrity of the work, the right to be associated with the work as its author by name or under pseudonym 
and the right to remain anonymous, whether existing under judicial or statutory law of any country or 
jurisdiction worldwide, regardless of whether such right is called or generally referred to as a “moral 
right”; 

(g) other than Government Programs (i) to the Knowledge of the Company, none 
of the Owned Intellectual Property Rights, were, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part: 
(A) developed by, or on behalf of, or using funding, grants, or subsidies or any resources of, any 
Governmental Authority or any entity owned or controlled by any Governmental Authority, or any 
university, college, hospital, military, educational institution, research center or any entity affiliated 
with such university, college, hospital, military, educational institution or research center (“R&D 
Sponsor”), (B) developed utilizing any facilities of any R&D Sponsor, (C) developed by any individual 
who at the time of such development was an employee, faculty, independent contractor or students of a 
R&D Sponsor, or (D) developed by any independent contractor who was concurrently working for or 
providing services to a R&D Sponsor and (ii) in the event that any such funds, grants, subsidies, 
facilities, employees, faculty, independent contractors, or students were used, such use will not 
materially preclude or restrict the sale, transfer, alienation and/or license of any such Owned Intellectual 
Property Rights free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens); 

(h) Section 3.9(h) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all material 
registrations of or pending applications for registration of Owned Intellectual Property Rights registered 
to or filed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. All material registrations of Owned Intellectual 
Property Rights are valid, enforceable and subsisting. All necessary registration, maintenance and 
renewal fees due on or prior to the date of this Agreement in connection with all such material 
registrations of Owned Intellectual Property Rights have been paid; 

(i) The Company or any of its Subsidiaries do not use or develop or engage in 
encryption technology or other technology whose development, commercialization or export is 
restricted under applicable law in Israel, and are not required to obtain a marketing, registration, export 
license or other relevant license from any of the Israeli Ministry of Economy, the Israeli Ministry of 
Defense, the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security, the U.S. Department of 
State, or any authorized body pursuant to Section 2(a) of the Control of Products and Services 
Declaration (Engagement in Encryption), 1974, as amended; 

(j) with respect to any third party software (including any Open Source Software) 
incorporated into or contained in any products or services which are developed, sold or distributed by 
the Company or its Subsidiaries, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries complies, and during the 
Relevant Period has complied, with the relevant licence terms in respect of such third party software in 
all material respects and compliance with such terms does not require the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries to: (a) disclose or distribute to any Person any Source Code which forms part of the Owned 
Intellectual Property Rights; (b) license any software which forms part of the Owned Intellectual 
Property Rights for the purpose of making derivative works or on the same terms as any Open Source 
Software that is included; or (c) restrict the consideration charged by the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries in respect of its products or services;  
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(k) to the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary 
has disclosed, nor is aware of the disclosure by any person of, any Source Code which forms part of the 
Owned Intellectual Property Rights or which forms part of the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ 
material products or services to any third party, other than under a binding agreement with either a 
reputable Source Code escrow agent on that agent’s standard terms and conditions, or to a third party 
software developer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, who is (i) likely to develop software on 
behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; and (ii) requires access to such source code in order to 
develop software on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and in each case, who has entered 
into a binding written agreement with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that maintains the 
confidentiality and restricts the disclosure and use of such Source Code to any party other than the 
Company or its Subsidiaries, as applicable. In respect of paragraph (i) of the foregoing, the release of 
any such Source Code has not been triggered and there are no circumstances which may now or in the 
future trigger the release of such Source Code; and 

(l) as of the date of this Agreement, a backlog of the Company and each 
Subsidiary’s customer engagements with an total contract value of greater than $100,000 is set forth on 
Section 3.9(l) of the Disclosure Letter (each such customer engagement, a “Backlog Customer 
Engagement”), reflecting for each Backlog Customer Engagement (A) the name of the customer; (B) 
the date of the contract between the customer and the Company or the Subsidiary; (C) the start date for 
implementation of the customer agreement; (D) the total contract value excluding set up and 
implementation fees; (E) the forecasted revenue for the calendar year 2019 excluding set up and 
implementation fees; (F) the term of the contract; (G) the products and services provided under the 
contract; and (H) a description of such customer engagement as either “new”, “add on” or “migration”. 
As of the date of this Agreement, the implementation of a Backlog Customer Engagement has not been 
canceled or materially delayed by either a customer or the Company. No customer listed on Section 
3.9(l) of the Disclosure Letter has, as of the date of this Agreement, requested or suggested a material 
delay in the start date for implementation of such Backlog Customer Engagement or sought to reduce 
the annual contract value, the setup or implementation fees, or the term of its contract with the 
Company or the relevant Subsidiary by more than $50,000. Each Backlog Customer Engagement is at a 
price and on terms (including margin) consistent with the Company’s ordinary course of business 
consistent with past practices. 

 Information Technology.   

(a) Each element of the Business IT is owned by the Company and its Subsidiaries 
or validly used under a written agreement with the consent of the owner;  

(b) The Business IT functions in accordance with the specifications in all material 
respects under which it has been supplied, and is sufficient to satisfy the current business requirements 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries; 

(c) (i) During the Relevant Period, there have been no failures, outages or,  to the 
Knowledge of the Company, security breaches of any Business IT, or, to the Knowledge of the 
Company any accidental or unauthorised disclosures of personal or confidential data held by the 
Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case, which have: (a) had (or are having) a material adverse 
effect on the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries (b) caused the loss, disclosure or corruption 
of any personal, confidential or customer data held by the Company and its Subsidiaries; or (c) caused 
the Company or its Subsidiaries to materially breach its obligations under any agreement; and (ii) to the 
Knowledge of the Company, there are no circumstances which is likely to give rise to such a failure, 
breakdown, breach or disclosure;  

(d) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has: (i) implemented Information 
Technology security measures, procedures and policies designed to protect the Business IT and any data 
held on such Business IT and prevent unauthorised access or the introduction of viruses or similar 
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destructive code, and (ii) has procedures in place to back up data and disaster recovery plans that are in 
accordance with current industry practice for commensurate businesses. 

 Data Protection 

(a) Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has: (i) during the Relevant Period 
materially complied, and complies, with the applicable Data Protection Legislation , and (ii) in place 
reasonably adequate internal policies and procedures designed to comply with its obligations under 
Data Protection Legislation; and 

(b) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has, during the Relevant Period, 
received or been subject to any written claim, complaint, notice, Order, proceedings,  public or, to the 
Knowledge of the Company, private, investigation or other correspondence by any Person or 
Governmental Authority alleging or resulting from an allegation that the Company or any Subsidiary 
has not complied with any Data Protection Legislation and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are 
no circumstances which might give rise to any such allegation being served, given or made. 

 Tax Matters.   

As of the date hereof: 

(a) The Company and its Subsidiaries (i) have properly completed and timely filed 
(taking into account any extensions of time in which to file) all Tax Returns required to be filed with 
any Taxing Authority by the Company and (ii) have paid all Taxes (whether or not shown on any Tax 
Return) required to be paid within the required time limits. All such Tax Returns were complete and 
accurate in all material respects and have been prepared in compliance with applicable Law.  Neither 
the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is currently the beneficiary of any extension of time within 
which to file any Tax Return. The Locked Box Accounts reflects all Liabilities for unpaid Taxes of the 
Company or its Subsidiaries for periods (or portions of periods) through the Locked Box Accounts.  
The Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with, and their records contain all information and 
documents necessary to comply with, all applicable information reporting under all applicable Tax 
Laws; 

(b) no deficiencies for any Taxes have been asserted in writing or assessed in 
writing, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, proposed, against the Company or its Subsidiaries, nor 
has the Company or its Subsidiaries executed any waiver of any statute of limitations on or extending 
the period for the assessment or collection of any Tax, and there are no Liens (other than Permitted 
Liens) on any of the assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries for Taxes; 

(c) no audit of any Tax Return of the Company or its Subsidiaries is presently in 
progress, nor has the Company or its Subsidiaries been notified in writing of any request for such an 
audit; 

(d) no action, suit, investigation, claim or assessment is pending or, to the 
Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing against the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect 
to Taxes for which the Company may be liable; 

(e) there are no Liens for Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable) upon 
any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; 

(f) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) has been a member of an 
affiliated, combined, consolidated or unitary group for purposes of filing Tax Returns (other than a 
group the common parent of which is the Company) or (ii) has any liability for Taxes of any person 
(other than the Company and any of its Subsidiaries) under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or 
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any similar provision of applicable state, local or non-U.S. Tax law), as a transferee or successor, by 
contract, or otherwise;  

(g) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or is bound by any 
Tax sharing agreement or arrangement (other than such an agreement or arrangement exclusively 
between or among the Company and its Subsidiaries), and none has any current or potential contractual 
obligation to indemnify any other Person with respect to Taxes; 

(h) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any 
item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, Taxable income for any Taxable period (or 
portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any (i) change in or use of an improper 
method of accounting for a Taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (ii) “closing 
agreement” as described in Code Section 7121 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local 
or non-U.S. law); (iii) deferred intercompany gain or any excess loss account described in Treasury 
Regulation under Code Section 1502 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or non-
U.S. law); (iv) installment sale made prior to the Closing Date; (v) prepaid amount or deferred revenue 
received on or prior to the Closing Date; or (vi) election under Code Section 108(i) (or any 
corresponding or similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. law); 

(i) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) was required to include any 
amounts in income as a result of the application of Section 965 of the Code; or (ii) has made any 
election under Section 965(h) or any other election or deferral; 

(j) no claim has been made by a Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction where the 
Company and its Subsidiaries do not pay Taxes or file Tax Returns asserting that the Company or its 
Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Taxes assessed by such jurisdiction and, to the Company’s 
Knowledge, there is no reasonable basis for any such claim; 

(k) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in a trade or 
business, had a permanent establishment (within the meaning of an applicable Tax treaty or convention 
between the United States or Israel and such foreign country), or otherwise been subject to taxation in 
any country other than the country of its formation and, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries are 
and have always been only tax resident in their country of incorporation; 

(l) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has been a party to a 
transaction or agreement that is in conflict with the Tax laws on transfer pricing in any relevant 
jurisdiction, and all arrangements between the Company and its Subsidiaries comply with all 
requirements (including documentary, retention and filing requirements) of any such applicable transfer 
pricing Laws; 

(m) each contract, arrangement, or plan of the Company and its Subsidiaries that is 
a ‘nonqualified deferred compensation plan’ (as defined for the purposes of Code Section 409A(d)(A)) 
is in documentary and operational compliance with Code Section 409A and the applicable guidance 
issued thereunder in all material respects;  

(n) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any indemnity obligation 
for any Taxes imposed under Section 4999 or 409A of the Code or Section 102 of the Ordinance; 

(o) there are no Tax rulings, outstanding requests for rulings (including any 
“taxation decision” (Hachlatat Misui) from the ITA) to which the Company or its Subsidiaries is party; 

(p) the Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance in all  respects with the 
terms, conditions and requirements of any Government Grants under which material benefits are 
expected to be obtained and have duly fulfilled in all material respects all the undertakings relating 
thereto; 
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(q) the Company and its Subsidiaries are not subject to any restrictions or 
limitations pursuant to Part E2 of the Income Tax Ordinance or pursuant to any Tax ruling made with 
reference to the provisions of such Part E2; 

(r) the Company and its Subsidiaries have complied in all respects with all 
applicable Laws relating to the payment and withholding of Taxes from payments made or deemed 
made to any Person and have duly and timely withheld and paid over to the appropriate Taxing 
Authority all amounts required to be so withheld and paid under all applicable Laws; 

(s) the Company does not and has never participated or engaged in any transaction 
listed in Section 131(g) of the Ordinance and the Israeli Income Tax Regulations (Reportable Tax 
Planning), 5767-2006 promulgated thereunder.  The Company does not and has never taken a tax 
position that is subject to reporting under Section 131E of the Ordinance.  The Company has never 
obtained a legal or tax opinion that is subject to reporting under Section 131D of the Ordinance; 

(t) the Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms, conditions 
and requirements of the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investment, 5719-1959 (the 
“Investments Law”) and of the Approval Confirmations (kitvei ishur), to the extent applicable, issued 
to the Company and its Subsidiaries pursuant thereto; and 

(u) the Company and its Israeli Subsidiaries are duly registered for the purposes of 
Israeli Value Added Tax (“VAT”) and have complied with all requirements concerning VAT and have 
not made any exempt transactions (as defined in the Israel Value Added Tax Law of 1975) and, to the 
Knowledge of the Company, there are no circumstances by reason of which there might not be an 
entitlement to full credit of all VAT chargeable or paid on inputs, supplies, and other transactions and 
imports made by any of them. 

 Employee Plans.   

(a) Section 3.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and 
accurate list of each  Employee Plan. 

(b) Each Employee Plan has, during the Relevant Period, been maintained, 
operated and administered in compliance with its terms and with applicable Law in all material respects.  
All contributions, premiums or other payments that are due have been paid on a timely basis with 
respect to each Employee Plan. 

(c) Neither the execution or delivery by the Company of this Agreement nor the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will (i) result in any payment or 
benefit becoming due or payable, or required to be provided, to any current or former director, 
employee or independent contractor of the Company or the Company Subsidiary of more than $25,000, 
(ii)  increase the amount or value of any benefit or compensation otherwise payable or required to be 
provided to any such current or former director, employee or independent contractor by more than 
$25,000, (iii) result in the forfeiture, acceleration of the time of payment, vesting or funding of any such 
benefit or compensation, or (iv) result in the payment of any “excess parachute payment” within the 
meaning of Section 280G of the Code. 

(d) Each arrangement subject to Section 409A of the Code or 102 of the Ordinance 
(if any) is in compliance in all material respects therewith such that no Taxes or interest will be due and 
owing after the Closing in respect of such arrangement failing to be in compliance therewith. 

(e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any obligation to “gross-
up” or otherwise indemnify any individual for the imposition of the excise tax under Section 4999 of 
the Code or under Section 409A of the Code. 
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(f) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries sponsors, has sponsored or has 
any obligation with respect to any employee benefit plan that provides for (i) any postemployment or 
post-retirement health or medical or life insurance benefits for retired or former employees or 
beneficiaries or dependents thereof, except as required by Section 4980B of the Code or other 
applicable Law, or (ii) final average pay or other defined benefit pension benefits. 

(g) There has been no material change to the compensation, benefits or other 
employment terms and conditions of any employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries since 31 
December 31, 2018 other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice that 
resulted in additional material Liabilities to the Company. 

(h) The Company’s or its applicable Subsidiaries’ obligations to provide severance 
pay to its Israeli employees and vacation and any contributions to pension arrangements and provident 
funds have been fully funded, or if not required under any applicable Law or Contract to be fully 
funded, are fully accrued on the Company’s Financial Statements (including with regard to any period 
of employment with a previous employer in the case of employees who transferred to the employment 
of the Company with continuity of entitlements), in each case, other than immaterial amounts. 

(i) Each Employee Plan that is intended to meet the requirements of a “qualified 
plan” under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal 
Revenue Service to the effect that such Employee Plan meets the requirements of Section 401(a) of the 
Code and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred and no condition exists with 
respect to the form or operation of such Employee Plan which would reasonably be expected to cause 
the loss of such qualification or exemption or the imposition of any material liability, penalty or tax 
under ERISA or the Code. 

(j) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries maintains, sponsors, 
contributes to or has any liability with respect to, (i) any plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA or (ii) 
any “multiemployer plan” (as such term is defined under Section 3(37) of ERISA), including as a 
consequence of at any time being considered a single employer under Section 414 of the Code with any 
other Person. 

(k) There do not exist any pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, 
threatened claims (other than routine undisputed claims for benefits), suits, actions, disputes, audits or 
investigations with respect to any Employee Plan. 

 Labor Matters.   

(a) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, subject to, or 
bound by any collective bargaining agreement, labor union contract, trade union agreement, or similar 
Contract with any labor organization, labor union, trade union, works council or similar body (each, a 
“Collective Bargaining Agreement”) or any extension order, except for extension orders applicable to 
all employees in Israel or applicable to the field of business of the Company.  

(b) No Collective Bargaining Agreement is being negotiated by the Company or 
any of its Subsidiaries, and to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no and, during the Relevant 
Period, there have been no activities, proceedings or efforts of any labor or trade union, labor 
organization, works council or similar body to organize any employees of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries and there is no and, during the Relevant Period, there has been no pending or to the 
Knowledge of the Company, threatened demand for recognition from any collective bargaining 
representative, labor union, labor organization, trade unions, works council or similar body with respect 
to any of the employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 



 

- 33 - 

 

 

(c) There is not, and during the Relevant Period there has not been, any pending or 
to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened strike, lockout, slowdown, work stoppage, picket, or 
other material labor dispute against or affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. 

(d) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has, during the Relevant Period, 
complied in all material respects and is in material compliance with all labor-and-employment related 
Laws and Orders including provisions thereof related to wage and hour, discrimination, employee 
health and safety, obligations to provide statutory severance pay under the Israeli Severance Pay Law 
1963 and vacation pursuant to the Israeli Annual Leave Law 1951), employment practices, terms and 
conditions of employment, retaliation, harassment, sexual harassment, visa employees, paid time off, 
employment leaves, contingent workers, equal pay, immigration, employee classification, independent 
contractors, labor relations, and unions.  To the Knowledge of the Company, all individuals who are 
providing or within the past two (2) years have provided services to the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries and who are or were classified and treated as independent contractors or other non-
employee service providers are and for the past two (2) years have been properly classified and treated 
as such.  Except as would not result in any material Liabilities for the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has paid all wages, salaries, bonuses, 
commissions, wage premiums, fees, expense reimbursement, severance, and other compensation that 
has come due and payable to its employees, consultants, independent contractors, and other individual 
service providers pursuant to any Law, Order, Contract, or policy of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries.  During the Relevant Period, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has 
implemented any plant closing or mass layoff implicating the Worker Adjustment and Retraining 
Notification Act or similar foreign, national, state or local Law or Order (“WARN”), nor are any such 
actions contemplated, planned, or announced.  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any 
outstanding liability under WARN.  Section 3.23(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth by date 
and location all employees terminated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries within the ninety (90) 
days preceding the Closing. 

(e) The Company (i) has withheld all amounts required by applicable Law or 
Contract to be withheld from the wages, salaries, fees and other payments and compensation to 
employees, independent contractors, consultants or other individual service providers and (ii) to the 
Knowledge of the Company is not, liable for any arrears of wages, fees, other compensation or any 
taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing. 

 Compliance with Laws; International Trade and Anti-Corruption.    

(a) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has, during the Relevant Period, 
complied and is in compliance with (i) all Laws and Orders (including all Laws related to the protection 
of personal information); and (ii) with all material permits, licenses, authorizations, consents, approvals 
and franchises from Governmental Authorities required to conduct their businesses as currently 
conducted (“Permits”), and is not aware of any allegation of non-compliance with any such Law, Order 
or Permit.  The Company and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each of its directors, managers, 
officers, employees, independent contractors, consultants and agents have complied, during the 
Relevant Period, and are in compliance with all Orders promulgated or issued by any Governmental 
Authority related to the Company.  

(b) The Company and its Subsidiaries have all material Permits necessary for the 
conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, except for such 
failure to have such Permits that has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually 
or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.  The Company and its employees have 
fulfilled and performed in all material respects their respective obligations under each such Permit and, 
to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred or condition or state of facts exists which 
constitutes or, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a material breach or default under 
any such permit or license.   
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(c) Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the 
Company, any of their respective officers, directors or employees, any agent or other third party 
representative acting on behalf of any Company or any Subsidiary, (a) is currently, or has been in the 
Relevant Period: (i) a Sanctioned Person or located, resident, or organized in a Sanctioned Country; (ii) 
carrying on, facilitating or otherwise engaging in any business, dealings or transactions with any 
Sanctioned Person or in any Sanctioned Country, or (iii) in violation of applicable Trade Controls; or 
(b) has at any time (i) made or accepted any unlawful payment or given, offered, promised, or 
authorized or agreed to give or received, or agreed to receive, any money, advantage or thing of value, 
directly or indirectly, to or from any Governmental Official or other Person in violation of Anti-
Corruption Laws; or (ii) otherwise been in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws.  In the Relevant 
Period, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has, in each case concerning any actual or potential 
violation or wrongdoing related to Trade Controls or Anti-Corruption Laws, received from any 
Governmental Authority or any other Person any written notice, inquiry, or internal or external 
allegation, made any voluntary or involuntary disclosure to a Governmental Authority, or, to the 
Knowledge of the Company, conducted any internal investigation or audit. 

 Regulatory Matters.  During the Relevant Period, the Company and its 
Subsidiaries have filed with the applicable regulatory authorities all required material filings, 
declarations, listings, registrations, reports or submissions.  All such filings, declarations, listings, 
registrations, reports or submissions were in material compliance with applicable Laws when filed, 
and, during the Relevant Period, no deficiencies have been asserted in writing by any applicable 
Governmental Authority to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any such filings, 
declarations, listing, registrations, reports or submissions. 

 Insurance.  Section 3.26 of the Company Disclosure Letter lists and briefly 
describes each insurance policy maintained by the Company and its Subsidiaries during the Relevant 
Period. All premiums due and payable under each such policy have been paid, such policies are in full 
force and effect, no notice of cancellation has been received by the Company or its Subsidiaries 
during the Relevant Period with respect to such policies (other than in connection with ordinary 
renewals), and there is no existing default or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or 
both, would reasonably constitute a default, by any insured thereunder. To the Knowledge of the 
Company, there has been no threatened premium increase of more than $20,000 with respect to any 
such policies. During the Relevant Period, there have been no claims by the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries under any such policies as to which coverage has been denied by the underwriters 
thereof.  During the Relevant Period, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has had a claim 
which could be expected to cause a material increase in the rates of insurance for the Company and its 
Subsidiaries. 

 Brokers.  There are no claims for brokerage commissions, finders’ fees or 
similar compensation in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any 
other document contemplated hereby based on any contract to which the Company is a party or that is 
otherwise binding upon the Company. 

 Anti-Takeover Statutes.  Neither the Company nor any of the Company’s 
Subsidiaries is bound by or has in effect any “poison pill” or similar shareholder rights plan. 

 Product Liability.  Each product developed, sold, leased, licensed, or provided 
by the Company and the Subsidiaries and each service performed by the Company has been in 
material conformity with all applicable contractual commitments and all express and implied 
warranties, and the Company and the Subsidiaries have no material liability for replacement or repair 
thereof or other damages in connection therewith arising out of ownership and operation of the IT 
Business or the Company prior to Closing.  Neither any product developed, sold, leased, licensed, or 
provided nor any service performed by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is subject to any 
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guaranty, warranty, or other indemnity beyond the applicable standard terms and conditions of sale, 
service or license. 

 Related Party Transactions.  Except as set out in Section 3.28 of the Company 
Disclosure Letter and for employment-related Contracts or Employee Plans, as of the date hereof 
there are no Contracts, and during the Relevant Period, there have not been any Contracts, 
arrangements or transactions, between or among the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one 
hand, and, on the other hand, any (a) executive officer, director, or equityholder of the Company or 
any of its Subsidiaries or (b) any Affiliate or relative of any of the foregoing Persons.  

 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB 

As of the date hereof and as of the Closing, Parent and Merger Sub hereby represent and 
warrant to the Company as follows: 

 Organization; Good Standing and Qualification.  Each of Parent 
and Merger Sub is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and (to the extent such concept is 
applicable) in good standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization. All of the 
issued and outstanding capital stock of Merger Sub is owned directly by Parent or a wholly owned 
Subsidiary of Parent. 

 Corporate Power; Enforceability.  Each of Parent and Merger Sub 
has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform their 
respective covenants and obligations hereunder and, subject to the filing and recordation of 
appropriate merger documents as required by the ICL, to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereby.  The execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement, the performance by 
Parent and Merger Sub of their respective covenants and obligations hereunder and the consummation 
by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate or other action on the part of Parent and Merger Sub, and no other corporate or 
other proceeding on the part of Parent or Merger Sub is necessary to authorize the execution and 
delivery by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement, the performance by Parent and Merger Sub of 
their respective covenants and obligations hereunder or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub 
of the transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
each of Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the 
Company, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable 
against each in accordance with its terms. The board of directors of Merger Sub has unanimously: 
(i) determined that the Merger is fair to, and in the best interest of, Merger Sub and its shareholder, 
and that, considering the financial position of the merging companies, no reasonable concern exists 
that the Surviving Company will be unable to fulfill the obligations of Merger Sub to its creditors as a 
result of the Merger, (ii) approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions 
contemplated herby, and (iii) resolved to recommend that the sole shareholder of Merger Sub approve 
this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, pursuant to the terms 
hereof (which approval has been obtained simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement).  No 
vote of the holders of any of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Parent is necessary 
to approve and adopt this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  The 
adoption of this Agreement by Parent as the sole shareholder of Merger Sub is the only vote or 
consent of the holders of any class or series of capital stock of Merger Sub necessary to approve this 
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger. 

 Non-Contravention.  The execution and delivery by Parent and 
Merger Sub of this Agreement do not, and the performance by Parent and Merger Sub of their 
respective obligations hereunder will not, (a) violate or conflict with any provision of the articles of 
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incorporation or bylaws or other organizational documents of Parent or the articles of association of 
Merger Sub, and (b), assuming the Approvals referred to in Section 3.4 are obtained or made, violate 
or conflict with any Law or Order applicable to Parent or Merger Sub. 

 Authorization of Transaction.  The execution, delivery and 
performance by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement and each other agreement, document or 
instrument or certificate contemplated hereby to which Parent and Merger Sub is a party and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly 
authorized by all requisite action, and no other act or proceeding on the part of Parent and Merger 
Sub, either of this boards of directors or managers or equityholders, as applicable, is necessary to 
authorize the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or each other agreement, 
document or instrument or certificate contemplated hereby and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby or thereby.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and 
Merger Sub and this Agreement constitutes, and each other agreement, document or instrument or 
certificate contemplated hereby upon execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub will each 
constitute, a valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub enforceable in accordance with 
their terms, except as limited by (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium 
and other laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditors’ rights generally, and (ii) 
Laws relating to the availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies. 

 Required Governmental Approvals.  No Approval of any 
Governmental Authority is required on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Subsidiaries in 
connection with the execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement, the 
performance by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective covenants and obligations hereunder and 
the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby, other than 
(a) the filing of the Merger Proposal and Merger Notification with the Companies Registrar and all 
such other notices or filings required under the ICL with respect to the consummation of the Merger 
and the issuance of the Certificate of Merger by the Companies Registrar, and (b) the filings and other 
Approvals as may be required under the Exchange Act or any other similar Law. 

 Litigation.  There is no Legal Proceeding or, to the Knowledge of 
Parent, any investigation, pending against or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened against Parent or 
any Subsidiary thereof, and there is no Order, whether civil, criminal or administrative, outstanding 
against Parent or any Subsidiary thereof. 

 Adequacy of Funds.  Parent will have available to it upon the 
consummation of the Merger either cash in immediately available funds and/or the ability to access an 
existing credit facility to an extent sufficient  to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, 
including payment in full of the aggregate Merger Consideration payable pursuant to this Agreement. 

 No Other Representations or Warranties.  Except for the 
representations and warranties expressly set forth in ARTICLE III or in any closing certificate 
delivered by the Company, Parent and Merger Sub hereby acknowledge and agree that (a) neither the 
Company, its Subsidiaries, their respective Representatives or any other Person on behalf of the 
Company has made or is making any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect 
to the Company and its Subsidiaries or their respective business or operations, including with respect 
to any information provided or made available to Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective 
Representatives, whether prior to or after the date hereof. 
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COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY  

 Interim Conduct of Business.  

(a) Except (i) as contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) required by applicable Law, 
(iii) as approved in writing in advance by Parent or (iv) as set forth in Section 5.1 of the Company 
Disclosure Letter, at all times during the period commencing with the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement and continuing until the earlier to occur of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to 
ARTICLE VII and the Effective Time, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall carry on its 
business in the usual and ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice, in all material 
respects and, to the extent consistent with past practice use its commercially reasonable efforts to 
preserve in all material respects its business organization intact, and preserve the current relationships 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries with Persons with whom the Company or its Subsidiaries have 
significant business relations and keep available the services of the present Key Employees in all 
material respects. 

(b) Without derogating from the foregoing, except (i) as contemplated by this 
Agreement, (ii) required by applicable Law, or (iii)  as approved in writing in advance by Parent (such 
approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), or (iv) as set forth in Section 5.1 of 
the Company Disclosure Letter, at all times until the earlier to occur of the termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to ARTICLE VII and the Effective Time, the Company shall not do any of the 
following and shall not permit its Subsidiaries to do any of the following, in each case directly or 
indirectly: 

(i) amend the Charter Documents or any other governing or 
organizational documents of the Company or of any of the Subsidiaries of the Company, or enter into 
any agreement with respect to voting or registration of its capital stock or other equity interests; 

(ii) issue, sell, deliver or agree or commit to issue, sell or deliver 
(whether through the issuance or granting of options, warrants, commitments, subscriptions, rights to 
purchase or otherwise) any Company Securities or any securities of its Subsidiaries; 

(iii) directly or indirectly acquire, repurchase, redeem or otherwise 
acquire any Company Securities or any securities of its Subsidiaries (except as described in Section 
5.7); 

(iv) (A) split, combine, subdivide or reclassify any share capital or 
(B) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, shares or property or 
any combination thereof) in respect of any of its share capital, or make any other actual, constructive 
or deemed distribution in respect of the share capital, except for cash dividends made by the 
Company’s wholly owned Subsidiaries to the Company; 

(v) completely or partially liquidate the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries or adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, recapitalization, 
restructuring or other reorganization with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or merge 
or consolidate with any Person; 

(vi) (A) incur or assume any Indebtedness or guarantee any Indebtedness 
of another Person or issue any debt securities, except for (1) Indebtedness incurred in the ordinary 
course of business in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100,000, (2) loans, advances or guarantees 
between the Company and its Subsidiaries and (3) Indebtedness arising in relation to the Unfunded 
Provident Fund Obligations, if and to the extent such Indebtedness arises pursuant to contract or 
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automatically by lapse of time or operation of law, without requiring any exercise of discretion by the 
Company, (B) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to or investments in any other Person 
(other than to the Company’s Subsidiaries), except for business expense advances to Company 
directors or employees in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (C) mortgage 
or pledge any of its assets, tangible or intangible (including Owned Intellectual Property Rights or 
rights under Licensed Intellectual Property Rights) or (D) create any Lien thereupon (other than 
Permitted Liens or Liens granted in connection with the incurrence of any Indebtedness permitted 
under this Section 5.1(b)(vi)); 

(vii) except as required by applicable Law, (A) enter into, adopt, amend in 
any respect (including acceleration of vesting) or terminate any bonus, profit sharing, incentive, 
compensation, severance, retention, termination, option, appreciation right, performance unit, stock 
equivalent, share purchase agreement, pension, retirement, deferred compensation, employment, 
severance or other employee benefit agreement, trust, plan, fund or other arrangement for the 
compensation, benefit or welfare of any director, officer or employee in any manner, except for, in the 
event of termination of an employee pursuant to clause (D), termination of such employee’s 
employment agreement and removal of such employee from benefits plans in connection therewith, 
(B) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, make any increases to the 
compensation payable or to become payable to the Company’s (or any Subsidiary’s) directors, 
officers or employees, or to pay or agree to pay any bonus or special remuneration to the Company’s 
(or any Subsidiary’s) directors, officers or employees, or pay or agree to pay any payment or benefit 
not required by any Employee Plan as in effect as of the date hereof, in excess of in the aggregate 
$50,000 (C) take any action to accelerate the vesting or payment, or fund or in any way secure, the 
payment of compensation or benefits under any Employee Plan, to the extent not already provided in 
such Employee Plan, (D) terminate the employment of any employee of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries, except that employees may be terminated in the ordinary course of business consistent 
with past practice, or (E) hire any individual as an employee of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries, except that employees (other than officers or members of management) may be hired in 
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and on terms consistent with the terms of 
similarly situated employees, provided that (1) the total employee headcount of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries does not exceed 62, and (2) any agreement entered into with a newly hired employee will 
not include a notice period longer than the notice period of employees of the same/equivalent grade 
already working at the Company or its Subsidiaries as at the date of this Agreement, and will not 
include (i) severance in excess of that required by applicable Law, (ii) any equity awards or (iii) bonus 
target or guaranteed bonus, or any retention or other special compensation that is not consistent with 
past practice; 

(viii) except as may be required as a result of a change in applicable Law 
or in GAAP, make any material change in any of the accounting principles or practices used by it; 

(ix) make or agree to make any new capital expenditure or other 
expenditures with respect to property, plant or equipment, except for capital expenditures in the 
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice to the extent included in (and in accordance 
with) the Company’s annual expense budget provided to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement, 
which budget shall remain in effect for purposes of this Section 5.1(b)(ix) until the Closing; 

(x) (A) acquire or agree to acquire (by merger, consolidation or 
acquisition of stock, assets, rights or by any other manner), or invest in, any business (or portion 
thereof) or other Person or any equity interest therein or other assets or rights for consideration (or any 
other form of payment) in excess of $50,000 in the aggregate, except for purchases of inventory, 
services or supplies in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or other 
immaterial assets to extent otherwise expressly contemplated pursuant to Contracts in effect as of the 
date hereof and made available to Parent prior to the date hereof, or (B) other than sales of inventory 
in the ordinary course consistent with past practice, sell, lease (as lessor), license or otherwise dispose 
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of or subject to any Lien any properties or assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries, which are either 
material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or for consideration in excess of 
$50,000 in the aggregate; 

(xi) sell, lease, license or otherwise transfer or dispose of, abandon or 
permit to lapse, or fail to take any action necessary to maintain any Owned Intellectual Property Right 
or right under any Licensed Intellectual Property Right; 

(xii) settle any Legal Proceedings, other than the settlement of any Legal 
Proceeding (but not criminal or regulatory proceeding) in the ordinary course of business, consistent 
with past practice, that solely require payments by the Company in an amount not to exceed, 
individually or in the aggregate, $75,000, and does not involve any admission of wrongdoing or 
injunctive or other equitable relief; 

(xiii) other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past 
practice with respect to Material Contracts defined as such, or in the ordinary course of business 
consistent with past practice with respect to Contracts which would be Material Contracts, in each 
case pursuant to Section 3.12, (A) enter into any new Contract (including by amendment of any 
Contract such that such Contract becomes a Material Contract) that would have been a Material 
Contract if it were entered into prior to the date hereof, (B) terminate any Material Contract, 
(C) amend or modify in any material respect any Material Contract or (D) waive, release or assign any 
material rights, claims or benefits of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any Material 
Contract; 

(xiv) make or change any material Tax election, or adopt or change any 
material accounting method in respect of Taxes, or settle or finally resolve any Tax contest with 
respect to a material amount of Tax, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period 
applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes; 

(xv) form or join any joint venture or similar arrangement; or 

(xvi) authorize any of, or commit or agree, in writing or otherwise, to take 
any of, the foregoing actions. 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement is intended to give 
Parent, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the business or operations of the Company or 
its Subsidiaries at any time prior to the Effective Time.  Prior to the Effective Time, the Company and 
its Subsidiaries shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete 
control and supervision over their own business and operations. 

(d) All notices, request for consents and other communications pursuant to this 
Section 5.1 shall be in writing and delivered in accordance with Section 8.1 and shall be sent by or to, 
as the case may be, the respective point of contact of the Company and/or Parent as detailed in Section 
5.1 of the Company Disclosure Letter. 

 No Solicitation.  

(a) The Company (and the Company shall cause its Subsidiaries and its and their 
respective directors and officers to) shall use reasonable endeavors to cause its and their respective 
other Representatives to (x) immediately cease any and all existing discussions or negotiations with any 
Persons conducted heretofore with respect to any Acquisition Proposal and (y) as soon as reasonably 
practicable after the date hereof demand the return or destruction of all confidential, non-public 
information and materials that have been provided to third parties relating to a possible Acquisition 
Proposal. 
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(b) At all times during the period commencing with the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and continuing until the earlier to occur of the termination of this Agreement pursuant 
to Article VIII and the Effective Time, the Company shall not (and the Company shall cause its 
Subsidiaries and its and their respective directors and officers not to) and shall use reasonable best 
efforts to cause its and their respective other Representatives not to, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, 
initiate, knowingly encourage, or knowingly facilitate any inquiry or the making of any proposal or 
offer that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal, (ii) other than 
with Parent, Merger Sub or their respective Representatives and other than, in response to an unsolicited 
Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a breach of this Section 5.2, solely to inform any Person of 
the provisions of this Section 5.2, enter into, continue or otherwise participate in any discussions or 
negotiations regarding, or furnish to any Person any non-public information in connection with, any 
Acquisition Proposal or any inquiry, proposal or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an 
Acquisition Proposal, (iii) approve, execute, enter into, or propose to approve, execute or enter into, any 
letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement, merger 
agreement or similar agreement (A) relating to or that could reasonably be expected to lead to any 
Acquisition Proposal or (B) requiring it to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the Merger and the 
other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (iv) grant any waiver or release under any 
standstill, confidentiality or other similar agreement. 

 Company Board Recommendation.  

(a) Without derogating from any fiduciary or other legal obligation of any board 
member under applicable Law, neither the Company Board nor any committee thereof shall 
(i) withhold, withdraw, amend, qualify, modify, or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, amend, 
qualify or modify, the Company Board Recommendation, (ii) adopt a resolution to approve or 
recommend or propose publicly to approve or recommend any Acquisition Proposal, (iii) if any tender 
offer or exchange offer that constitutes an Acquisition Proposal is commenced, recommend in favor of 
such Acquisition Proposal, or (iv) at any time after receipt or public announcement of an Acquisition 
Proposal, fail to publicly recommend against such Acquisition Proposal or fail to publicly reaffirm the 
Company Board Recommendation, in each case other than with Parent’s written consent. 

 Access.  

(a) At all times during the period commencing with the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and continuing until the earlier to occur of the termination of this Agreement pursuant 
to ARTICLE VII and the Effective Time, upon reasonable prior notice and subject to applicable Law, 
the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, afford Parent and its authorized Representatives 
reasonable access during normal business hours and without unreasonable disruption of normal 
business activity during the period prior to the Effective Time to the properties, books and records and 
personnel of the Company; provided, however, that the Company may restrict or otherwise prohibit 
access to (i) any documents or information to the extent that any applicable Law requires the Company 
to restrict or otherwise prohibit access to such documents or information, (ii) any documents or 
information that, in the reasonable judgment of the Company, would result in the loss of attorney-client 
privilege, work product doctrine or other applicable privilege applicable to such documents or 
information, (iii) any information that would result in a breach of a Contract to which the Company or 
its Subsidiaries are a party or otherwise bound or would violate or cause a default under, or give a third 
party the right to terminate or accelerate the rights under, such Contract (iv) any information that is 
reasonably pertinent to any litigation in which the Company or its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and 
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, are adverse parties; provided, however, that in the 
case of clauses (i) through and (v), the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain 
any required consents to provide such access, inspections, data or other information and take such other 
action (such as the redaction of identifying or confidential or competitively sensitive information, entry 
into a joint defense agreement or other agreement or by providing such access, inspections, data or other 
information solely to outside counsel to avoid the loss of any privilege or otherwise mitigate any of the 
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matters set forth in any of the clauses (i) through (v)) as is necessary to provide such access, 
inspections, data or other information to Parent and its Representatives in compliance with applicable 
Law, and otherwise the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to institute appropriate substitute 
disclosure arrangements, to the extent practicable in the circumstances, and subject in each case to the 
provisions of the relevant Contract; Any investigation conducted pursuant to the access contemplated 
by this Section 5.4 shall be conducted in a manner that does not unreasonably interfere with the conduct 
of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries or create a risk of damage or destruction to any 
property or assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
Parent shall give the Company at least three (3) Business Days’ prior written notice. 

(b) Parent agrees that during the Buyer Restricted Period, it shall not, and shall 
cause its Affiliates not to employ or engage the services (whether as an employee, consultant, agent, 
independent contractor or otherwise) any employee employed by the Company or any Subsidiary 
during the Buyer Restricted Period, without the prior written consent of the Company; provided, 
however, that this Section 5.2(b) shall not prohibit Parent or any of its Affiliates from (x) conducting 
any general solicitations, including in a newspaper, trade publication or other periodical or web posting 
not specifically targeted at any Person employed by the Company, or (y) participating in job fairs, 
career fairs or similar recruiting events. The term “indirectly” as used in this Section 5.4(b) is intended 
to mean any acts authorized or directed by or on behalf of Parent or any Person controlled by Parent. 

 Director Resignation.  Prior to the Closing, except as otherwise may be 
directed by Parent in writing, the Company shall obtain resignation letters from each of the members 
of the board of directors of the Company and its Subsidiaries as requested by the Parent, in each case 
with the resignation to be effective as of the Effective Time and in each case in the form set out in 
Exhibit B. 

 Certain Litigation.  The Company shall promptly advise Parent of any Legal 
Proceedings commenced after the date hereof or threatened against the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors or officers (in their capacity as such) by any Company 
Shareholders (on their own behalf or on behalf of the Company) (other than with respect to any such 
Legal Proceeding commenced or threatened or joined by Parent or any of its Affiliates), before any 
court or other Governmental Authority, relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated 
hereby, and each party hereto shall keep the other parties hereto reasonably informed regarding any 
such litigation.  The Company shall give Parent the opportunity to consult with the Company and its 
counsel regarding the defense or settlement of any such shareholder litigation and shall consider in 
good faith Parent’s and its counsel’s views with respect to such shareholder litigation; provided that, 
to the extent permissible under applicable Law, Parent shall also have the right to participate (but not 
control) in the defense of any such Legal Proceedings and, notwithstanding anything in this 
Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not settle, or permit to be settled, any such litigation 
without the prior written consent of Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned 
or delayed). 

 Acquisition of Subsidiary Shares.  The Company shall, within five (5) 
Business Days of the date of this Agreement, deliver a letter to Trevor Veary pursuant to which the 
Company shall offer to acquire his entire shareholding in MS Modernization.  Thereafter the 
Company shall continue to pursue the acquisition of such shareholding, and shall use best efforts to 
ensure such acquisition is completed prior to the Closing Date. The Company shall take all necessary 
steps to acquire such shareholding, including, but not limited to by way of a merger. 

 Leakage Notification. The Company shall use its best efforts to promptly 
notify Parent upon becoming aware of the occurrence of any Leakage (as defined in the Unilateral 
Shareholder Undertaking). 

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF ALL PARTIES 
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 Best Efforts to Complete.  

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, each 
of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall use its best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all 
actions, and to do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other party or parties hereto 
in doing, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law or otherwise to 
consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including using 
reasonable best efforts to: (i) cause the conditions set forth in ARTICLE VI to be satisfied; (ii) obtain all 
necessary actions or Approvals from Governmental Authorities and make all necessary registrations, 
declarations and filings with Governmental Authorities that are necessary to consummate the Merger 
and the transactions contemplated hereby; and (iii) execute and deliver any additional instruments 
necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to fully carry out the purposes of 
this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, none of Parent, Merger Sub or the 
Company shall be required to pay any consent or other similar fee, “profit sharing” or other similar 
payment or other consideration (including increased rent or other similar payments or any amendments, 
supplements or other modifications to (or waivers of) the existing terms of any Contract), or the 
provision of additional security (including a guaranty) to obtain the consent, waiver or approval of any 
Person under any Contract. 

(b) Upon the request of Parent, the Company shall use best efforts to make 
available to Parent access to Key Employees, on reasonable notice and at reasonable times, for the 
purpose of discussing post-closing employment and/or retention arrangements between the Company or 
Parent and such key employees. 

 Company Shareholders Meeting. 

(a) As soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement but in 
no event later than the tenth (10th) Business Day after the date hereof, the Company shall (i) establish a 
record date for, duly call, give notice of and, as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter in conformity 
with this Section 5.10, convene a special meeting of its shareholders, and a special meeting of the 
holders of each class of the outstanding Company Shares (the “Company Shareholders Meeting”) for 
the purpose of obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval, and (ii) publish the notice of the 
Company Shareholders Meeting as required under applicable Law. The Company shall otherwise 
comply with the notice requirements applicable to the Company in respect of the Company 
Shareholders Meeting pursuant to applicable Law and the Charter Documents.  Unless this Agreement 
is terminated pursuant to ARTICLE VII or as Parent and the Company may otherwise agree in writing, 
the Company Shareholders Meeting shall be held no later than 35 days after the publication of the 
notices regarding the Company Shareholders Meeting.  The Company shall include the Company Board 
Recommendation.  

(b) The Company shall, through the Company Board, use reasonable best efforts to 
solicit from the Company Shareholders approval of this Agreement and the Merger. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Company may adjourn or postpone the Company Shareholders Meeting as and to the 
extent required by applicable Law. 

 Merger Proposal; Certificate of Merger.  

(a) Subject to the ICL and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as promptly as 
practicable following the date hereof the Company and Merger Sub, as applicable, shall take the 
following actions within the timeframes set forth herein; provided, however, that any such actions or the 
timeframe for taking such action shall be subject to any amendment in the applicable provisions of the 
ICL and the regulations promulgated thereunder (and in case of an amendment thereto, such 
amendment shall automatically apply so as to amend this Section 5.11(a) accordingly): (a) cause a 
merger proposal (in the Hebrew language) in a form reasonably acceptable to the parties hereto (the 
“Merger Proposal”) to be executed in accordance with Section 316 of the ICL, (b) deliver the Merger 
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Proposal to the Companies Registrar within three (3) days from the calling of the Company 
Shareholders Meeting, (c) the Company shall cause a copy of the Merger Proposal to be delivered to its 
secured creditors, if any, no later than three (3) days after the date on which the Merger Proposal is 
delivered to the Companies Registrar, (d) promptly after the Company shall have complied with the 
preceding sentence and with clauses (i) and (ii) of this Section 5.11(a), but in any event no more than 
three (3) days following the date on which such notice was sent to the creditors, the Company and 
Merger Sub shall inform the Companies Registrar, in accordance with Section 317(b) of the ICL, that 
notice was given to their respective creditors, if any, under Section 318 of the ICL (and regulations 
promulgated thereunder), (e) each of the Company and, if applicable, Merger Sub, shall:  (i) publish a 
notice to its creditors, stating that a Merger Proposal was submitted to the Companies Registrar and that 
the creditors may review the Merger Proposal at the office of the Companies Registrar, the Company’s 
registered office or Merger Sub’s registered offices, as applicable, and at such other locations as the 
Company or Merger Sub, as applicable, may determine, in (A) two daily Hebrew newspapers, on the 
day that the Merger Proposal is submitted to the Companies Registrar, (B) in a popular newspaper in 
Washington State as may be required by applicable Law; (ii) within four (4) business days from the date 
of submitting the Merger Proposal to the Companies Registrar, send a notice by registered mail to all of 
the “Substantial Creditors” (as such term is defined in the regulations promulgated under the ICL) that 
the Company or Merger Sub, as applicable, is aware of, in which it shall state that a Merger Proposal 
was submitted to the Companies Registrar and that the creditors may review the Merger Proposal at 
such additional locations, if such locations were determined in the notice referred to in the immediately 
preceding clause (i); and (iii) display in a prominent place at the Company’s premises a copy of the 
notice published in a daily Hebrew newspaper (as referred to in clause (i)(A) of this Section 5.11(a)) to 
the extent so required under applicable Law, no later than three (3) business days following the day on 
which the Merger Proposal was submitted to the Companies Registrar, (f) not later than three (3) days 
after the date on which the Company Shareholder Approval is received, the Company shall (in 
accordance with Section 317(b) of ICL and the regulations thereunder) inform the Companies Registrar 
of such approval, and (g) in accordance with the customary practice of the Companies Registrar, the 
Company and Merger Sub shall request, following coordination with Merger Sub, that the Companies 
Registrar declare the Merger effective and issue the Certificate of Merger upon such date as the 
Company and Merger Sub shall advise the Companies Registrar.  For the avoidance of doubt, and 
notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, it is the intention of the parties that the 
Merger shall be declared effective and the Certificate of Merger shall be issued on the Closing Date, as 
a condition to the Closing taking place. For purposes of this Section 5.11(a), “business day” shall have 
the meaning set forth in the Merger Regulations 5760-2000 promulgated under the ICL. 

(b) The sole shareholder of Merger Sub has approved the Merger subject to the 
satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted hereunder) of all the conditions to Closing.  No later than 
three days after the date of such approval, Merger Sub shall (in accordance with Section 317(b) of the 
ICL and the regulations thereunder) inform the Companies Registrar of such approval. 

 Public Statements and Disclosure.  None of the Company, on the one hand, 
or Parent and Merger Sub, on the other hand, shall issue any public release or make any public 
announcement or public disclosure concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other (which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except (x) as such release or announcement may be 
required by applicable Law or the rules or regulations of any applicable securities exchange or 
regulatory or Governmental Authority to which the relevant party, or an Affiliate thereof, is subject or 
submits, wherever situated, in which case the party required to make the release or announcement 
shall use commercial reasonable efforts to allow the other party or parties hereto reasonable time to 
comment on such release or announcement in advance of such issuance (it being understood that, to 
the extent so required by such applicable Law, rules, regulations, exchange or authority, the final form 
and content of any such release or announcement, as well as the timing of any such release or 
announcement, shall be at the final discretion of the disclosing party) and (y) each party may 
disseminate information substantially consistent with information included in a press release or other 
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document previously approved for external distribution by the other parties.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, (a) nothing in this Section 5.12 shall limit the Company’s or the Company Board’s rights 
to make public statements about its actions under Section 5.2, Section 5.3 or Section 7.1 without prior 
consultation, or limit or Parent or Merger Sub’s rights to make public statements related thereto, and 
(b) the requirements of this Section 5.12 shall not apply to any disclosure by the Company or Parent 
or Merger Sub of any information concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby 
in connection with any dispute between the parties regarding this Agreement, the Merger or the other 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, that in the case of any of clauses (a)-(c), to 
the extent not prohibited by applicable Law, the disclosing party gives the other party reasonable 
advance notice of (including the contents of) its intended disclosure.  For the avoidance of doubt, 
nothing in this Section 5.12 shall affect any other obligation or limit any right of the Company or 
Parent under this Agreement, including under Section 5.2 and Section 5.3. 

 Notification of Certain Matters.  Subject to applicable Law and the 
instructions of any Governmental Authority and any applicable confidentiality obligations, (a) each of 
the Company and Parent shall keep the other reasonably apprised of the status of matters relating to 
completion of the transactions contemplated hereby and (b) each of the Company and Parent shall 
give prompt notice to the other party of the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event whose 
occurrence or non-occurrence, as the case may be, would reasonably be expected to cause any 
condition set forth in Section 6.2 or Section 6.3, as applicable, not to be satisfied at any time from the 
date of this Agreement to the Effective Time. 

 Director and Officer Indemnification. 

(a) For a period of six years following the Closing, Parent shall cause the 
Surviving Company to maintain (or cause to be maintained), in effect, either (i) the current policy of 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance maintained by the Company (provided, that the Surviving 
Company may substitute therefor policies of at least the same coverage and amounts containing terms 
and conditions which are no less advantageous in any material respect to the insured parties 
thereunder) with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred at or before the Closing 
(including consummation of the Transactions) or (ii) a run off (i.e., “tail”) policy or endorsement with 
respect to the current policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance covering claims asserted 
within seven years after the Closing arising from facts or events that occurred at or before the Closing 
(including consummation of the Transactions). Such policies or endorsements shall name as insureds 
thereunder all present and former directors and officers of the Company and the Surviving Company. 
From and following the Closing Date, Parent shall cause the Surviving Company to abide by and 
honor the Surviving Company’s contractual obligations, if any, to provide directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance to any other person, to the extent of such contractual obligation. 

(b) If Parent or the Surviving Company or any of the successors or 
assigns of Parent or the Surviving Company (i) shall consolidate with or merge into any other Person 
and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or 
(ii) shall transfer all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any other person, then, and in 
each such case, proper provisions shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent or the 
Surviving Company (as the case may be) shall assume all of the obligations set forth in this Section 
5.13. This Section 5.13 (A) shall survive the consummation of the Merger and the Effective Time; (B) 
is intended for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each director and officer and his or her heirs 
and representatives; (C) shall be binding on all successors and assigns of Parent and the Surviving 
Company; and (D) provides rights that are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights 
to indemnification or contribution that any each director or officer, or any heir or representative of any 
director or officer, may have by contract or otherwise. 

 Tax Matters. 
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(a) Tax Ruling. 

(i) As soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the 
Company shall instruct its Israeli counsel, advisors and accountants to prepare and file with the ITA 
an application for a ruling that (i)  exempting Parent, the Paying Agent, the Escrow Agent, the 
Surviving Company and their respective agents from any obligation to withhold Israeli Tax from any 
consideration payable or otherwise deliverable pursuant to this Agreement, including the Merger 
Consideration and any payments out of the Indemnity Escrow Account, and the deposit of the Merger 
Consideration with the Paying Agent, or clarifying that no such obligation exists, or (ii) instructing 
Parent, the Paying Agent, the Escrow Agent, the Surviving Company and their respective agents on 
how such withholding is to be executed, the rate or rates of withholding to be applied and how to 
identify any non−Israeli residents and (iii) with respect to holders subject to Israeli Tax, any 
withholding made in New Israeli Shekels with respect to payments made hereunder in Dollars shall be 
calculated based on a Dollars to NIS conversion rate on the date the payment is actually made to a 
recipient (the “Withholding Tax Ruling”).  

(ii) Each of the Company and Parent shall cause their respective Israeli 
counsel, advisors and accountants to coordinate all material activities, and to cooperate with each 
other, with respect to the preparation and filing of such application and in the preparation of any 
written or oral submissions that may be necessary, proper or advisable to obtain the Withholding Tax 
Ruling. The final text of the Withholding Tax Ruling shall be subject to the prior written confirmation 
of Parent or its counsel, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  
Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Company shall use promptly take, or cause to be taken, 
all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable 
Laws to obtain the Withholding Tax Ruling, as promptly as practicable.  In the event that the 
Withholding Tax Ruling has not been received in accordance with the terms of this Section 5.15, 
Parent may make such payments and withhold any applicable Taxes in accordance with ARTICLE II. 

 

  
 

CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER 

 Conditions.  The respective obligations of Parent, Merger Sub and the 
Company to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall 
be subject to the satisfaction or waiver (except with respect to the condition set forth in Section 6.1(a) 
which cannot be waived) by the Parent prior to the Effective Time, of each of the following 
conditions: 

(a) Company Shareholder Approval.  The Company Shareholder Approval shall 
have been obtained. 

(b) Regulatory Filings or Approvals.  Expiration or early termination of any 
waiting period (and any extension thereof), and any necessary approvals, under applicable Antitrust 
Laws shall have occurred or been granted. 

(c) Statutory Requirements.  Fifty (50) days shall have elapsed after the filing of 
the Merger Proposal with the Companies Registrar and thirty (30) days shall have elapsed after the 
approval of the Merger by the shareholders of each of the Company and Merger Sub.  

(d) No Legal Prohibition.  No Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction 
shall have (i) enacted, issued or promulgated any Law that is in effect and has the effect of making the 
Merger illegal or which has the effect of prohibiting or otherwise preventing the consummation of the 
Merger, or (ii) issued or granted any final Order that is in effect and that has the effect of making the 
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Merger illegal or which has the effect of prohibiting or otherwise preventing or enjoining the 
consummation of the Merger (a “Prohibitive Order”), provided, however, that if a Governmental 
Authority of competent jurisdiction has issued or granted a temporary or preliminary Prohibitive Order 
which has not been removed, lifted, annulled or repealed (or which has not otherwise ceased to be of 
effect) by the Outside Date, either Parent or Company shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement and 
such termination shall have the effect set out in Section 7.2 

 Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.  The obligations 
of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver prior to the Effective Time of each of the 
following conditions, any of which may be waived in writing exclusively by Parent: 

(a) Representations and Warranties.  Each Fundamental Representation and 
Warranty shall be true and correct, in each case, on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and 
effect as if made on and as of such date, except as the failure to be so true and correct would not 
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.  
The other representations and warranties of the Company set forth in ARTICLE III shall be true and 
correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date, 
except (i) except as the failure to be so true and correct would not reasonably be expected to have, 
individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect and (ii) for those representations 
and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date, which representations and warranties 
shall have been true and correct as of such particular date. 

(b) Performance of Obligations of the Company.  The Company shall have 
performed and complied with, in each case in all material respects, all the obligations that are to be 
performed or complied by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Effective Time. 

(c) Officer’s Certificate of the Company.  Parent shall have received a certificate 
of the Company, validly executed on behalf of the Company by a duly authorized executive officer 
thereof, certifying that (i) the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(a), Section 6.2(b) and Section 6.2(d) 
have been satisfied and (ii) that the Company Board has obtained all required approvals for the 
execution, performance and consummation of this Agreement, the Merger and the other transaction 
contemplated hereby pursuant to Section 282 of the ICL. 

(d) Company Material Adverse Effect.  Following the execution of this 
Agreement, there has not been any Change that has had, individually or in the aggregate, a Company 
Material Adverse Effect. 

(e) Withholding Tax Ruling. The Company shall have furnished Parent with the 
Withholding Tax Ruling. 

 Conditions to the Company’s Obligations to Effect the Merger.  The 
obligations of the Company to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by 
this Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver prior to the Effective Time of each of the 
following conditions, any of which may be waived in writing exclusively by the Company: 

(a) Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties of Parent 
and Merger Sub set forth in the first sentence of Section 4.1 (Organization; Good Standing and 
Qualification) and Section 4.2 (Corporate Power; Enforceability) shall be true and correct in all 
material respects, in each case, on and as of the date of the Closing Date with the same force and effect 
as if made on and as of such date, except for those representations and warranties that address matters 
only as of a particular date, which representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in 
accordance with the applicable standard set forth above as of such particular date.  The other 
representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in ARTICLE IV of this Agreement 
shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made on and 
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as of such date, except for those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a 
particular date, which representations and warranties shall have been true and correct as of such 
particular date. 

(b) Performance of Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.  Each of Parent and
Merger Sub shall have performed and complied with, in each case in all material respects, all the 
obligations that are to be performed or complied with by Parent and Merger Sub (as applicable) under 
this Agreement at or prior to the Effective Time. 

(c) Officer’s Certificate of Parent and Merger Sub.  The Company shall have
received certificates of Parent and Merger Sub, respectively, validly executed on behalf of Parent and 
Merger Sub, respectively, by a duly authorized executive officer thereof, certifying that the conditions 
set forth in Section 6.3(a) and Section 6.3(b) have been satisfied.  

(d) IIA Undertaking. Parent shall deliver to the Company a letter of undertaking
towards the IIA, in the form required under applicable Law (the “IIA Undertaking”). 

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER 

 Termination.  This Agreement may be validly terminated only as follows (it 
being understood and hereby agreed that this Agreement may not be terminated for any other reason 
or on any other basis, whether or not prior to or after the Effective Time): 

(a) at any time prior to the Effective Time (notwithstanding the prior receipt of the
Company Shareholder Approval), by mutual written agreement of Parent and the Company; or 

(b) by either the Company or Parent, at any time prior to the Effective Time
(notwithstanding the prior receipt of the Company Shareholder Approval), in the event that the 
Effective Time shall not have occurred on or before 31 August 2019 (such date referred to herein as the 
“Outside Date”); provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 
7.1(b) shall not be available to any party hereto whose failure to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement has been the principal cause of the failure of the Merger to occur on or before such date and 
such action or failure to act constitutes a breach of this Agreement; or 

(c) by Parent, at any time prior to the Effective Time, in the event that the
Company shall have failed to obtain the Company Shareholder Approval at the Company Shareholders 
Meeting (or any postponement or adjournment thereof) at which a vote is taken on the Merger; or 

(d) by either the Company or Parent, pursuant to Section 6.1(d);

(e) by Parent, at any time prior to the Closing Date, if (i) Parent becomes aware
that New Management Bonuses have been granted since the Locked Box Date; and (ii) Parent would 
not be entitled to full recovery for the entire amount (and related Taxes) of the New Management 
Bonuses pursuant to a claim for Leakage under the leakage indemnity given in the Unilateral 
Shareholder Undertakings in respect of the New Management Bonuses. 

(f) by Parent, at any time prior to the Effective Time (notwithstanding the prior
receipt of the Company Shareholder Approval), in the event that (i) Parent and Merger Sub are not in 
material breach of any of their respective representations, warranties or covenants under this 
Agreement, and (ii) the Company shall have breached any of its representations, warranties or 
covenants under this Agreement, which breach (A) if occurring or continuing at the Effective Time, 
would result in the failure of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(a) or Section 6.2(b) to be satisfied 
and (B) cannot be cured by the Outside Date; or 
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(g) by the Company, at any time prior to the Effective Time, in the event that (i) 
Company is not in material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants under this 
Agreement, and (ii) Parent and Merger Sub shall have breached any of its representations, warranties or 
covenants under this Agreement, which breach (A) if occurring or continuing at the Effective Time, 
would result in the failure of the conditions set forth in Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.3(b) to be satisfied 
and (B) cannot be cured by the Outside Date. 

 Notice of Termination; Effect of Termination.  Any proper and valid 
termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 shall be effective immediately upon the 
delivery of written notice of the terminating party to the other party or parties hereto, as applicable.  In 
the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1, this Agreement shall be of no 
further force or effect,  without any liability, of any kind, of any party or parties hereto, as applicable 
(or any director, officer, employee, equityholder, Affiliate, agent or other representative of such party 
or parties) to the other party or parties hereto, as applicable, except that (a) each of the terms of this 
Section 7.2, Section 7.3 and ARTICLE VIII shall survive the termination of this Agreement, and 
(b) nothing in this Agreement shall relieve any party or parties hereto, as applicable, from liability for 
any breach of the Fundamental Representation and Warranties which was the cause of the 
termination, or any fraud or willful breach of any  representation, warranty, covenant, obligation or 
other provision of this Agreement.  For purposes of this Agreement, “willful breach” or “willfully 
breached” shall mean any act or failure to act by any person with the actual knowledge that the taking 
of such act or the failure to take such act would cause a breach of this Agreement.  

 Fees and Expenses.  

All fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party or parties, as applicable, incurring such expenses 
whether or not the Merger is consummated.   

 Amendment.  Subject to applicable Law and subject to the other provisions 
of this Agreement, this Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto at any time by execution of 
an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company; provided, 
however, that in the event that the Company has received the Company Shareholder Approval, no 
amendment shall be made to this Agreement that requires the approval of the Company Shareholders 
under applicable Law without obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval of such amendment. 

 Extension; Waiver.  At any time and from time to time prior to the Effective 
Time, any party or parties hereto may, to the extent legally allowed and except as otherwise set forth 
herein, (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other 
party or parties hereto, as applicable, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties 
made to such party or parties hereto contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto 
and (c) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions for the benefit of such party or 
parties hereto contained herein.  Any agreement on the part of a party or parties hereto to any such 
extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such 
party or parties, as applicable.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no failure or delay by the Company, 
Parent or Merger Sub in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any 
single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise of any other right hereunder. 

 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 Notices.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing 
and shall be deemed to have been duly delivered and received hereunder (i) seven (7) Business Days 
after being sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, (ii) two (2) 
Business Days after being sent for next Business Day delivery, fees prepaid, via a reputable 
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international overnight courier service, or (iii) immediately upon delivery by email, by hand or by 
facsimile (with a written or electronic confirmation of receipt), in each case to the intended recipient 
as set forth below: 

(a) if to Parent, Merger Sub or Guarantor to: 
 
Transoft Group Limited 
Address:  Ditton Park, Riding Court Road, Datchet, Berkshire, United Kingdom, 
SL3 9LL 
Attention:  Andrew Hicks 
email:  Andrew.hicks@oneadvanced.com 

 
with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

c/o Vista Equity Partners Management, LLC 
Address: Four Embarcadero Center, 20th Floor 
  San Francisco, CA 94111 
Attention: Adrian Alonso 
email:  aalonso@vistaequitypartners.com 

 
and 
 
 Kirkland & Ellis International LLP 

Address:  30 St Mary Axe, London EC3A 8AF, United Kingdom 
 Attention:  Gavin Gordon 
 email:   gavin.gordon@kirkland.com; 
 

(b) if to the Company, to: 

 Modern Systems 
Address:  660 LBJ Freeway, Suite 210, Dalles, TX 75240 
Attention:  Regina O’Connor 
email:  accounting@modernsystems.com 

 
with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

 Cooley (UK) LLP 
Address:  Dashwood House, 69 Old Broad Street, London, EC2M 1QS 
Attention:  Michal Berkner 
email:   mberkner@cooley.com 

 
 Assignment.  No party may assign either this Agreement or any of its rights, 

interests, or obligations hereunder without the prior written approval of the other parties. Subject to 
the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall (i) be binding upon the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns and (ii) shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 
their respective successors and permitted assigns. 

 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the documents and instruments and other 
agreements among the parties hereto as contemplated by or referred to herein, including the Company 
Disclosure Letter and the Annexes hereto, constitute the entire agreement among the parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both 
written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof; provided, however, the 
Confidentiality Agreement shall not be superseded, shall survive termination of this Agreement and 
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shall continue in full force and effect until the earlier to occur of (a) the Effective Time and (b) the 
date on which the Confidentiality Agreement expires in accordance with its terms or is validly 
terminated by the parties thereto. 

 Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is not intended to, and shall not, 
confer upon any other Person any rights or remedies hereunder, except (a) as set forth in or 
contemplated by the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and (b) from and after the Effective 
Time, the rights of holders of Company Shares and other Company Securities to receive the amounts 
to which they are entitled pursuant to (and in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions 
set forth in) ARTICLE II. 

 Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement, or the application 
thereof, becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect and the 
application of such provision to other persons or circumstances will be interpreted so as reasonably to 
effect the intent of the parties hereto.  The parties further agree to replace such void or unenforceable 
provision of this Agreement with a valid and enforceable provision that will achieve, to the extent 
possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such void or unenforceable provision. 

Remedies. 

(a) Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly
conferred upon a party will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy 
conferred hereby, or by Law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by a party of any one remedy 
will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy. 

(b) The parties hereto hereby agree that irreparable damage may occur in the event
that any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or were 
otherwise breached, and that money damages or other legal remedies may not be an adequate remedy 
for any such damages.  Accordingly, the parties hereto acknowledge and hereby agree that, 
notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary, in the event of any breach or threatened breach by 
the Company, on the one hand, or Parent and/or Merger Sub, on the other hand, of any of their 
respective covenants or obligations set forth in this Agreement, the Company, on the one hand, and 
Parent and Merger Sub, on the other hand, on behalf of themselves, shall be entitled to seek specific 
performance and other equitable relief, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent or restrain 
breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement by the other party or parties (as applicable), and to 
specifically enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement to prevent breaches or threatened 
breaches of, or to enforce compliance with, the covenants and obligations of the other party or parties 
under this Agreement (including the parties’ obligations to consummate the Merger and Parent’s 
obligation to pay, and the right of the Company Shareholders to receive, the Merger Consideration), in 
addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at Law or in equity.  Each party hereby 
irrevocably and unconditionally waives any requirement for the securing or posting of any bond in 
connection with any such remedies. 

 Governing Law.  This Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising 
out of, relating to or in connection with this Agreement, the negotiation, execution, existence, validity, 
enforceability or performance of this Agreement, or for the breach or alleged breach hereof (whether 
in contract, in tort or otherwise) shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with 
the Laws of the State of Israel, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision 
or rule (whether of the State of Israel or otherwise) that would cause the application of the Laws of 
any other jurisdiction. 

Consent to Jurisdiction. 
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(a) Each of the parties hereto (i) agrees that any actions or proceedings arising in 
connection with any dispute, controversy or claim arising under, relating to or in connection with this 
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (including any dispute or controversy regarding the 
existence, validity, enforceability or breach of this Agreement), whether in contract, in tort or otherwise, 
shall be brought, tried and determined only in any court of competent jurisdiction located in Tel Aviv-
Jaffa, Israel; (ii) irrevocably and unconditionally consents and submits itself and its properties and 
assets to the jurisdiction of any court located in Tel Aviv-Jaffa, Israel in the event of any such action or 
proceeding; (iii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or 
other request for leave from any such court; (iv) waives any objection that it may now or hereafter have 
to the venue of any such action or proceeding in any such court or that such action or proceeding was 
brought in an inconvenient court and agrees not to plead or claim the same; and (v) agrees that it will 
not bring any action relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby in any court 
other than the aforesaid courts.  Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company agrees that a final 
judgment in any action or proceeding in such courts as provided above shall be conclusive and may be 
enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by applicable 
Law. 

(b) Each of the parties hereto irrevocably consents to the service of the summons 
and complaint and any other process in any action or proceeding relating to the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement, for and on behalf of itself or any of its properties or assets, in 
accordance with Section 8.1 or in such other manner as may be permitted by applicable Law, and 
nothing in this Section 8.8 shall affect the right of any party to serve legal process in any other manner 
permitted by applicable Law. 

 Company Disclosure Letter.  The parties hereto agree that the disclosure set forth 
in any particular section or subsection of the Company Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to be an 
exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) (i) the representations and warranties (or 
covenants, as applicable) of the Company that are set forth in the corresponding section or subsection of 
this Agreement, and (ii) any other representations and warranties (or covenants, as applicable) of the 
Company that are set forth in this Agreement, but in the case of this clause (ii) only if the relevance of 
that disclosure as an exception to (or a disclosure for purposes of) such other representations and 
warranties (or covenants, as applicable) is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure. The 
Company shall have the right to supplement the Company Disclosure Letter prior to the Closing to 
reflect any and all events, circumstances or changes that arise or become known to the Company after 
the date hereof by delivery to the Parent prior to the Closing Date of one or more supplements (each, a 
“Disclosure Supplement”). Each Disclosure Supplement shall be in writing and shall be delivered in 
accordance with the procedure set forth for notices in Section 8.1. Unless the existence of any matter set 
forth in any such Disclosure Supplement that was not Disclosed at the time of signing of this 
Agreement (a “New Matter”) would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse 
Effect and would give rise to a right of termination in favor of Parent under Section 7.1(d), the 
Company Disclosure Letter shall be deemed amended and supplemented by all information set forth in 
each Disclosure Supplement, and each of the representations and warranties of the Company shall be 
deemed amended and supplemented by all such information set forth in each Disclosure Supplement as 
if amended on the date of the parties’ execution of this Agreement. In such event, all references to the 
Company Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to include all such Disclosure Supplements. To the extent 
the existence of any New Matter gives rise to a right of termination in favor of Parent under Section 
7.1(d), Parent shall have the right under said Section 7.1(d) to terminate this Agreement by written 
notice to the Company within five Business Days after receipt of the Disclosure Supplement that 
includes the New Matter but prior to the Closing Date or (b) consummate the Merger. To the extent that 
the Parent elects to so consummate the Merger, the Company Disclosure Letter shall be deemed 
amended and supplemented by all information set forth in each Disclosure Supplement, and each of the 
representations and warranties of the Company made in this Agreement shall be deemed amended and 
supplemented by all such information set forth in each Disclosure Supplement as if amended on the date 
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of the parties’ execution of this Agreement. In such event, all references to the Company Disclosure 
Letter shall be deemed to include all such Disclosure Supplements. 

 Waiver of Conflicts Regarding Representation.  Recognizing that Cooley LLP 
(“Cooley”) and Herzog, Fox & Ne’eman (“HFN”) has acted as legal counsel to the Company prior to 
the Effective Time, and that Cooley and HFN may act as legal counsel to the former securityholders 
of the Company after the Effective Time, the Company hereby waives any conflicts that may arise in 
connection with Cooley and HFN representing the such former securityholders after the Effective 
Time. Each of the parties hereto also agrees that the former securityholders of the Company have a 
reasonable expectation of privacy with respect to their communications (including any e-mail 
communications using the Company’s e-mail system) with Cooley and HFN prior to the Closing to 
the extent such communications concern the Merger. At and after the Effective Time, the attorney-
work privilege of the Company with Cooley and HFN related to the transactions contemplated hereby 
shall be deemed to be the right of the shareholders of the Company, and not that of the Company, and 
may be waived only by them. Absent the consent of the shareholders, neither Parent nor the Company 
shall have a right to access attorney-client privileged material of the Company related to the 
transactions contemplated hereby following the Effective Time. At the Closing or when and if 
otherwise requested by the shareholders of the Company, Parent shall deliver to the former 
securityholders of the Company, as applicable, a conflict waiver in a form acceptable to Cooley and 
HFN on behalf of Parent and the Surviving Company, waiving any conflicts that may result in 
connection with Cooley’s and HFN’s representation of the shareholders of the Company with regard 
to any matter concerning this Agreement or any documents, certificates or agreements delivered in 
connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. 

 

 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all 
of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or 
more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties, it being 
understood that all parties need not sign the same counterpart. The exchange of a fully executed 
Agreement (in counterparts or otherwise) by facsimile or by electronic delivery (including in pdf or 
other scan format) shall be sufficient to bind the parties to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement and Plan of Merger 
to be executed by their respective duly authorized officers to be effective as of the date first above 
written. 

COMPANY 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

PARENT 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

MERGER SUB 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

GUARANTOR 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor


Regina OConnor




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement and Plan of Merger 
to be executed by their respective duly authorized officers to be effective as of the date first above 
written.

COMPANY

By:

Name:

Title:

PARENT

By:

Name:

Title:

MERGER SUB

By:

Name:

Title:

GUARANTOR

By:

Name:

Title:

Andrew Hicks

Director

Andrew Hicks

Director

Andrew Hicks

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

 

To the Stockholders  

MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

 

Report on Financial Statements 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ModSys International Ltd. (the 

“Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related 

consolidated statements of operations, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income,  the consolidated 

statements of changes in stockholders’ equity, and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then 

ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 

this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 

and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the results of their operations, the 

results of their comprehensive income, their changes of equity and their cash flows for each of the two years 

period ended December 31, 2017 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America.  

 

 

 

 

Ziv Haft. 

Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) 

BDO Member Firm 

 

June 28, 2018 

 

  

  Ziv Haft 

  
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) 

BDO Member Firm 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 

     December 31,   

     2017     2016   

     (in thousands)   

ASSETS              

CURRENT ASSETS:              

Cash and cash equivalents     4,253     410   

Restricted cash      4      254   

Trade accounts receivable, net (Note 12A1)      1,818      2,306   

Other current assets (Note 12A2)      203      237   

Total current assets      6,278      3,207   
                 
LONG-TERM ASSETS:                

Property and equipment, net (Note 4)      32      33   

Goodwill (Note 5)      14,157      14,157   

Intangible assets and others, net (Note 6)      1,788      2,361   

Total long term assets      15,977      16,551   

Total assets     22,255     19,758   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31, 

2017 2016 

(in thousands) 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Short-term bank credit and others (Note 8) 281   785 

Accounts payable and accruals: 

Trade accounts payable 959    1,155 

Deferred revenue 641    324 

Other current liabilities (Note 12A3) 425    915 

Total current liabilities 2,306    3,179 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES: 

Accrued severance pay, net (Note 7) 253    238 

Loans from banks and others (Note 8) 2,994   2,022 

Other non-current liabilities - 18 

Total long-term liabilities 3,247    2,278 

Total liabilities 5,553    5,457 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9) 

Equity (Note 10): 

Share capital - Preferred shares of .04 NIS par value (authorized: December 31, 

2017 and December 31, 2016 – 1,000,000 share; shares issued: December 31, 

2017 – 583,200 shares and December 31, 2016 – 540,000 shares) 1,317   1,247 

Share capital - ordinary shares of NIS 0.04 par value (authorized: December 31, 

2017 and 2016 - 25,000,000 shares; shares issued: December 31, 2017 – 

22,061,941 and December 31, 2016 - 19,086,159) 205    173 

Additional paid-in capital 157,708    155,468 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,537 )    (1,537) 

Accumulated deficit  (137,784 )    (138,028) 

Treasury shares – December 31, 2017 and 2016 – 33,239 shares (1,821 )    (1,821) 

ModSys International Ltd. Shareholders’ Equity 18,088    15,502 

Non-controlling interest (1,386 )    (1,201) 

Total equity 16,702   14,301 

Total liabilities and equity 22,255   19,758 

June 28, 2018 

Date of approval  

of financial statements 

Scott Miller  

Chairman of the Board 

of Directors 
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Brandon Edenfield 

CEO 



 

5 

 

MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
  

    Year ended December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    
(in thousands, except  

 earning/loss per share )   

Revenue:             

Services    5,483     9,212   

Products     5,601      1,769   

Total revenue     11,084      10,981   

Cost of revenue     2,768      4,857   

Gross profit     8,316      6,124   

Research and development costs     1,556      2,053   

Selling, general, and administrative expenses     4,945      4,263   

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation     587      632   

Impairment of intangible assets   -    182  

Impairment of goodwill   -    11,646  

Total operating expenses     7,088      18,776   

Operating income (loss)   1,228    (12,652)  

Financial expenses, net   1,232    312  

Loss before taxes on income     (4)      (12,964 ) 

Taxes on income     9      22   

  Total comprehensive income (loss)     (13)      (12,986 ) 

Less: Net Loss attributable to non-controlling interest      (185)      (806 ) 

 Net Profit (loss) attributable to ModSys International Ltd. shareholders    172     (12,180 ) 

               

Earning (loss) per share - basic and diluted:               

Basic:         

Attributable to the shareholders   0.0048    (0.66)  

Total shares   21,049,462    18,657,653  

         

Diluted:         

Attributable to the shareholders     0.0045     (0.66 ) 

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted      22,281,816      18,657,653   
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
  

    Share capital                 Accumulated     
Cost of 

Company     Retained               

    
Number of ordinary 

shares     

Par 

value-

ordinary 

shares     
Preferred 

shares     
Additional 

paid-in capital     

other 

comprehensive 

loss     

Shares 

held by 

subsidiaries     

earnings 

(Accumulated 

deficit)     

Non-

controlling 

interest     Total   
                                                        

Balance at January 1, 2016     18,568,802      172      1,164      154,882      (1,537 )    (1,821 )    (125,765 )    (422 )    26,673   
                                     

Net loss     -    -    -    -    -    -       (12,180 )     (806 )     (12,986 ) 
Stock-based 

compensation     -    -       -       337       -    -    -       27       364   
Dividend in kind     -       -      83       -      -    -       (83 )      -     -  
Issuance of ordinary 

shares     378,788       1       -       249       -    -    -    -       250   
Issued RSUs for SBC     138,569          *        -       *       -    -    -    -       -  
Balance at 

December 31, 2016     19,086,159      173      1,247      155,468      (1,537 )    (1,821 )    (138,028 )    (1,201 )    14,301   

Net income (loss)     -                        172    (185)    (13)  

Issuance of ordinary 

shares, net   1,884,340    21    -    1,229    -    -    -    -    1,250  

Warrants exercised     1,091,442    11    -    -    -    -    -    -    11   
Warrants granted      -    -    -    1,011    -    -    -    -    1,011   
Issuance of preferred 

shares, net      -    -    70    -    -    -    (70)    -    -  
Stock-based 

compensation     -    -        -    -    -    142    -    142   
Balance at 

December 31, 2017     22,061,941    205    1,317    157,708    (1,537)    (1,821)    (137,784)    (1,386)    16,702   

  
*     Less than 1 thousand. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:             

Net loss    (13)     (12,986 ) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:               

Depreciation and amortization     607      866   

Intangible assets and goodwill impairment     -      11,828   

Increase in accrued severance pay, net     15      6   

Stock–based compensation and RSU termination      142      364   

Issue of warrants to shareholders     1,011    -   

Interests on loans   36    -  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:              

    Decrease (increase) in trade receivables     488      (286 ) 

Decrease (increase) in other assets     21      (117 ) 

Increase (decrease) in trade payables     (196)      151   

Decrease in other liabilities and deferred revenue     (191)      (657 ) 

Net cash provided (used) in operating activities     1,920      (831 ) 

                

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:               

   Purchase of property and equipment     (20)      (21 ) 

   Net cash provided (used) in investing activities     (20)      (21 ) 

                

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:               

Short term bank credit     (527)      100   

Issuance of ordinary shares, net     1,250      250   

Warrants exercised   11    -  

Long term loan     959      (317 ) 

Net cash provided by financing activities     1,693      33   

                

NET CASH INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUVIALETS 

AND RESTRICTED CASH     3,593      (819 ) 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and restricted cash at Beginning of the period     664      1,483   

Cash, Cash Equivalents and restricted cash at end of the period    4,257     664   

                

Cash paid during the year for:               

Interest    147     114   
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Note 1 - General: 
  

              The Company: 

  

ModSys International Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”, or “Modern Systems”) is an 

Israeli corporation, which operates in one operating segment of information technology modernization solutions. 

  

Modern Systems develops and markets enterprise legacy migration solutions and provides tools and 

professional services to international markets through several entities including wholly-owned or majority-owned 

subsidiaries located in: the United States, the United Kingdom, Italy, Romania and Israel. These technologies and 

services allow business to migrate from their legacy mainframe and distributed information technology 

infrastructures to modern environments and programming languages. 

 

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies: 
 

A. Basic: 
 

The significant accounting policies, applied on a consistent basis, are as follows: 

 

1. Accounting Principles: 

  

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted (“GAAP”) in the United States of America. 

  

2. Functional Currency: 

  

The currency of the primary economic environment in which the operations of the Company and its 

subsidiaries are conducted is the U.S. dollar (“USD”). In addition, a substantial portion of the Company’s revenue 

and costs are incurred in USD. Thus, the functional and reporting currency of the Company is considered to be the 

USD. The functional currency of all subsidiaries is the USD therefore there is no unrealized gain/loss. 

  

Non-monetary transactions denominated in currencies other than the USD are measured and recorded in 

USD at the exchange rates prevailing at transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies 

other than the USD are translated at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Transaction gain or losses on 

foreign currency translation are recorded in consolidated statement of operations. 

  

3. Use of Estimates and Assumptions in the Preparation of the Financial Statements: 

  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

  

B. Principles of Consolidation: 
  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries in which it 

has a controlling interest. Acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for under the acquisition method. All 

intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. Non-controlling interests are 

included in equity. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.): 
  

C. Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
  

Cash equivalents are considered by the Company to be highly-liquid investments, including inter-alia, 

short-term deposits with banks, which do not exceed maturities of three months at the time of deposit and which are 

not restricted. 

 

D. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: 
  

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts to ensure trade and financing receivables are 

not overstated due to uncollectability. The allowance for doubtful accounts was based on specific receivables, which 

their collection, in the opinion of Company’s management, is in doubt. Trade receivables are charged off in the 

period in which they are deemed to be uncollectible. 

  

E. Property and Equipment, Net: 
  

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated by 

the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Annual rates of depreciation are as follows: 

  

    % 

Computers and peripheral equipment   20-33 (mainly 33) 

Office furniture and equipment   6-15 (mainly 7) 

Leasehold improvements   Over the shorter of lease term or the life of the assets 

Motor vehicles   15 

  

F. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: 
  

The Company evaluates long-lived assets with definite lives for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company assesses the recoverability 

of the assets based on the undiscounted future cash flow and recognizes an impairment loss when the estimated 

undiscounted future cash flow expected to result from the use of the asset plus the net proceeds expected from 

disposition of the asset, if any, are less than the carrying value of the asset. When the Company identifies an 

impairment, it reduces the carrying amount of the asset to its estimated fair value based on a discounted cash flow 

approach or, when available and appropriate, to comparable market values. For the year ending December 31, 2017, 

no impairment losses had been identified. 

  

G. Goodwill and purchased intangible assets: 

  

Goodwill and purchased intangible assets have been recorded as a result of acquisitions. Goodwill represents 

the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets 

acquired. 

  

Goodwill is not amortized, but rather is subject to an annual impairment test. The Company is one operating 

segment and one reporting unit related to its overall information technology modernization. The goodwill impairment 

tests are conducted in two steps. In the first step, the Company determines the fair value of the reporting unit. If the 

net book value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company would then perform the second step of the 

impairment test which requires allocation of the reporting unit’s fair value of all of its assets and liabilities in a manner 

similar to an acquisition cost allocation, with any residual fair value being allocated to goodwill. The implied fair 

value of the goodwill is then compared to the carrying value to determine impairment, if any. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.): 
 

Generally, the company determines the fair value of the reporting unit using the market approach which is 

based on the market capitalization by using the share price of the Company in the stock market and an appropriate 

control premium.  

 

As of the reporting date, the market capitalization of the Company was higher than the net book value of 

the reporting unit therefore no impairment was recorded for 2017. 

 

 Intangible assets that are not considered to have an indefinite useful life are amortized using the straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives of between 10 months to 9 years (for impairment of intangible assets see also 

Note 1F) 

  

On completion of our merger on December 1, 2014 with Sophisticated Business Systems, Inc., a Texas 

corporation doing business as “Ateras” the fair value purchase price allocation from this acquisition resulted in the 

Company recording approximately 5.2 million in technology intangible assets. The Company subjected the value of 

these intangible assets to an annual impairment test as of December 31, 2016. In 2016, the impairment test indicated 

that the fair value of these intangible assets at this time was approximately 2.3 million, net of amortization, causing 

the Company to record an impairment of approximately 182 thousand. In 2017, no additional impairment was 

deemed necessary. 

  

H. Research and Development Costs: 
  

Research and development costs are charged to the statement of income as incurred. ASC No. 985, 

“Software”, requires capitalization of certain software development costs subsequent to the establishment of 

technological feasibility. 

  

Based on the Company’s product development process, technological feasibility is established when 

detailed program design is completed and verified. Costs incurred by the Company between completion of detailed 

program design and the point at which the products are ready for general release, have been insignificant. Therefore, 

all research and development costs have been expensed. 

  

I. Stock-based Compensation: 
  

In the past two years, all of the stock-based compensation awards were of restricted stock units (“RSUs”). 

RSUs are valued based on the market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant since the restriction is 

imposed during the vesting period. The Company also has a stock option plan. Stock option awards are measured 

and recognized as compensation expense based on estimated fair values on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 

option-pricing model. This option pricing model requires that the Company makes several estimates, including the 

option’s expected life and the price volatility of the underlying stock. 

  

The Company recognizes the estimated fair value of option-based awards and RSUs, net of estimated 

forfeitures, as stock-based compensation costs using the accelerated vesting method. For the years ended December 

31, 2016 and 2015 the Company recorded stock-based and RSUs compensation costs in the amount of $364 and 

$426 thousand, respectively. On December 31, 2016, the total unrecognized stock-based and RSUs compensation 

costs amounted to 396 thousand, and were expected to be recognized over the next 3 years. 

On April 10, 2017, the Board of Directors elected to terminate the RSU program. See Note 10A below. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

11 

 

MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.): 
  

J. Revenue Recognition: 
  

Revenue derived from direct software license agreements are recognized in accordance with FASB ASC 

Topic 985 “Software” (“ASC 985”), upon delivery of the software, when collection is probable, the license fee is 

otherwise fixed or determinable and persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. 

  

The Company recognizes revenue from consulting fees based on the number of hours performed. Revenue 

from maintenance services are recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance period. 

  

When a project involves significant production, modification, customization of software, or delivery of 

service, that are essential to the fundamentals of the software, revenue is recognized according to the percentage of 

completion method in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 605-35. Under this method, estimated 

revenue is generally recognized based on costs incurred to date, as a percentage of total updated estimated costs. The 

Company recognizes contract losses, if any, in the period in which they first become evident. There are no rights of 

return, price protection or similar contingencies in the Company’s contracts. 

  

On December 31, 2016, approximately $1.5 million of the accounts receivable balance was unbilled due to 

the customer’s payment terms. On December 31, 2017, approximately $490 thousand of the accounts receivable 

balance was unbilled due to the customer’s payment terms.  

  

The product revenue line item includes revenue generated from stand-alone software products. In the 

services revenue line item, the Company includes revenue generated from maintenance and consulting fees and 

revenue accounted for pursuant to ASC 605-20. Tax collected from customers and remitted to government 

authorities (including VAT) are presented in the income statement on a net basis. 

  

K. Income Taxes: 
  

Deferred taxes are determined utilizing the “asset and liability” method, whereby deferred tax asset and 

liability account balances are determined based on differences between financial reporting and the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences 

are expected to reverse. The Company provides a valuation allowance, when it’s more likely than not that deferred 

tax assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are classified as current or 

non-current based on the expected reversal dates of the specific temporary differences. 

  

The Company applied ASC Topic 740-10-05, Income Tax, which provides guidance for recognizing and 

measuring uncertain tax positions, it prescribes a threshold condition that a tax position must meet for any of the 

benefits of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements. It also provides accounting 

guidance on derecognizing, classification and disclosure of these uncertain tax positions. The Company’s policy on 

classification of all interest and penalties related to unrecognized income tax positions, if any, is to present them as a 

component of income tax expense. 

  

L. Earning /loss Per Share: 
  

Basic net earning/loss per share is computed based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during each year (including fully vested RSUs), net of treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share is 

computed based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during each year, plus dilutive 

potential ordinary shares considered outstanding during the year (see also Note 12C).  
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.): 
 

M. Concentration of credit risks: 

  

Financial instruments that have the potential to expose the Company to credit risks are mainly cash and 

cash equivalents, bank deposit accounts, and trade receivables. 

  

The Company holds cash and cash equivalents, and deposit accounts at large banks in Israel, the United 

States, and Europe, thereby substantially reducing the risk of loss. 

  

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers for the purpose of determining the 

appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts and generally does not require collateral. An appropriate allowance for 

doubtful accounts is included in the accounts. 

 

 

N. Fair value measurement: 

  

The Company measures fair value and discloses fair value measurements for financial and non-financial 

assets and liabilities. Fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

  

The accounting standard establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable 

inputs used to measure fair value into three broad levels, which are described below: 

  

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets 

or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs. 

  

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by 

market data. 

 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy           

gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. 

  

In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable 

inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible and considers counterparty credit risk in 

its assessment of fair value.  

 

O. Comprehensive loss: 
  

Comprehensive loss includes only net income. 

  

P. Treasury Shares: 
  

In the past, the Company repurchased its ordinary shares from time to time on the open market and they are 

currently held as treasury stock. The Company presents the cost to repurchase treasury stock as a reduction of 

shareholders’ equity. When treasury shares are used as consideration for share based payment the reduction is based 

on average purchase cost. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.): 
  

Q. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

 

In November 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-18. This updates provides 

guidance on the classification and presentation of changes in restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents in the 

statement of cash flows under Topic 230, Statement of Cash Flows. The amendments are effective for reporting 

periods (interim and annual) beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The amendments 

will be applied retrospectively to each period presented. 

 

 In July 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, No. 2017-11. The amendments in 

part I of the ASU change the classification analysis of certain equity-linked financial instruments (or embedded 

derivatives) with down round features. When determining the classification of an instrument as a liability or as 

equity, entities will be required to disregard down round features upon the assessment of whether the instrument is 

indexed to the entity’s own stock. Entities that provide earnings per share, or EPS, data will adjust their basic EPS 

calculation for the effect of the feature when it is triggered (i.e. upon the occurrence of an event that results in the 

reduction of the strike price of the related equity-linked financial instrument), and will recognize the effect of the 

feature within equity. Part II of this guidance replaces the indefinite deferral of certain provisions of ASC Topic 480, 

distinguishing liabilities from equity, mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interests and mandatorily redeemable 

financial instruments of non-public entities with a scope exception. 

  
The amendments in part I of the ASU should be applied either retrospectively to outstanding financial 

instruments with a down round feature by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the statement of financial 

position as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective or retrospectively for each 

prior reporting period presented. These amendments are effective for reporting periods (interim and annual) 

beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the potential 

impact of this ASU on its consolidated financial statements. 

 

In May 2017, the FASB issued (ASU) No. 2017-09, which clarifies when an entity should account for a 

change to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award as a modification. Under the ASU, modification 

accounting is required if the fair value, vesting conditions or classification of the award changes because of the 

change in terms or conditions. The amendments in this update will be applied prospectively to an award modified on 

or after the effective date. The amendments are effective for reporting periods (interim and annual) beginning after 

December 15, 2017. 

   

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, which eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill 

impairment test. The goodwill impairment test will be performed by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit 

with its carrying amount. An impairment charge should be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount 

exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. However, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill 

allocated to that reporting unit. In addition, income tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying 

amount of the reporting unit should be considered when measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. The 

amendments also eliminate the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount to 

perform a qualitative assessment. The amendments should be applied on a prospective basis. For public business 

entities that are SEC file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, the amendments are effective 

for annual or any interim impairment tests in reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early 

adoption permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. 

The Company is currently assessing the potential impact of this ASU on its consolidated financial statements. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies (Cont.): 
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” 

Under the new standard, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services and 

is recognized in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 

those goods or services. In addition, the standard requires disclosure of the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty 

of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.  The impact of the new revenue standard relates to 

the arrangements that include software licenses bundled with maintenance and support. The standard will apply 

prospectively commencing from January 2018, the Company will recognize revenue attributable to these software 

licenses ratably over the term of the arrangement .Under Topic 606, the requirement to have VSOE for undelivered 

elements to enable the separation of revenue for the delivered software licenses is eliminated, the Company is 

recognizing income allocated to software license as revenue upon delivery.  

 

Note 3 - Fair Value Measurement:  
 

Items carried at fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are classified in the table below in one of the 

three categories described in Note 1N 

    Fair value measurements using input type   

    December 31, 2017   

    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total   

Cash and cash equivalents    4,253    -    -    4,253   

Restricted cash    4    -    -    4   

     4,257    -    -    4,257   

 

    Fair value measurements using input type   

    December 31, 2016   

    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total   

Cash and cash equivalents    410       -      -     410   

Restricted cash     254       -      -      254   

Intangible Assets   -      -    2,361    2,361  

Goodwill     -       -      14,157       14,157   

     664      -      16,518      17,182   

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements- 2016 

 

The Company's goodwill is measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis when impairment indicators are 

present.  The categorization of the framework used to estimate the fair value is considered a Level 3, due to the 

subjective nature of the unobservable inputs used to determine the fair value.  The goodwill is adjusted to fair value 

only when the carrying values exceed its fair value.  Based on the results of the Company’s annual impairment tests 

completed during the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company determined that goodwill was not impaired. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 4 - Property and Equipment, Net:  
 

Composition of property and equipment, grouped by major classifications: 

  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Cost:             

Computers and peripheral equipment    4,610      4,590   

Office furniture and equipment     411       411   

Leasehold improvements     432       432   

Motor vehicles     17       17   

      5,470       5,450   

 

Accumulated Depreciation:                

Computers and peripheral equipment     4,582       4,562   

Office furniture and equipment     407       406   

Leasehold improvements     432       432   

Motor vehicles     17       17   

      5,438       5,417   

     32      33   

 

 

Note 5 - Goodwill: 
  

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as 

follows: 

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Balance as of January 1             

Goodwill    67,618      67,618   

Accumulated impairment losses at the beginning of the period     (53,461)      (41,815 ) 

      14,157      25,803   

Changes during the year               

Goodwill impairment*     -      (11,646 )  

                

Balance as of December 31               

Goodwill     67,618      67,618   

Accumulated impairment losses at the end of the period     (53,461 )     (53,461 ) 

     14,157     14,157   

  *see also Note 1G 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Note 6 - Intangible Assets, Net: 
  

 

    Useful life   December 31,   

    (years)   2017     2016   

        (in thousands)   

Original amount:                 

Technology   5    51,494      51,494   

Customer related and backlog   0.8 to 9     5,313       5,313   

Others         27       14   

          56,834       56,821   

Accumulated Depreciation:                    

Technology**         49,733       49,147   

Customer related and backlog         5,313       5,313   

          55,046       54,460   

         1,788      2,361   

  

** Includes impairment to amortization expense of $0 thousand for 2017 and $182 thousand for 2016. (See 

also Note 1G). 

 

 

Note 7 - Accrued Severance Pay, Net: 
  

A.  Accrued Liability: 
  

The Company may be liable for severance pay to its employees pursuant to the applicable local laws 

prevailing in the respective countries of employment and employment agreements. For Israeli employees, the 

liability is partially covered by individual managers’ insurance policies under the name of the employee, for which 

the Company makes monthly payments. The Company may make withdrawals from the managers’ insurance 

policies only for the purpose of paying severance pay. 

  

U.S. employees are eligible to participate in a 401(k) retirement plan. Under the plan, employees may elect 

to defer a portion of their salary from taxes and invest it for retirement. The Company may, on a discretionary basis, 

make matching contributions to the employee deferrals. There was a discretionary contribution of $0 and $0 

thousand in 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

  

The amounts accrued and the amounts funded with managers’ insurance policies are as follows: 

  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Accrued severance pay    692     593   

Amount funded     (439)      (355 ) 

     253     238   
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 7 - Accrued Severance Pay, Net (Cont.): 

 

B. Expenses: 
  

The expenses related to severance pay for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, were $60 and $ 91 

thousand, respectively. 

 

   

Note 8 - Loans from Banks and Others: 

  

A.   Credit Facility 
  

In September 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the Company’s existing loan agreement 

with Comerica Bank to: (i) increase the non-formula revolving line up to the amount of 2 million backed by 

guarantees; (ii) increase the borrowing base revolving line amount up to 1.5 million upon the closing of the Ateras 

merger; and (iii) extend the loan maturity date to December 31, 2015. The amendment has a financial covenant for a 

minimum liquidity ratio. The Company’s obligations under the amendment are secured by a security interest in the 

Company’s copyrights, trademarks, and patents. The remaining substantive provisions of the credit facility were not 

materially changed by this amendment. 

  

In May 2015, the Company entered into an additional amendment to the Company’s existing loan 

agreement with Comerica Bank to among other things: (i) extend the maturity date of the non-formula revolving line 

and the revolving line to June 30, 2016; (ii) require us to raise new equity, on terms and from investors satisfactory 

to the lender, of not less than 2.5 million on or before December 31, 2015; and (iii) increase the number of trade 

accounts for which the concentration limit is not applicable.  

   

On March 16, 2016 , the Company entered into the Fifth Amendment to the existing loan agreement with 

Comerica Bank to: (i) waive the liquidity covenant violations of September and December 2015; (ii) extend the 

maturity date of the non-formula revolving line and the revolving line to June 30, 2017; (iii) amend the definition of 

eligible accounts receivable; (iv) waive the equity event of 2.5 million on or before December 31, 2015; (v) add a 

new six month rolling EBITDA covenant and (vi) limit the amount of cash transfer to the parent company. The 

remaining substantive provisions of the credit facility were not materially changed. 

  

On August 4, 2016, the Company entered into the Sixth Amendment to the existing loan agreement with 

Comerica Bank to: (i) extend the maturity date of the non-formula revolving line and the revolving line to July 1, 

2018; (ii) amend the EBITDA covenant requirements; and (iii) change the definition of liquidity to include a 

requirement to have a minimum balance of cash in Comerica Bank of 250 thousand at the end of each month. The 

remaining substantive provisions of the credit facility were not materially changed by this amendment. 

  

On February 15, 2017, the Company entered into the Seventh Amendment to the existing loan agreement 

with to: (i) increase the amount of credit available on the non-formula line to 3.0 million; (ii) extend the maturity 

date of the non-formula revolving line and revolving line to February 15, 2019; (iii) amend the EBITDA covenant 

requirements; (iv) decrease the revolving line amount of credit available to 1.0 million from 1.5 million; and (iv) 

amend the definition of a new equity event. 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 8 - Loans from Banks and Others (Cont.): 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had borrowed $2.9 million against our non-formula revolving line 

and 0 thousand against the revolving line. The principal terms of the agreement are as follows: 

 

  ● non-formula revolving line in the amount up to 3.0 million backed by a guarantee from two of the 

major shareholders; 

      

  ● revolving line (accounts receivable based) loan in the amount up to 1.0 million; 

      

  ● both the non-formula revolving line and revolving line loan are at market based interest rates based on 

Prime + a margin; and 

      

  ● financial covenant for a minimum bank debt liquidity coverage ratio, calculated as a ratio of liquidity 

to all indebtedness, other than indebtedness that is guaranteed, to the bank. 

  

  

B.  Composition:  

  

    

Average  interest 

rate       December 31,   

    as of       2017     2016   

    

December 31, 

2017   

Linkage 

basis   

Total long-term 

liabilities net of 

current portion   

    %       (in thousands)   

Loan from bank   4.25       2,994     2,523   

Related party promissory note   2.00       220     220   

Ministry of Production in Italy (Note 9 A3)   0.87   €     36      64   

Current portion             (256)      (785 ) 

Long term portion            2,994     2,022   

 

 

C. Long-term Loans from banks and Others are due as follows: 
  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

First year (current portion)    256      785   

Second year     2,994       32   

Third year     -       1,990   

Fourth year and thereafter     -       -   

Total    3,250      2,807   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies: 
  

A. Commitments   
  

  1. Lease. The Company leases its offices, vehicles and, other equipment under various operating lease 

agreements. Rent expenses for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were 319 and 345 

thousand, respectively. Aggregate minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable leases as of 

December 31, 2017 were as follows: 

 

 

  

    Office Facilities     

Vehicles, Equipment, and 

Other 

    (in thousands) 

Fiscal 2018    214       32 
Fiscal 2019    95    32 
Fiscal 2020     39    - 

Fiscal 2021     26    - 

     373    64 

  

  2. Israel’s Office of the Chief Scientist. One of the Company’s subsidiaries has entered into agreements 

with Israel’s Office of the Chief Scientist, or OCS. This subsidiary is obliged to pay royalties to the 

OCS at a rate of 18pt on sales of the funded products, up to 100% of the USD-linked grant received in 

respect of these products from the OCS. As of December 31, 2017, the contingent liability that was not 

recognized amounted to $ 206 thousand. 

  

  3. Ministry of Production in Italy. In July 2007, the Company’s subsidiary, Blue Phoenix I-Ter S.R.L. 

(“I-Ter”), received an amount of 585 thousand from the Ministry of Production in Italy for I-Ter’s 

Easy4Plan product. Easy4Plan is a workflow management tool designed for ISO9000 companies. 

36.5% of the funds received constitute a grant, and the remaining 63.5%, is a 10-year loan to be repaid 

by I-Ter in annual installments until September 2018. The loan bears a minimal annual interest of 

0.87% and is linked to the euro. As of December 31, 2017, the remaining loan balance was 36 

thousand.  

 

 

B. Contingencies 

  
The Company evaluates estimated losses for indemnifications due to product infringement under FASB 

Topic ASC 450 “Contingencies”. At this time, it is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under 

these indemnification clauses due to lack of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances 

involved in each particular agreement. Such indemnification agreements may not be subject to maximum loss 

clauses. Historically, the Company has not incurred costs as a result of obligations under these agreements and has 

not accrued any liabilities related to such indemnification obligations in the Company’s financial statements. 

  

Note 10 - Equity: 

A.  Share Capital:  
  

The Company’s shares began trading in the United States on the NASDAQ Global Market on January 31, 

1997 under the symbol “BPHX.”.  In December 2014, in connection with a change of our corporate name, the 

symbol was changed to “MDSY.” In January 2016, the Company moved to the NASDAQ Capital Market under the 

symbol “MDSY.” 
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MODSYS INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Note 10 - Equity (Cont.): 
 

On April 24, 2017, Form 25 was file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as notification for 

ModSys International Ltd’s removal from trading on The NASDAQ Stock Market. Trade simultaneously began on 

The OTC Market’s Pink Sheets. 

 

On May 5, 2017, Form 15 was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as notification ModSys 

International Ltd has terminated (or suspended) its duty to file reports under Section 13 and 15(d) of the SEC Act of 

1934. 

 

In addition to the above decisions, on April 10, 2017 the Board elected to terminate the restricted share unit 

(RSU) program which was due to expire in July 2017. All employees who had earned shares of ordinary stock 

through the employee compensation plan were paid their vested stares earned at either $1.00 per share. The previous 

C.E.O. was paid $.75 per share as agreed to in his Stock Repurchase Agreement.. 

 

As part of the above decision, the company paid the following payments: 

    
Dec. 31, 

2017 
   

    (in thousands) 

Exercise of Employee Options    $         243     

Legal Fees                 30     

     $         273     

         
 

On November 25, 2015, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) 

with Columbia Pacific Opportunity Fund, LP, Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund and Mindus 

Holdings, Ltd. (the “Investors”), providing for the issuance in a private placement to the Investors thereunder an 

aggregate amount of (1) 500,000 preferred shares and (2) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 250,000 ordinary 

shares of the Company. These warrants have an exercise price of $0.01 per share, and may be exercised in whole or 

part at any time for two years after issuance. The preferred shares carry an 8% per annum cumulative dividend 

payable in kind by additional preferred shares, calculated based on amount of $2.00 per share, subject to adjustment 

for stock splits, combinations, recapitalizations and the like. The preferred shares are convertible into the 

Company’s ordinary shares on a one-to-one basis at the option of the holder. Should the volume weighted average 

price of the ordinary shares be $5.00 or more for ten consecutive trading days at any time two years from the date of 

issuance, the preferred shares will be automatically converted into ordinary shares at the adjusted $2.00 share price. 

Upon any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the preferred 

shares are entitled to a preferential payout of $3.00 per share.  

 

Concurrent with the closing of the purchase of the preferred shares and warrants, the Company issued 

625,000 ordinary shares to Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund pursuant to the Amended and 

Restated Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of November 22, 2013 between the Company and Prescott Group 

Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund, as if such sale and issuance had occurred prior to November 22, 2015. This was 

approved by the Company’s shareholders on December 29, 2015. 

 

On December 29, 2015, the Company’s shareholders also approved the issuance of 45,082 warrants for our 

ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.01 per share for an amendment to a promissory note. Fifty percent 

(50%) of these warrants vested on issuance while the remaining 50% vested on February 24, 2016. At the same 

shareholder meeting, the shareholders approved the issuance of 409,837 warrants for the Company’s ordinary shares 

with an exercise price of $0.01 per share for the issuance of guarantees of our term note with Comerica Bank. 
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Note 10 - Equity (Cont.): 
 

Fifty percent (50%) of these warrants vested on issuance while the remaining 50% vested on February 24, 2016.  

 

The fair value of these warrants was determined to be $982,625 as of December 31, 2015 and is considered 

an expense of the financing. 

  

On December 29, 2016, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with Prescott Group 

Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund (Prescott), providing for the issuance to Prescott in a private placement of 

378,788 ordinary shares at a purchase price of $0.66 per ordinary share, for total proceeds to the Company of $250 

thousand. The issuance and sale of the shares occurred on December 29, 2016. 

  

Also on December 29, 2016, in connection with the preferred share transaction in 2015, the Company 

issued 40,000 preferred shares to Columbia Pacific Opportunity Fund, Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master 

Fund an Mindus Holdings in accordance with the rights, preferences and privileges of the preferred shares issued in 

the 2015 private placement. The preferred shares carry an 8% per annum cumulative dividend payable in kind by 

additional preferred shares, subject to adjustment for stock splits, combinations, recapitalizations and the like. 

 

On February 14, 2017, the Company entered into two Share Purchase Agreements with Columbia Pacific 

Opportunity Fund, LP, providing for the issuance of ordinary shares in a private placement. The first Share Purchase 

Agreement is for the issuance of 757,575 ordinary shares of the Company, par value NIS 0.04 per share, at a price 

equal to $0.66 per share amounting to for aggregate purchase price of $500,000. The closing of the First Agreement 

took place on April 3, 2017. In addition, the Company entered in to a second Share Purchase Agreement (“Second 

Agreement”) for the issuance of 757,575 ordinary shares of the Company, par value NIS 0.04 per share, at a price 

equal to $0.66 per share amounting for an aggregate purchase price of $500,000. The closing of the Second 

Agreement took place on July 20, 2017. 

  

Also on February 15, 2017, the Company entered into the Seventh Amendment to the existing loan 

agreement with Comerica Bank to: (i) increase the amount of credit available on the non-formula line to 3.0 million; 

(ii) extend the maturity date of the non-formula revolving line and revolving line to February 15, 2019; (iii) amend 

the EBITDA covenant requirements; (iv) decrease the revolving line amount of credit available to 1.0 million from 

1.5 million; and (iv) amend the definition of a new equity event. 

  

In consideration of the increased line of credit from 2.0 million to 3.0 million described above as part of the 

Amendment, the Company agreed to grant warrants to purchase 378,788 ordinary shares to Prescott Group 

Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund in exchange for extending a guaranty for 2017. In addition, the Company agreed 

to grant warrants to purchase 735,294 ordinary shares to Columbia Pacific Opportunity Fund, LP and 441,176 

ordinary shares to Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund in exchange for the guaranty of the Existing 

Agreement for 2016 and 2017. Each of the warrants has an exercise price of 0.01 per share and has a three-year term 

from the date of grant. It was determined the fair value of these warrants to be $1,010,918 which was recorded as 

Finance Expense against the Company’s Additional Paid-in Capital. 

 

356,100 of the 2015 warrant issuance and 735, 294 of the 2017 warrant issuance were exercised in April 

2017 by Columbia Pacific Opportunity Fund, LP. 
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Note 10 - Equity (Cont.): 
 

As of December 31, 2017, the following warrants remain unexercised. 

Investor   

Unexercised 

Warrant     Expiration       

Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund     253,689       December 2018       

Prescott Group Aggressive Small Cap Master Fund     819,964       December 2020       

Mindus Holdings, Ltd.     95,082       December 2018       

      1,168,735           

 

On April 10, 2017, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with Prescott Group Aggressive 

Small Cap Master Fund (Prescott), providing for the issuance to Prescott in a private placement of 378,788 ordinary 

shares at a purchase price of $0.66 per ordinary share, for total proceeds to the Company of 250 thousand. The 

issuance and sale of the shares occurred on May 9, 2017 

 

  

As of December 31, 2017, the Company holds a total of 33,239 of its shares in treasury with a value of $1.8 

million. All of the Company’s ordinary shares have equal voting rights. However, under applicable Israeli law, the 

shares held by the Company have no voting rights and, therefore, are excluded from the number of its outstanding 

shares. Since 2010, the Company uses these treasury shares from time to time for the issuance of shares pursuant to 

exercise of options and vested RSUs to meet the Company’s ordinary share requirements for its stock benefit plans. 

In March 2008, the board of directors approved two buy-back programs. Under the buy-back programs, the 

Company may purchase its shares from time to time, subject to market conditions and other relevant factors 

affecting the Company. In 2009, the Company repurchased 11,249 of its shares for an aggregate amount of $1.7 

million under the buy-back programs. 

 

 

B. Share Options:  
  

  1. Employee Share Option Plans: 
  

 

In 1996, the Company adopted the 1996 Share Option Plan. Pursuant to the 1996 Share Option Plan, as 

amended, the Company reserved 1,050,000 ordinary shares for issuance to directors, officers, consultants and 

employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The exercise price of the options granted under the 1996 Share 

Option Plan ranges from $1.80 to $20. As of December 31, 2017, 474,023 stock options remain available for future 

awards. 

 

Under the 1996 Share Option Plan, unless determined otherwise by the board, options vest over a three to 

four years period from the date of grant and expire 10 years after grant date. Unvested options are forfeited 30-90 

days following termination of employment. Any options that are forfeited before expiration become available for 

future grants. 

 

In 2017, 300,000 options granted under the 1996 Share Option Plan with exercise price of $1.80 were 

forfeited. As of December 31, 2017 there were no remaining Options outstanding. 
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Note 10 - Equity (Cont.): 
 

The following table summarizes information about share options outstanding and exercisable as of 

December 31, 2017: 

   2017     2016   

    

Number of 

Options     

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise 

Price     

Number of 

Options     

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise 

Price   

Options outstanding at the beginning of year     300,000           300,000       1.80   

Changes during the year:                            

Forfeited/Cancelled     (300,000)           -          

Options outstanding at end of year     0           300,000           

Options exercisable at year-end     0           300,000           

  
  

  2. Restricted Share Units (RSU):  

  
In 2007, the Company adopted the 2007 Award Plan (RSU plan). In 2016 and 2015, under the RSU plan, as 

amended, the Company granted 198,000 and 263,000 RSUs, respectively. Under the RSU plan, unless determined 

otherwise by the board of directors, RSUs vest over a three years period from the date of the grant.  There were no 

RSUs approved for immediate vesting on grant date in 2017 or 2016. 

 

On April 10, 2017 the Board of Directors elected to terminate the RSU plan due to expire in July of 2017. 

As a result, all outstanding RSU were repurchased by the Company. All ungranted shares held in reserve were 

released. 

 

Data related to the restricted stock units as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and changes during the year 

were as follows: 

 

    

Year ended December 

31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

RSUs outstanding at the beginning of the year     252,778      360,444   

Changes during the year:               

Granted *     -      198,000   

Vested     -      (138,569 ) 

Forfeited/Cancelled      (252,778)      (167,097 ) 

RSUs outstanding at the end of the year     -      252,778   

Weighted average fair value at grant date    -     1.90   

  

* The fair value of RSUs is established based on the market value of the Company’s stock on the date of the 

award. The Company has expensed compensation costs, net of estimated forfeitures, applying the accelerated 

vesting method. 
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Note 10 - Equity (Cont.): 
 

C. Dividends: 
  

The Company has not paid any cash dividends on its ordinary shares in the past and does not expect to pay 

cash dividends on its ordinary shares in the foreseeable future. 

  

The Company paid share dividends on its preferred shares which carry an 8% per annum cumulative 

dividend payable in kind by additional preferred shares. 

   

Note 11 - Income taxes: 
  

A. Basis of taxation: 
  

 

1. Recently Issued: 

 

2017 One Time Tax on Deemed Repatriation of Accumulated Foreign Earnings: Under the new TCJA 

legislation, U.S. taxpayers owning at least 10% of a foreign corporation must include in their 2017 income their pro-

rata share of the foreign corporation’s previously untaxed earnings, as if the associated income has been repatriated 

to the U.S. (and thus subject to current U.S. taxation).  It is a one-time tax on undistributed corporate earnings, 

referred to as “deemed repatriation” income. Deemed repatriation income is calculated based on the company’s level 

of accumulated earnings and profits as of the end of 2017. The income is taxed at two discounted rates – 15.5 

percent for accumulated earnings held as cash and cash equivalents, and 8 percent for all other earnings.  U.S. 

shareholders may elect to pay the tax liability in installments over an eight-year period. According to the company's 

estimation there is no tax payment in relation to the new act. 

 

FASB ASC 740 requires that the tax benefit of net operating losses, temporary differences, and credit carry 

forwards be recorded as an asset to the extent that management assesses that realization is “more likely than not.” 

Realization of the future tax benefits is dependent on the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income 

within the carry forward period. Because of the Company’s recent history of operating losses, and despite the 

company's recent taxable income during the years 2017 and 2016 management estimation that realization of each tax 

losses will take many years, management believes that recognition of the deferred tax assets arising from the above-

mentioned future tax benefits is currently not likely to be realized and, accordingly, has provided a valuation 

allowance as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

 

2. The company: 

 

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to tax in many jurisdictions and a certain degree of estimation 

is required in recording the assets and liabilities related to income taxes. The Company believes that its accruals for 

tax liabilities are adequate for all open years. The Company considers various factors in making these assessments, 

including past history, recent interpretations of tax law, and the specifics of each matter. Non-Israeli subsidiaries are 

taxed according to the tax laws in their respective country of residence. 

  

The Company elected to compute its taxable income in accordance with Income Tax Regulations (Rules for 

Accounting for Foreign Investors Companies and Certain Partnerships and Setting their Taxable Income), 1986. 

Accordingly, the Company’s taxable income or loss is calculated in USD. Applying these regulations reduces the 

effect of foreign exchange rate (of NIS against the USD) on the Company’s Israeli taxable income. 
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Note 11 - Income taxes (Cont.): 
  

Taxable income of Israeli companies is subject to tax at the rate of 24% and 25% in 2017 and 2016, 

respectively. 

 

On December 2016, the Israeli government published the Economic Efficiency Law (2016) (legislative 

amendments to accomplish budget goals for the years 2017 and 2018) According to which, in 2017 the tax rate will 

decrease by 1% and starting 2018 by 2%; so that the tax rate will be 24% in 2017 and 23% in 2018 and onwards. 

Accordingly, the tax rate will be 24% in 2017 and 23% in 2018 and onwards. 
 

              The Company has received final tax assessments through 2013. 

  

B. Deferred tax assets and liabilities:  
  

Deferred tax reflects the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets or 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. As of December 31, 2017 

and 2016, the Company’s deferred taxes were in respect of the following: 

  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Net operating losses carry forwards    34,937     34,924   

Provisions for employee rights and other temporary differences     63      65   

Deferred tax assets before valuation allowance     35,000      34,989   

Valuation allowance     (35,000 )     (34,989 ) 

Deferred tax assets (liability), net    -    -  

 

C. Loss before Income Taxes is composed as follows:  
  

    

Year ended 

December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Domestic (Israel)    (2,290 )    (6,148 ) 

Foreign     2,118      (6,816 ) 

Total loss before income taxes    (172 )    (12,964 ) 

  

D. Provision for Taxes: 
  

    

Year ended  

December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Current:             

Domestic (Israel)    -    -  
Foreign     -      13   

      -      13   

Taxes related to prior years     9       9   

Total provision for income taxes    9      22   
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Note 11 - Income taxes (Cont.): 
 

E. Uncertain Tax Position: 
  

The Company has recorded no liability for income taxes associated with unrecognized tax benefits at the date 

of adoption and have not recorded any liability associated with unrecognized tax benefits during 2017 and 2016. 

Accordingly, the Company has not recorded any interest or penalty in regard to any unrecognized benefit. 

  

 

F.    Tax Losses :  
  

The Company and its subsidiaries have NOL carry forwards for income tax purposes as of December 31, 

2017 of approximately 120 million. 84 million were generated in Israel with no expiration date and the rest outside 

of Israel. 

 

Note 12 - Supplementary Financial Statement Information: 
  

A.    Balance Sheets: 
  

  1.   Trade Accounts Receivable: 
  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Trade accounts receivable    1,818      2,306   

Less allowance for doubtful accounts     -    -   

     1,818      2,306   

  

For the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company deducted from the allowance (bad debts) 0. 

 

  2.  Other Current Assets: 
  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Prepaid expenses    144     148  
Government departments and agencies- VAT, net     46      89  

Short-term lease deposits   13    -  

     203      237   

  

  3.   Other Current Liabilities: 
  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Employees and wage-related liabilities     348       493   

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     54       249  

Government departments and agencies    23     173   

     425      915   
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Note 12 - Supplementary Financial Statement Information (Cont.): 
 

  4.  The Company’s Long-lived Assets are as Follows: 
  

    December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Israel    4      17   

U.S.A.     25       12   

Europe and other     3       4   

     32      33   

  

Long-lived assets information is based on the physical location of the assets at the end of each of the fiscal 

years. It is comprised from the Company’s property and equipment and technology intangible asset. The Company 

does not identify or allocate goodwill by geographic areas. 

  

B.    Statements of Operations:  
  

  1.  Geographic Areas Information: 
  

  Sales: Classified by Geographic Areas: 
  

The Company adopted FASB ASC Topic 280, “segment reporting”. The Company operates in one 

operating segment (see Note 1 for a brief description of the Company’s business). The total revenue are attributed to 

geographic areas based on the location of end customers. 

  

The following present total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 by geographic area: 

  

    

Year ended 

December 31, 

    2017     2016 

    (in thousands) 

North America     3,385       6,306 

Europe     7,274       4,387 

Israel     425       288 

Total Revenue    11,084      10,981 

Principal Customers: 

In 2017, one customer represented 50% of the Company’s total revenue. There were two customers that represented 18.1% and 10.3% of 

the Company’s total revenue in 2016. 
  

  2. Financial Expenses, Net:  

  

    

Year ended 

December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    (in thousands)   

Foreign currency translation adjustments    (9)      165  
Interest expense     230       147   

Grant of warrants to shareholders     1,011       -   

Financial Expenses, Net    1,232      312   
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Note 12 - Supplementary Financial Statement Information (Cont.): 
 

C.     Earning/loss Per Share:  
  

Basic and diluted earnings/loss per share (“EPS”) was computed based on the average number of shares 

outstanding during each year and for the diluted earnings per share it was based on the outstanding shares and the 

potential instruments such as: preferred shares and warrants. 

  

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net earnings/loss per share attributable 

to ModSys International Ltd.: 

  

  

    Year ended December 31,   

    2017     2016   

    

(in thousands, except 

per share data)   

1.  Numerator:             

Amount for basic and diluted profit (loss) per share    172     (12,180 ) 

Dividend in kind     (70)      (83 ) 

      102      (12,263 ) 

                

2. Denominator:               

Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted average of shares     21,049,462      18,657,653   

 Denominator for diluted net earnings per share - weighted average number of 

dilutive ordinary shares     22,281,816      18,657,653   

         

3. Basic and Diluted earning (loss) per share         

            

                

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributed ModSys International Ltd.   0.0048    (0.66 ) 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributed ModSys International Ltd.    0.0045     (0.66 ) 
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